Exhibits to the January 9, 2020
Executive Committee Meeting

MINUTES EXHIBIT A

Client Security Fund
10-Year History of Revenues and Expenditures

Fiscal Year
2008-2009
Beginning Fund Balance
Revenues/Transfers:
Transfers from General Fund
Investments
Restitutions Received
Total Revenues/Transfers
Expenditures & Other Debits:
Claims Paid
Bank Fees
Unrealized Net (Gain)/Loss on
Investments
Total Expenditures

Increase (Decrease) in Fund Balance
Ending Fund Balance

$ 3,045,532

Fiscal Year
2009-2010
$

3,000,000 $

Fiscal Year
2010-2011
3,715,787

Fiscal Year
2012-2013
$ 3,358,507 $

Fiscal Year
2013-2014
3,009,204 $

Fiscal Year
2014-2015

Fiscal Year
2015-2016

Fiscal Year
2016-2017

Fiscal Year
2017-2018

Fiscal Year
2018-2019

2,488,216 $ 3,397,366

$ 3,195,121

$ 2,583,689

$ 2,029,906

309,430
75,271
27,891
412,592

1,290,570
19,919
17,446
1,327,935

300,000
22,312
54,372
376,684

300,000
14,011
12,769
326,780

800,000
8,583
13,983
822,566

1,504,305
9,773
18,153
1,532,231

500,000
15,400
81,654
597,054

300,000
21,352
10,476
331,828

300,000
31,200
2,874
334,074

1,100,000
66,701
72,153
1,238,854

458,124

612,148

740,329

576,450

1,346,389
30

622,878
175

797,014
140

934,585
230

894,456
343

660,980
180

458,124

612,148

(6,365)
733,964

4,658
581,108

(2,865)
1,343,554

28
623,081

2,145
799,299

8,445
943,260

(6,942)
887,857

(946)
660,214

(45,532)

715,787

(357,280)

(254,328)

(520,988)

909,150

(202,245)

(611,432)

(553,783)

578,640

3,000,000

3,715,787

3,358,507

3,104,179

2,488,216

3,397,366

3,195,121

2,583,689

2,029,906

2,608,546

MINUTES EXHIBIT B

DRAFT
OFFICIAL MINUTES
STATE BAR OF TEXAS
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING
Texas Law Center
Austin, TX
Thursday, September 5, 2019
The Executive Committee met on September 5, 2019, in Austin at the Texas Law Center. President Randy Sorrels called
the meeting to order at 10:02am, and Executive Director Trey Apffel called the roll.
Present: Chair Jerry Alexander, Rebekah Brooker, Alison Colvin, Leslie Dippel, TYLA President Victor Flores, Jarrod
Foerster, Immediate Past Chair Laura Gibson*, Charlie Ginn, Wendy-Adele Humphrey, Shelby Jean*, Justice Debra
Lehrmann*, Immediate Past President Joe K. Longley, Aldo Lopez, President-elect Larry McDougal, TYLA Immediate
Past President Sally Pretorius, Dinesh Singhal, President Randy Sorrels, and James Wester
Excused absence: Emily Miller*
*Nonvoting member
I.
Remarks from the General Public: There were no remarks from the general public.
II.

REPORTS

A. Report from the Executive Director:
Executive Director Apffel reported on recent travels, meetings, and activities. He reported that September is National
Suicide Prevention Month and that the Texas Bar Journal includes stories focusing on lawyer wellness and suicide
prevention. Mr. Apffel also reported that he will be participating in the Governor’s Executive Development Program
over a course of three weeks. He also gave an update on online dues, solo/small firm CLE, the uniform bar exam and
the McDonald lawsuit. {SEE ENCLOSURES}
B. Report from the President: President Randy Sorrels reported on recent travels and activities. He gave an update on the
pro bono work, donations and relief funds in El Paso and Midland/Odessa. President Sorrels reported on his ‘Idea of
the Month” challenge, the additional members to the Social Media Engagement Team and the appointment to the
State Commission on Judicial Conduct. {SEE ENCLOSURES}

E. Report from the Chair of the Board: Chair Jerry Alexander reported on the Judicial Conduct Commission and recent
speaking engagements. Chair Alexander encouraged directors to increase their communication to their constituents
and to reach out to local bar associations and offer CLE presentations. He also reported that he will be requesting that
any second year director who is interested in running for chair to contact him prior to the January board meeting.

C. Report from the President-elect: President-elect Larry McDougal reported on recent travel and speaking engagements.
He also gave updates on TLAP and lawyer wellness, social media issues, grievance issues and the upcoming budget
meeting in December. President-elect McDougal reported that the first budget meeting is scheduled for September 19
to discuss the SBOT’s budget process and the timeline for preparation of the fiscal year 2020-21. He reported that
committee will meet again December 12 to meet with division and department directors. The committee will finalize a
proposed fiscal year 2020-21budget for presentation to the Executive Committee and then to the Board for approval.
D. Report from the Immediate Past President: Immediate Past President Joe K. Longley had no report.
E. Nominations & Elections:
Immediate Past President Joe K. Longley and Immediate Past Chair Laura Gibson reported that the Nominations and
Elections committee held six interviews on August 28 and after much deliberation the subcommittee voted to select
Pablo Almaguer and Sylvia Borunda Firth. {SEE ENCLOSURES}
1

Enclosures are available at www.texasbar.com/bodmaterials

1

On behalf of the Nominations and Elections Subcommittee, Immediate Past Chair Laura Gibson made a
motion that the Executive Committee approve Pablo Almaguer of Edinburg and Sylvia Borunda Firth of El
Paso as the State Bar Candidates for President-elect for the 2020 election. Immediate Past President Joe K.
Longley seconded. No discussion; motion carried.
F. Policy Manual Subcommittee: No report.
G. Minimum Continuing Legal Education Committee: Chair John Boyce and staff liaison Nancy Smith called in to report
that the MCLE Committee has proposed changes to the MCLE Regulations regarding changing the accreditation fee
schedule. {SEE ENCLOSURES}
Director Jarrod Foerster made a motion approve the changes to the MCLE Regulations. Seconded by WendyAdele Humphrey. No discussion, motion carried.
H. Discipline and Client Attorney Assistance Committee: Director Steve Naylor called in and gave a high level overview
of how lawyer disciplinary rules are amended. Mr. Naylor reported that the tentative projection is that the vote on the
proposed rules could happen in the fall of 2020. {SEE ENCLOSURES}
I.

Audit & Finance Committee: Director Jarrod Foerster reported on the “Financial Highlights” document showing the
actual variances – both positive and negative – for the period ending July 31, 2018. He reported that the CPA firm,
RSM, is currently performing the State Bar’s financial audit for fiscal year 18-19. Mr. Foester reported that the
internal auditors, McConnell & Jones, will begin fieldwork in October, with a final report due to management in
January. The auditors will present their report to the full Board at the April Board meeting. {SEE ENCLOSURES}

J. Administration Committee: Director James Wester reported the Legislature passed HB 3040 to provide for an interim
study by the Texas Commission on Judicial Selection regarding the method by which certain trial and appellate judges
are selected. The Commission’s charge is to submit to the Governor and Legislature no later than December 21, 2020
a report of their findings and recommendations for the method or methods for selecting judges that ensure a fair,
impartial, qualified, competent, and stable judiciary, including recommendations for any necessary specific
constitutional and statutory changes. Mr. Wester reported that after much discussion and consideration, the
Committee is pleased to recommend Lynne Liberato as the committee’s recommendation to the Board for the State
Bar’s Appointee to the Judicial Selection Commission. {SEE ENCLOSURES}
K. Insurance/Member Benefits Subcommittee: Director Leslie Dippel provided updates on the Texas Bar Private
Insurance Exchange and on non-insurance member benefits. {SEE ENCLOSURES}
L. Section Representatives to the Board: Director Charlie Ginn provided an update on the Animal Law Section issues.
Discussion ensued.
M. Supreme Court Liaison Report: Justice Lehrmann reported that the Supreme Court has started a new term, that Justice
Jane Bland will be sworn in on September 11, 2019 and that Justice Busby’s investiture will be held on September 6,
2019. Justice Lehrmann reported that the ABA asked the Supreme Court to look at the future of legal education and
that she is a member of the committee.
N. Texas Young Lawyers Association: TYLA President Victor Flores reported on various TYLA initiative’s this year
including attorney wellness, podcasts, and videos for attorneys. He reported that TYLA will be hosting a mini CLE in
October with Lacy Durham, and in December with Mindy Gulati. Mr. Flores reported on “For Lawyers, By Lawyers”
which is a free CLE roadshow that will will be presented throughout the state. He reported that all new TYLA
directors have been assigned to the team project, “Texas Courts for Texas Veterans”.
O. Report from General Counsel: No report.
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P. Report from Legal Counsel: No report.
Q. Closed Session: At 11:48 am, the Executive Committee recessed the open meeting and reconvened in closed
session pursuant to Texas Government Code Section 551.071 for the purpose of consulting with legal counsel,
including regarding pending or contemplated litigation (McDonald et al. v. Sorrels et al, [Solis – see prev.
agenda]); and Section 551.074 to deliberate regarding personnel matter(s)With the exception of Board
liaisons and Section representatives, all other individuals including non-essential staff and other guests excused
themselves from the closed session.
Open Session: At 11:56 am, the open session of the Executive Committee meeting reconvened. During the
closed session, only matters relating to consultations with legal counsel concerning contemplated litigation were
discussed. No action was taken in closed session.
Immediate Past President Joe K. Longley moved for adjournment of the Executive Committee, seconded by
Director Charlie Ginn. There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 11:57 am.
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MINUTES EXHIBIT C

2020-2021 PROPOSED COMBINED BUDGET
The State Bar proposed budgets for the 2020-2021 fiscal year are included here for your information. If you would like a copy of the budget summary,
contact the State Bar finance division director at 800-204-2222, ext. 1481. All interested persons are invited to a public hearing on the proposed
budgets scheduled for 9 a.m. Tuesday, April 7, 2020, in Room 101 at the Texas Law Center, 1414 Colorado, Austin, TX 78701. The General Fund is the
operating fund for the State Bar of Texas. The Texas Bar Books Fund is considered an Enterprise Fund, which is defined as a proprietary fund that is
used to account for goods/services provided to the general public on a user-charge basis. The Special Revenue Funds are independent funds and
do not use any membership dues or revenues from the General Fund for operations. Capital Projects Funds are used to account for the acquisition
and construction of the State Bar’s major capital facilities and other capital expenditures.
GENERAL FUND

TEXAS BAR BOOKS FUND

SPECIAL REVENUE &
CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

TOTAL PROPOSED
COMBINED BUDGET

REVENUES & RECEIPTS
MEMBERSHIP DUES
FEES
ADVERTISING
SALES
INVESTMENTS
GRANTS
CONTRIBUTIONS
ADMINISTRATIVE FEES
RENT
OTHER REVENUE
TOTAL REVENUES
RECEIPTS FROM RESERVES
TOTAL REVENUES & RECEIPTS

$21,348,853
17,867,561
801,000
1,023,295
400,000
0
740,066
648,800
172,673
1,389,304
$44,391,552
3,698,359
$48,089,911

$0
55,000
0
2,475,237
9,000
0
0
0
0
1,329,922
$3,869,159
0
$3,869,159

$0
2,035,450
0
26,300
140,500
341,000
360,000
0
0
15,000
$2,918,250
0
$2,918,250

$21,348,853
19,958,011
801,000
3,524,832
549,500
341,000
1,100,066
648,800
172,673
2,734,226
$51,178,961
3,698,359
$54,877,320

EXPENDITURES
SALARIES
BENEFITS
TRAVEL
MEETINGS & CONFERENCES
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
COURT FEES
PUBLICITY/ADVERTISING
DUES/SUBSCRIPTIONS/LICENSES
EDUCATION/TRAINING
SUPPLIES/AWARDS/GIFTS/SPEC. ITEMS
RENTALS—OFFICE, EQUIPMENT, STORAGE
MAINTENANCE/REPAIR
UTILITIES
POSTAGE & FREIGHT
TELEPHONE
INSURANCE
ADMINISTRATIVE
FIXED ASSETS
PRINTING & COPYING
RESERVE FOR CONTINGENCIES
TOTAL EXPENDITURES
BOARD COMMITMENTS (IN)/OUT
TRANSFERS (IN)/OUT
TOTAL EXPENDITURES, BOARD COMMITMENTS & TRANSFERS

$18,371,208
6,848,804
2,175,291
4,605,071
2,936,791
99,300
689,578
715,762
206,819
588,038
1,169,751
700,774
248,960
766,143
393,206
464,050
425,791
42,000
1,305,415
150,000
$42,902,752
3,698,359
1,488,800
$48,089,911

$1,293,330
453,168
46,950
1,800
212,189
0
81,000
119,200
12,435
30,500
164,376
30,600
0
167,913
3,900
6,600
713,487
12,000
507,855
0
$3,857,303
0
0
$3,857,303

$577,069
217,218
217,150
666,460
294,250
0
216,500
32,420
3,150
120,135
185,990
0
0
50,918
25,700
0
1,211,513
1,130,000
61,610
0
$5,010,083
(1,573,333)
(1,488,800)
$1,947,950

$20,241,607
7,519,190
2,439,391
5,273,331
3,443,230
99,300
987,078
867,382
222,404
738,673
1,520,117
731,374
248,960
984,974
422,806
470,650
2,350,791
1,184,000
1,874,880
150,000
$51,770,138
2,125,026
0
$53,895,164

$0

$11,856

$970,300

$982,156

263.63

19.75

8.88

292.26

NET REVENUES & RECEIPTS OVER EXPENDITURES,
BOARD COMMITMENTS & TRANSFERS
TOTAL BUDGETED FULL-TIME EQUIVALENTS

000
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2020-2021 PROPOSED GENERAL FUND BUDGET
REVENUES & RECEIPTS
Attorney Membership Dues
Accounting/Management Fees
Bar Journal Revenue
MCLE Fees
TexasBarCLE Revenue
Website Revenue
CDC Disciplinary Fees
Advertising Review Fees
Member Benefit Fees
Other Revenue
TOTAL REVENUES
Receipts from Reserves
TOTAL REVENUES & RECEIPTS

EXPENDITURES, BOARD COMMITMENTS & TRANSFERS CONTINUED
$21,348,853
658,255
632,545
3,460,950
14,251,844
445,000
564,853
368,000
911,308
1,749,944
$44,391,552
3,698,359
$48,089,911

ATTORNEY COMPLIANCE DIVISION

Attorney Compliance
Advertising Review
Client Attorney Assistance Program
Lawyer Referral
MCLE

BUDGET

FTES

$190,181
151,275
545,713
376,086
628,338

1
2
8
4
7

OPERATIONS/SECURITY DIVISION

$1,294,796 5.75
3
404,132

Purchasing & Facilities
Customer Service
RESEARCH & ANALYSIS

$239,952

1

MEMBER BENEFITS

$172,585

1

$1,049,448
612,834
2,042,188

12
7
–

$1,252,657

8

$265,364
1,298,114
346,721
171,568
421,753

2
4.5
4.5
1.5
2

$10,085,552
230,800
87,932
632,418

96
–
1
3

$3,698,359

1

EXPENDITURES, BOARD COMMITMENTS & TRANSFERS
EXECUTIVE DIVISION

Executive
Associate Executive Director/Legal Counsel
Deputy Executive Director
Deputy Executive Director/External Affairs
Officers & Directors
Human Resources
Training/Tuition

BUDGET

FTES

$684,300
700,889
236,649
265,280
970,817
308,161
71,133

2.88
3
1
1
–
2
–

FINANCE DIVISION

Accounting
Membership
Other Administrative
IT DEPARTMENT

Information Technology
COMMUNICATIONS DIVISION

MEMBER & PUBLIC SERVICES DIVISION

$160,623
523,895
311,496
1,022,902
98,672
343,782
459,225
73,604
20,266
317,812

2
3
2
3
–
4
4
–
–
1

$237,184
496,731
1,539,040

1
5
7.5

ACCESS TO JUSTICE COMMISSION

$752,981

3

LAW PRACTICE MANAGEMENT DIVISION

$182,184

1

$10,101,604
523,115

39
3

Center for Legal History
Law-Related Education
Government Relations
Texas Young Lawyers Association
LeadershipSBOT
Sections
Local Bars
Special Events
Law Student Division
Volunteer Committees
LEGAL & ATTORNEY SERVICES DIVISION

Legal & Attorney Services
Texas Lawyers’ Assistance Program
Legal Access Division

(FTE—Full-Time Equivalent)

texasbar.com/tbj

PUBLIC PROTECTION DIVISION

Chief Disciplinary Counsel
Statewide Committees
Ombudsman
Board of Disciplinary Appeals
BOARD COMMITMENTS

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

TexasBarCLE
Minority Affairs

Communications
Bar Journal
Printing & Graphics
Public Information
Website

TRANSFERS TO SPECIAL REVENUE & CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

Texas Law Center Fund
Technology Fund
Client Security Fund

$288,800
500,000
700,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURES, BOARD COMMITMENTS
& TRANSFERS
$48,089,911
TOTAL REVENUES & RECEIPTS OVER EXPENDITURES
BOARD COMMITMENTS & TRANSFERS
TOTAL BUDGETED GENERAL FUND FTEs
TOTAL BUDGETED GENERAL FUND FTES

$0
263.63
260.88
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2020-2021 PROPOSED BUDGETS FOR
SPECIAL REVENUE & CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
LAW
TEXAS BOARD
FOCUSED
OF LEGAL
GRANTS SPECIALIZATION

REVENUES
FEES
SALES
INVESTMENTS
GRANTS
CONTRIBUTIONS
RESTITUTION
TOTAL REVENUES
RECEIPTS FROM RESERVES
TOTAL REVENUES & RECEIPTS

TEXAS BAR
COLLEGE

CONVENTION
FUND

TEXAS LAW
CENTER

TECHNOLOGY
FUND

CLIENT
SECURITY
FUND

TOTAL

$0
0
0
341,000
0
0
$341,000
0
$341,000

$1,470,250
0
35,000
0
0
0
$1,505,250
0
$1,505,250

$265,200
1,300
1,000
0
0
0
$267,500
0
$267,500

$300,000
25,000
0
0
360,000
0
$685,000
0
$685,000

$0
0
64,500
0
0
0
$64,500
0
$64,500

$0
0
0
0
0
0
$0
0
0

$0
0
40,000
0
0
15,000
$55,000
0
$55,000

$2,035,450
26,300
140,500
341,000
360,000
15,000
$2,918,250
0
$2,918,250

EXPENDITURES
SALARIES
$0
BENEFITS
0
TRAVEL
111,850
MEETINGS & CONFERENCES
32,100
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
103,250
PUBLICITY/ADVERTISING
0
DUES/SUBSCRIPTIONS/LICENSES
0
EDUCATION/TRAINING
0
SUPPLIES/AWARDS/GIFTS/SPEC. ITEMS 71,135
RENTALS—OFFICE, EQUIPMENT, STORAGE 4,240
POSTAGE & FREIGHT
6,225
TELEPHONE
0
ADMINISTRATIVE
6,600
FIXED ASSETS
0
PRINTING & COPYING
5,600
TOTAL EXPENDITURES
$341,000
BOARD COMMITMENTS - TRANSFERS IN
0
TRANSFERS (IN)/OUT
0

$505,134
190,293
55,000
75,000
165,000
175,000
30,000
1,650
12,000
170,000
7,833
25,000
76,600
7,000
9,740
$1,505,250
0
0

$71,935
26,925
40,000
14,000
17,000
5,000
2,000
1,500
20,000
9,000
13,860
700
31,580
0
14,000
$267,500
0
0

$0
0
10,300
545,360
9,000
36,500
420
0
17,000
2,750
23,000
0
8,400
0
32,270
$685,000
0
0

$0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
$0
0
(288,800)

$0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1,123,000
0
$1,123,000
(1,240,000)
(500,000)

$0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1,088,333
0
0
$1,088,333
(333,333)
(700,000)

$577,069
217,218
217,150
666,460
294,250
216,500
32,420
3,150
120,135
185,990
50,918
25,700
1,211,513
1,130,000
61,610
$5,010,083
(1,573,333)
(1,488,800)

TOTAL EXPENDITURES, BOARD COMMITMENTS
& TRANSFERS

$1,505,250

$267,500

$685,000

(288,800)

(617,000)

55,000

$1,947,950

$0

$0

$0

$0

$353,300

$617,000

$0

$970,300

0

7.88

1.00

0

0

0

0

8.88

$341,000

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES,
BOARD COMMITMENTS & TRANSFERS
FULL-TIME EQUIVALENTS

T

he purpose of the State Bar of Texas is to engage in those activities enumerated in section 81.012 of the State Bar Act. The expenditure of
funds by the State Bar of Texas is limited as set forth in both section 81.034 of the State Bar Act and in Keller v. State Bar of California, 496
U.S. 1 (1990). If any member thinks that any actual or proposed expenditure is not within such purposes of, or limitations on, the State Bar, then
such member may object thereto and seek a refund of a pro rata portion of his or her dues expended, plus interest, by filing an objection with
the executive director. The objection must be made in writing, addressed to the executive director of the State Bar of Texas, P.O. Box 12487,
Austin, TX 78711, and postmarked not later than 90 days after the conclusion of the challenged activity.
Upon receipt of a member’s objection, the executive director shall promptly review such objection together with the allocation of dues
monies spent on the challenged activity and, in consultation with the president, shall have the discretion to resolve the objection, including
refunding a pro rata portion of the member’s dues, plus interest. Refund of a pro rata share of the member’s dues shall be for the convenience
of the State Bar and shall not be construed as an admission that the challenged activity was or would not have been within the purposes of, or
limitations on, the State Bar.
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MINUTES EXHIBIT D

LEWIS KINARD, CHAIR
TIMOTHY D. BELTON
AMY BRESNEN
CLAUDE DUCLOUX
HON. DENNISE GARCIA

RICK HAGEN
DEAN VINCENT JOHNSON
CARL JORDAN
KAREN NICHOLSON

October 16, 2019
Mr. Jerry C. Alexander, Chair
State Bar of Texas Board of Directors
Passman & Jones

RE:

Submission of Proposed Rule Recommendation – Rule 1.01, Texas Disciplinary
Rules of Professional Conduct

Dear Mr. Alexander:
Pursuant to section 81.0875 of the Texas Government Code, the Committee on
Disciplinary Rules and Referenda initiated a rule change proposal relating to Rule 1.01 (Competent
and Diligent Representation) of the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct. The
Committee published the rule proposal in the Texas Bar Journal and the Texas Register. The
Committee solicited and considered public comments and held a public hearing on the rule
proposal. At its May 2019 meeting, the Committee voted to recommend the rule change proposal
to the Board of Directors.
Included in this submission packet, you will find the rule change proposal, proposed
comments to the proposed rule, and other supporting materials. Section 81.0877 of the
Government Code provides that the Board of Directors is to vote on each proposed disciplinary
rule recommended by the Committee not later than the 120th day after the date the rule is received
from the Committee. The Board can vote for or against a proposed rule or return a proposed rule
to the Committee for additional consideration.
As a reminder, if a majority of the Board of Directors approves a proposed rule, the Board
shall petition the Supreme Court of Texas to order a referendum on the proposed rule as provided
by section 81.0878 of the Government Code.
As you know, the Board voted at its April 2019 meeting to approve rule change proposals
recommended by the Committee pertaining to confidentiality of information and clients with
diminished capacity, and to hold the proposals for submission to the Supreme Court at a later date
with other rule proposals as deemed appropriate by the Board.
Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
P.O. Box 12487, Austin, TX 78711
cdrr@texasbar.com
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www.texasbar.com/cdrr

Thank you for your attention to this matter. Should the Board require any other
information, please do not hesitate to contact me. Please confirm receipt of this report at your
earliest convenience.
Sincerely,

Lewis Kinard
Chair, Committee on Disciplinary Rules and
Referenda
cc:

Randall O. Sorrels
Trey Apffel
Larry P. McDougal
Joe K. Longley
Ross Fischer
John Sirman
Seana Willing
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Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
Overview of Proposed Rule Changes
Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct
Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation
Provided here is a summary of the actions and rationale of the Committee on Disciplinary
Rules and Referenda related to the proposed changes to Rule 1.01, Texas Disciplinary Rules of
Professional Conduct (TDRPC).
Previous Actions by the Committee
•
•
•

•
•
•

Initiation – The Committee voted to initiate the rule proposal process at its December 5,
2018, meeting.
Publication – The proposed rule changes were published in the March 2019 issue of the
Texas Bar Journal and the March 1, 2019, issue of the Texas Register. The proposed rule
changes were concurrently posted on the Committee’s website.
Additional Outreach – On March 1, 2019, an email notification regarding the proposed
rule changes was sent to all Texas lawyers (other than those who have voluntarily opted
out of receiving email notices), Committee email subscribers, and other potentially
interested parties. On April 1, 2019, an additional email concerning the proposed rule
changes was sent to the same groups. Additional notifications regarding the proposed rule
changes were emailed to Committee subscribers on March 21, April 15, and April 26, 2019.
Public Comments – The Committee extended the public comment period to two months
(through May 1, 2019). The Committee received 41 written public comments (from 40
individuals).
Public Hearing – The Committee held a public hearing on the rule proposal on April 18,
2019, at the Texas Law Center.
Recommendation – The Committee voted at its May 8, 2019, meeting to recommend the
rule proposal to the Board of Directors.

Overview and Rationale
As background, in September 2018, the Supreme Court of Texas requested that the
Committee study and make recommendations to the Court regarding a proposed amendment to
Comment 8, Rule 1.01, TDRPC, relating to a lawyer’s technological competencies. In February
2019, the Committee recommended adoption of the proposed amendment and the Court entered
an order amending the comment as follows (new language underlined):
8. Because of the vital role of lawyers in the legal process, each lawyer should strive
to become and remain proficient and competent in the practice of law, including
the benefits and risks associated with relevant technology. To maintain the requisite
knowledge and skill of a competent practitioner, a lawyer should engage in
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continuing study and education. If a system of peer review has been established,
the lawyer should consider making use of it in appropriate circumstances. Isolated
instances of faulty conduct or decision should be identified for purposes of
additional study or instruction.
During the Committee’s examination of Texas Rule 1.01, the Committee determined that
changes were also necessary to the rule itself. Texas Rule 1.01, which is entitled “Competent and
Diligent Representation,” consolidates issues that are addressed in two separate provisions of the
American Bar Association (ABA) Model Rules of Professional Conduct: Model Rule 1.1
(Competence) and Model Rule 1.3 (Diligence). However, unlike the parallel provisions in the
Model Rules, Texas Rule 1.01 contains no clear statement that a lawyer has a duty to act
competently and a duty to act diligently. The proposed changes to Texas Rule 1.01 would bring it
generally in line with the Model Rules and the professional conduct rules of the vast majority of
other states.
The Committee received a variety of comments related to the proposed changes. Some
comments expressed clear support for the proposed changes. Other comments opposed and/or
expressed concerns about the proposed changes, including arguments that: the proposed changes
are unnecessary; the proposed language would render the current language superfluous and/or
create inconsistencies within the rule; the proposed language is too vague or subjective and would
lead to an increase in grievances against attorneys; and the proposed language would have a
chilling effect on attorneys seeking to provide pro bono services.
The Committee carefully considered the public comments received, and, ultimately, voted
to recommend the proposal to the Board based on the belief that the changes would appropriately
set a standard that is in line with both the Model Rules and the disciplinary rules of the vast majority
of other states: that a lawyer has a duty to provide competent representation and to act with
reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client.
Included on the pages that follow are the proposed rule changes, proposed comments to
the proposed rule, public comments received, and corresponding ABA Model Rules.
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Committee on Disciplinary Rules and
Referenda Proposed Rule Changes
Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct
Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation
Proposed Rule (Redline Version)
Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation
(a) A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client. Competent representation
requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the
representation.
(b) A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client.
(c)(a) A lawyer shall not accept or continue employment in a legal matter which the lawyer
knows or should know is beyond the lawyer's competence, unless:
(1) another lawyer who is competent to handle the matter is, with the prior informed
consent of the client, associated in the matter; or
(2) the advice or assistance of the lawyer is reasonably required in an emergency and the
lawyer limits the advice and assistance to that which is reasonably necessary in the
circumstances.
(d)(b) In representing a client, a lawyer shall not:
(1) neglect a legal matter entrusted to the lawyer; or
(2) frequently fail to carry out completely the obligations that the lawyer owes to a client
or clients.
(e)(c) As used in this Rule, “neglect” signifies inattentiveness involving a conscious disregard for
the responsibilities owed to a client or clients.
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Proposed Rule (Clean Version)
Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation
(a) A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client. Competent representation
requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the
representation.
(b) A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client.
(c) A lawyer shall not accept or continue employment in a legal matter which the lawyer knows
or should know is beyond the lawyer's competence, unless:
(1) another lawyer who is competent to handle the matter is, with the prior informed
consent of the client, associated in the matter; or
(2) the advice or assistance of the lawyer is reasonably required in an emergency and the
lawyer limits the advice and assistance to that which is reasonably necessary in the
circumstances.
(d) In representing a client, a lawyer shall not:
(1) neglect a legal matter entrusted to the lawyer; or
(2) frequently fail to carry out completely the obligations that the lawyer owes to a client
or clients.
(e) As used in this Rule, “neglect” signifies inattentiveness involving a conscious disregard for
the responsibilities owed to a client or clients.
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TO:
Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
FROM: Subcommittee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda (Vincent R. Johnson, Claude Ducloux and
Amy Bresnen)
Date: December 4, 2018 (Updated August 2019)
Re:
Proposed Comment to Texas Rule 1.01 Competent and Diligent Representation

If the CDRR approves our proposed changes to Texas Rule 1.01 (which recommend the addition of clear
rules on competence and diligence, in addition to a reference in the Comments to the duty to keep up
with technology), the Comment to Texas Rule 1.01 could be replaced with language from the Comment
to Model Rule 1.01 (Competence) and Model Rule (1.03 Diligence). The only changes that are needed
involve (a) revisions to the cross‐references, (b) the deletion of Model Rule 1.03 Cmt. 4, which
substantially appears now in Comment 6 to Texas Rule 1.02, and (c) the addition of a few new
subheadings (“Diligence and Workload” and “Procrastination and Neglect”).
Update: A cross‐reference was revised in proposed Comment 5, and a reference to Rule 28 of the
American Bar Association Model Rules for Lawyer Disciplinary Enforcement was removed from
proposed Comment 12.
Proposed Comment to Proposed Texas Rule 1.01 Based on the Comments to Model Rule 1.01
(Competence) and Model Rule 1.03 (Diligence) – Changes are Redlined
Comment
Legal Knowledge and Skill
[1] In determining whether a lawyer employs the requisite knowledge and skill in a particular
matter, relevant factors include the relative complexity and specialized nature of the matter, the
lawyer's general experience, the lawyer's training and experience in the field in question, the
preparation and study the lawyer is able to give the matter and whether it is feasible to refer
the matter to, or associate or consult with, a lawyer of established competence in the field in
question. In many instances, the required proficiency is that of a general practitioner. Expertise
in a particular field of law may be required in some circumstances.
[2] A lawyer need not necessarily have special training or prior experience to handle legal
problems of a type with which the lawyer is unfamiliar. A newly admitted lawyer can be as
competent as a practitioner with long experience. Some important legal skills, such as the
analysis of precedent, the evaluation of evidence and legal drafting, are required in all legal
problems. Perhaps the most fundamental legal skill consists of determining what kind of legal
problems a situation may involve, a skill that necessarily transcends any particular specialized
knowledge. A lawyer can provide adequate representation in a wholly novel field through
necessary study. Competent representation can also be provided through the association of a
lawyer of established competence in the field in question.
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[3] In an emergency a lawyer may give advice or assistance in a matter in which the lawyer does
not have the skill ordinarily required where referral to or consultation or association with
another lawyer would be impractical. Even in an emergency, however, assistance should be
limited to that reasonably necessary in the circumstances, for ill‐considered action under
emergency conditions can jeopardize the client's interest.
[4] A lawyer may accept representation where the requisite level of competence can be
achieved by reasonable preparation. This applies as well to a lawyer who is appointed as counsel
for an unrepresented person. See also Rule 6.012.
Thoroughness and Preparation
[5] Competent handling of a particular matter includes inquiry into and analysis of the factual
and legal elements of the problem, and use of methods and procedures meeting the standards
of competent practitioners. It also includes adequate preparation. The required attention and
preparation are determined in part by what is at stake; major litigation and complex
transactions ordinarily require more extensive treatment than matters of lesser complexity and
consequence. An agreement between the lawyer and the client regarding the scope of the
representation may limit the matters for which the lawyer is responsible. See Rule 1.02(bc).
Retaining or Contracting With Other Lawyers
[6] Before a lawyer retains or contracts with other lawyers outside the lawyer's own firm to
provide or assist in the provision of legal services to a client, the lawyer should ordinarily obtain
informed consent from the client and must reasonably believe that the other lawyers' services
will contribute to the competent and ethical representation of the client. See also Rules 1.02
(allocation of authority), 1.034 (communication with client), 1.045(fe) (fee sharing), 1.056
(confidentiality), and 5.05(a) (unauthorized practice of law). The reasonableness of the decision
to retain or contract with other lawyers outside the lawyer's own firm will depend upon the
circumstances, including the education, experience and reputation of the nonfirm lawyers; the
nature of the services assigned to the nonfirm lawyers; and the legal protections, professional
conduct rules, and ethical environments of the jurisdictions in which the services will be
performed, particularly relating to confidential information.
[7] When lawyers from more than one law firm are providing legal services to the client on a
particular matter, the lawyers ordinarily should consult with each other and the client about the
scope of their respective representations and the allocation of responsibility among them. See
Rule 1.02. When making allocations of responsibility in a matter pending before a tribunal,
lawyers and parties may have additional obligations that are a matter of law beyond the scope
of these Rules.
Maintaining Competence
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[8] To maintain the requisite knowledge and skill, a lawyer should keep abreast of changes in the
law and its practice, including the benefits and risks associated with relevant technology, engage
in continuing study and education and comply with all continuing legal education requirements
to which the lawyer is subject.
Diligence and Workload
[91] A lawyer should pursue a matter on behalf of a client despite opposition, obstruction or
personal inconvenience to the lawyer, and take whatever lawful and ethical measures are
required to vindicate a client's cause or endeavor. A lawyer must also act with commitment and
dedication to the interests of the client and with zeal in advocacy upon the client's behalf. A
lawyer is not bound, however, to press for every advantage that might be realized for a client.
For example, a lawyer may have authority to exercise professional discretion in determining the
means by which a matter should be pursued. See Rule 1.02. The lawyer's duty to act with
reasonable diligence does not require the use of offensive tactics or preclude the treating of all
persons involved in the legal process with courtesy and respect.
[102] A lawyer's work load must be controlled so that each matter can be handled competently.
Procrastination and Neglect
[113] Perhaps no professional shortcoming is more widely resented than procrastination. A
client's interests often can be adversely affected by the passage of time or the change of
conditions; in extreme instances, as when a lawyer overlooks a statute of limitations, the client's
legal position may be destroyed. Even when the client's interests are not affected in substance,
however, unreasonable delay can cause a client needless anxiety and undermine confidence in
the lawyer's trustworthiness. A lawyer's duty to act with reasonable promptness, however, does
not preclude the lawyer from agreeing to a reasonable request for a postponement that will not
prejudice the lawyer's client.
[4] Unless the relationship is terminated as provided in Rule 1.16, a lawyer should carry through
to conclusion all matters undertaken for a client. If a lawyer's employment is limited to a specific
matter, the relationship terminates when the matter has been resolved. If a lawyer has served a
client over a substantial period in a variety of matters, the client sometimes may assume that
the lawyer will continue to serve on a continuing basis unless the lawyer gives notice of
withdrawal. Doubt about whether a client lawyer relationship still exists should be clarified by
the lawyer, preferably in writing, so that the client will not mistakenly suppose the lawyer is
looking after the client's affairs when the lawyer has ceased to do so. For example, if a lawyer
has handled a judicial or administrative proceeding that produced a result adverse to the client
and the lawyer and the client have not agreed that the lawyer will handle the matter on appeal,
the lawyer must consult with the client about the possibility of appeal before relinquishing
responsibility for the matter. See Rule 1.4(a)(2). Whether the lawyer is obligated to prosecute
the appeal for the client depends on the scope of the representation the lawyer has agreed to
provide to the client. See Rule 1.2.

9

4

[125] To prevent neglect of client matters in the event of a sole practitioner's death or disability,
the duty of diligence may require that each sole practitioner prepare a plan, in conformity with
applicable rules, that designates another competent lawyer to review client files, notify each
client of the lawyer's death or disability, and determine whether there is a need for immediate
protective action. Cf. Rule 28 of the American Bar Association Model Rules for Lawyer
Disciplinary Enforcement (providing for court appointment of a lawyer to inventory files and
take other protective action in absence of a plan providing for another lawyer to protect the
interests of the clients of a deceased or disabled lawyer).

Clean Version of Proposed Comment to Proposed Texas Rule 1.01
Comment
Legal Knowledge and Skill
[1] In determining whether a lawyer employs the requisite knowledge and skill in a particular
matter, relevant factors include the relative complexity and specialized nature of the matter, the
lawyer's general experience, the lawyer's training and experience in the field in question, the
preparation and study the lawyer is able to give the matter and whether it is feasible to refer
the matter to, or associate or consult with, a lawyer of established competence in the field in
question. In many instances, the required proficiency is that of a general practitioner. Expertise
in a particular field of law may be required in some circumstances.
[2] A lawyer need not necessarily have special training or prior experience to handle legal
problems of a type with which the lawyer is unfamiliar. A newly admitted lawyer can be as
competent as a practitioner with long experience. Some important legal skills, such as the
analysis of precedent, the evaluation of evidence and legal drafting, are required in all legal
problems. Perhaps the most fundamental legal skill consists of determining what kind of legal
problems a situation may involve, a skill that necessarily transcends any particular specialized
knowledge. A lawyer can provide adequate representation in a wholly novel field through
necessary study. Competent representation can also be provided through the association of a
lawyer of established competence in the field in question.
[3] In an emergency a lawyer may give advice or assistance in a matter in which the lawyer does
not have the skill ordinarily required where referral to or consultation or association with
another lawyer would be impractical. Even in an emergency, however, assistance should be
limited to that reasonably necessary in the circumstances, for ill‐considered action under
emergency conditions can jeopardize the client's interest.
[4] A lawyer may accept representation where the requisite level of competence can be
achieved by reasonable preparation. This applies as well to a lawyer who is appointed as counsel
for an unrepresented person. See also Rule 6.01.
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Thoroughness and Preparation
[5] Competent handling of a particular matter includes inquiry into and analysis of the factual
and legal elements of the problem, and use of methods and procedures meeting the standards
of competent practitioners. It also includes adequate preparation. The required attention and
preparation are determined in part by what is at stake; major litigation and complex
transactions ordinarily require more extensive treatment than matters of lesser complexity and
consequence. An agreement between the lawyer and the client regarding the scope of the
representation may limit the matters for which the lawyer is responsible. See Rule 1.02(b).
Retaining or Contracting With Other Lawyers
[6] Before a lawyer retains or contracts with other lawyers outside the lawyer's own firm to
provide or assist in the provision of legal services to a client, the lawyer should ordinarily obtain
informed consent from the client and must reasonably believe that the other lawyers' services
will contribute to the competent and ethical representation of the client. See also Rules 1.02
(allocation of authority), 1.03 (communication with client), 1.04(f) (fee sharing), 1.05
(confidentiality), and 5.05 (unauthorized practice of law). The reasonableness of the decision to
retain or contract with other lawyers outside the lawyer's own firm will depend upon the
circumstances, including the education, experience and reputation of the nonfirm lawyers; the
nature of the services assigned to the nonfirm lawyers; and the legal protections, professional
conduct rules, and ethical environments of the jurisdictions in which the services will be
performed, particularly relating to confidential information.
[7] When lawyers from more than one law firm are providing legal services to the client on a
particular matter, the lawyers ordinarily should consult with each other and the client about the
scope of their respective representations and the allocation of responsibility among them. See
Rule 1.02. When making allocations of responsibility in a matter pending before a tribunal,
lawyers and parties may have additional obligations that are a matter of law beyond the scope
of these Rules.
Maintaining Competence
[8] To maintain the requisite knowledge and skill, a lawyer should keep abreast of changes in the
law and its practice, including the benefits and risks associated with relevant technology, engage
in continuing study and education and comply with all continuing legal education requirements
to which the lawyer is subject.
Diligence and Workload
[9] A lawyer should pursue a matter on behalf of a client despite opposition, obstruction or
personal inconvenience to the lawyer, and take whatever lawful and ethical measures are
required to vindicate a client's cause or endeavor. A lawyer must also act with commitment and
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dedication to the interests of the client and with zeal in advocacy upon the client's behalf. A
lawyer is not bound, however, to press for every advantage that might be realized for a client.
For example, a lawyer may have authority to exercise professional discretion in determining the
means by which a matter should be pursued. See Rule 1.02. The lawyer's duty to act with
reasonable diligence does not require the use of offensive tactics or preclude the treating of all
persons involved in the legal process with courtesy and respect.
[10] A lawyer's work load must be controlled so that each matter can be handled competently.
Procrastination and Neglect
[11] Perhaps no professional shortcoming is more widely resented than procrastination. A
client's interests often can be adversely affected by the passage of time or the change of
conditions; in extreme instances, as when a lawyer overlooks a statute of limitations, the client's
legal position may be destroyed. Even when the client's interests are not affected in substance,
however, unreasonable delay can cause a client needless anxiety and undermine confidence in
the lawyer's trustworthiness. A lawyer's duty to act with reasonable promptness, however, does
not preclude the lawyer from agreeing to a reasonable request for a postponement that will not
prejudice the lawyer's client.
[12] To prevent neglect of client matters in the event of a sole practitioner's death or disability,
the duty of diligence may require that each sole practitioner prepare a plan, in conformity with
applicable rules, that designates another competent lawyer to review client files, notify each
client of the lawyer's death or disability, and determine whether there is a need for immediate
protective action.
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Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
Proposed Rule Changes
Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct
Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation

Public Comments Received
Through May 1, 2019
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Rule 1.01 Proposed changes
Friday, March 01, 2019 4:06:23 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Douglas

Last Name

Mclallen

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

00788025

Feedback
Subject

Rule 1.01 Proposed changes

Comments
This looks like a solution looking for a problem. Moreover, "reasonable diligence and promptness" is
vague and subject to abuse.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Comment on Rule 1.01
Friday, March 01, 2019 4:15:09 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Lena

Last Name

Roberts

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24041763

Feedback
Subject

Comment on Rule 1.01

Comments
I like the change, and hopefully the new rules will be enforced. I've seen too many bad lawyers hurt
too many good people and get away with it!
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed Changes to Disciplinary Rule 1.01
Friday, March 01, 2019 4:19:25 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Aaron

Last Name

Martinez

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24068629

Feedback
Subject

Proposed Changes to Disciplinary Rule 1.01

Comments
I believe the proposed changes are largely unnecessary. The rule as is already requires a lawyer not
to take on matters he or she know he or she is not competent to undertake, and to not neglect
clients. Adding this extra layer would only make it easier for disgruntled clients to make frivolous
disciplinary complaints against lawyers for not possessing the "legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness
and preparation reasonably necessary for the representation," even though they may have no idea
what that means and are just unhappy with their results. Disgruntled clients could also use the
proposed promptness subpart to again, make our lives miserable with disciplinary complaints, but
there is more here. They could use it to try to force lawyers into unnecessary reporting
requirements, or argue in malpractice cases that the lawyer "failed to adequately report" or
something similar. Perhaps if these were more aspirational than mandatory, they would be fine. Or
perhaps simply a definition of what competent representation is would work. But as-is, they are
superfluous and have the potential to create more problems than they are worth. Let's not go there
in my opinion.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation
Friday, March 01, 2019 4:20:55 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Richard

Last Name

Schell

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

17736780

Feedback
Subject

Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation

Comments
The use of the word "signifies" in section (e) makes no sense. If anything, inattention signifies
neglect, not the other way around.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed changes to Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation
Friday, March 01, 2019 4:23:41 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Michael

Last Name

Farmer

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

06823100

Feedback
Subject

Proposed changes to Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation

Comments
Proposed additions 1.01 (a) and (b) are unnecessary because they are implicit in our duty as an
attorney. Also, new (b) is just a restatement of old (b). No change is required.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed Change to 1.01--add professionalism/civility
Friday, March 01, 2019 4:24:41 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Jessica

Last Name

Wortham

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24081488

Feedback
Subject

Proposed Change to 1.01--add professionalism/civility

Comments
May we please amend 1.01(b) to say: "(b) A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and
promptness while maintaining professionalism and civility towards others while representing a client."
As a young female attorney, I have witnessed countless attorneys behave unprofessionally in the
courtroom on "behalf of a client." They bully others, harass, threaten, and attempt to intimidate
others in order to get a better deal for their client. There is no need to throw away basic manners
and civility in the name of employment. It gives our profession a bad name.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
Re: Seeking Comments on Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01
Friday, March 01, 2019 4:30:06 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments
I have no changes or suggestions to proposed Rule 1.01 changes.
Sincerely,
Law Office of Stephen P. Krupp, PLLC
Cell:
Office: 573.317.4336
Sent from my iPhone
*********************************
This email and any attachments contain privileged and confidential information intended only for the use
of the addressee(s). If you are not an intended recipient of this email, you are hereby notified that any
dissemination, copying or use of information within it is strictly prohibited. If you received this email in
error or without authorization, please notify me immediately by reply e-mail and permanently delete all
copies of the e-mail and any attachments.
*********************************
On Mar 1, 2019, at 3:58 PM, State Bar of Texas - CDRR <cdrr@texasbar.com> wrote:
State Bar of Texas

Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01
Public Comments Sought
Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation
The Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda (CDRR) has published proposed changes to
Rule 1.01 (Competent and Diligent Representation). The proposed changes were also published in
the (March) Texas Bar Journal and the (March 1) Texas Register. A public hearing on the proposed
rule will be held at 10:30 a.m. on April 18, 2019, at the Texas Law Center in Austin.
The Committee will accept comments concerning the proposed rule changes through May 1, 2019.
Comments can be submitted here.
The CDRR is responsible for overseeing the initial process for proposing a change or addition to the
disciplinary rules (Gov't Code § 81.0873). For more information, go to texasbar.com/CDRR.
To subscribe to email updates, including notices of public hearings and published rules for comment,
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click here.
Sincerely,
Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda

Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
State Bar of Texas | 1414 Colorado | Austin, Texas 78701 | 800.204.2222
Unsubscribe
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Comments on published proposed changes to Rule 1.01 (Competent and Diligent
Representation)
Friday, March 01, 2019 4:37:42 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Shenila

Last Name

Momin

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24003788

Feedback
Subject Comments on published proposed changes to Rule 1.01 (Competent and Diligent
Representation)

Comments
The addition of the following paragraph: (b) A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and
promptness in representing a client. This addition will cause undue burden on attorneys where
clients have certain expectations on the term promptness. How would "promptness" be defined?
Missing deadlines? Causing harm? Additionally, the legal field is vast where this term would mean
something different in different fields of practice. i.e. immigration law? commercial law?
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01
Friday, March 01, 2019 4:47:58 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

christopher

Last Name

below

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24045477

Feedback
Subject

Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01

Comments
I am a solo practitioner with a general law practice. I have some concerns about the language in the
proposed Rule 1.01 that reads as follows: (a) A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a
client. Competent representation requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation
reasonably necessary for the representation. Would proposed change in the rule preclude a young,
less experienced solo attorney, from taking the representation of a client? I know many young
attorney's sign cases up and bring in more experienced senior attorney's to also represent the client
allowing the young attorney to learn from the senior attorney. In my opinion this is a practice that
makes for better attorneys for the benefit of all clients. How can a young attorney, with limited
experience, satisfy the requirement of legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation
reasonably necessary for the representation. Allowing an exception under my example would satisfy
this requirement and add to the improvement for better attorneys. If I am way off in this, please
disregard my comment. Reading the proposed change made me think of when I was a young
attorney getting my feet wet.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed changes to Rule 1.01
Friday, March 01, 2019 5:08:01 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Sim

Last Name

Israeloff

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

10435380

Feedback
Subject

Proposed changes to Rule 1.01

Comments
I am strongly opposed to the proposed changes to Rule 1.01. The proposed amendments are
laudatory and aspirational for being a good lawyer, but they are not needed and will create
unintended consequences. I am not aware of a problem with the current rule. The changes appear
to be a solution in search of a problem. Adding new obligations in the rule will have the undesirable
effect of adding fuel to malpractice claims against lawyers. Under the new rules a plaintiff suing a
lawyer will add every element of the new rules to the list of failures by the lawyer defendant. While
the disciplinary rules state that they do not create common law standards of care for civil lawsuit
purposes, that's exactly how they are used in practice. Plaintiff experts in legal malpractice cases
routinely refer to the DRs as setting out the standard of care for attorneys. The new rules will permit
more claims against attorneys. The listing of specific elements that constitute competent
representation, including legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation, adds four areas for
future dispute, debate and litigation both as to grievances and as to legal malpractice claims. What is
"knowledge" and how much do you need, etc. Every word is vague and undefined and will lead to
confusion and disagreement. It is better to simply leave the current rule and its reference to not
taking a case that is "beyond the lawyer's competence" and whatever gloss or precedent has
developed over those words up to this time, rather than attempting to redefine, with vague terms
that will invite mischief and litigation, what it means to bring competent and diligent representation.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Rule 1.01 Proposed Change
Friday, March 01, 2019 5:21:03 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

David

Last Name

Aronofsky

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

01355500

Feedback
Subject

Rule 1.01 Proposed Change

Comments
This is a very good change linguistically because it codifies what most experienced attorneys already
know are the intent and spirit of Tule 1.01
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01, Disciplinary Rules
Friday, March 01, 2019 5:29:49 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Elliott

Last Name

Klein

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

11557300

Feedback
Subject

Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01, Disciplinary Rules

Comments
Dear Sirs; I feel the proposed changes adds nothing significant to the current rule. Any argument
that it has value is equivalent to counting counting angels on a pinhead. Elliott Klein
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Unnecessary changes
Friday, March 01, 2019 5:30:50 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Brian

Last Name

Miller

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24004607

Feedback
Subject

Unnecessary changes

Comments
Part (c) of the proposed amended rule is inconsistent with Part (a). Part (c), which is in the existing
rule, already states a competency requirement and provides two exceptions. Part (a) appears to
impose a competency requirement without exceptions. The two exceptions, however, are important
to providing access to justice. The first exception helps ensure that we have an ample number of
lawyers, in appropriate price ranges and distributed through various communities, to provide legal
assistance to clients. The second exception helps ensure the availability of emergency legal
assistance. In addition, Part (d) of the proposed amended rule is inconsistent with Part (b). One
provision imposes a conscious-disregard standard while the other imposes a simple-negligence
standard. Unless the conscious-disregard standard has proven unworkable, we should stay with that
standard for attorney disciplinary proceedings. At the very least, a simple-negligence standard should
incorporate the concepts of duty and causation that we see in malpractice suits, so that we prevent
harmless and fixable mistakes from being the basis of disciplinary proceedings.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: CDDr 1.01 proposed changes
Friday, March 01, 2019 5:33:21 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Eric

Last Name

Bayne

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

00792947

Feedback
Subject

CDDr 1.01 proposed changes

Comments
I'm all for competent representation. I think the affirmative duty in proposed 1.01(a) subsumes the
remainder of the rule. I'd delete the surplusage and make proposed 1.01(a) simply Rule 1.01.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed Rule Change TDRPC 1.01
Friday, March 01, 2019 5:41:37 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Dane

Last Name

OBrien

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24090302

Feedback
Subject

Proposed Rule Change TDRPC 1.01

Comments
Our client base like any other has a right to expect competant and diligent service in all things that
we do. This concept is even more crucial in our profession because of the huge impacts potentially
from anything less. Attorneys charge a premium and our clients should expect our service to be more
than appropiate and of value... this is often not the case and often attorneys accept cases they are
not competant to accept or fail to put in the work and attention it requires. While I appreciate the
committees desire to update a rule badly in need of it, but fail to see how this updated verbage
(merely rearraging vague words and phrases) adds any more clarity to what was already a vague
and ill defined area already. In fact, the new version serves to remove almost everything that help to
explain all the vague terms in the rule to provide some small clarity. I understand that as
professionals there is a desire to protect our members, but to do by writing rules that would be
almost impossible to prove liability under seems a poor way to go about it in the long run. One must
simply imagine (or apply one of any number of outstanding complaints that currently exist) a
scenario where this rule is violated sufficiently that it could be shown... would a wronged client ever
reaaonably be able to define and reach this threshold under this rewrite... I think it unlikely except
either in the RICHEST or most blatant/aggregious of circumstances. I think as a tool thet seeks to
manage member conduct and protect clients from predatory practitioners it is a fail.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Changes to rule 1.01
Friday, March 01, 2019 5:41:38 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Gail

Last Name

Deml

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

16286950

Feedback
Subject

Changes to rule 1.01

Comments
The following proposed provision is ambiguous on its face: (e)(c) As used in this Rule, “neglect”
signifies inattentiveness involving a conscious disregard for the responsibilities owed to a client or
clients. "Conscious disregard" is more than mere "inattentiveness." By putting both terms together in
the same sentence, it is inherently ambiguous. Why not just say: "neglect" is more than mere
inattentiveness and involves a conscious disregard for the responsibilities owed to a client or clients.
-- OR -- "neglect" involves a conscious disregard for the responsibilities owed to a client or clients.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
Re: Seeking Comments on Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01
Friday, March 01, 2019 5:43:57 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments
I resigned from the ABA for the same reason! Burl Jacks
Sent from my iPad
On Mar 1, 2019, at 4:03 PM, State Bar of Texas - CDRR <cdrr@texasbar.com> wrote:
State Bar of Texas

Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01
Public Comments Sought
Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation
The Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda (CDRR) has published proposed changes to
Rule 1.01 (Competent and Diligent Representation). The proposed changes were also published in
the (March) Texas Bar Journal and the (March 1) Texas Register. A public hearing on the proposed
rule will be held at 10:30 a.m. on April 18, 2019, at the Texas Law Center in Austin.
The Committee will accept comments concerning the proposed rule changes through May 1, 2019.
Comments can be submitted here.
The CDRR is responsible for overseeing the initial process for proposing a change or addition to the
disciplinary rules (Gov't Code § 81.0873). For more information, go to texasbar.com/CDRR.
To subscribe to email updates, including notices of public hearings and published rules for comment,
click here.
Sincerely,
Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda

Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
State Bar of Texas | 1414 Colorado | Austin, Texas 78701 | 800.204.2222
Unsubscribe
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
Re: Seeking Comments on Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01
Friday, March 01, 2019 6:24:31 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments
Why is there a movement to change this rule? That information would be helpful. It appears that the
proposed changes are already covered in other rules. More information in these areas would be helpful.
_________________________________
Peter A. Schulte
Schulte & Apgar, PLLC
4131 N Central Exwy Ste 680
Dallas, Texas 75204
Ofc: 214.521.2200
Fax: 214.276.1661
www.PeteSchulte.com
Sent from my iPhone... Please pardon any grammatical and/or spelling mistakes...
On Mar 1, 2019, at 15:58, State Bar of Texas - CDRR <cdrr@texasbar.com> wrote:
State Bar of Texas

Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01
Public Comments Sought
Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation
The Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda (CDRR) has published proposed changes to
Rule 1.01 (Competent and Diligent Representation). The proposed changes were also published in
the (March) Texas Bar Journal and the (March 1) Texas Register. A public hearing on the proposed
rule will be held at 10:30 a.m. on April 18, 2019, at the Texas Law Center in Austin.
The Committee will accept comments concerning the proposed rule changes through May 1, 2019.
Comments can be submitted here.
The CDRR is responsible for overseeing the initial process for proposing a change or addition to the
disciplinary rules (Gov't Code § 81.0873). For more information, go to texasbar.com/CDRR.
To subscribe to email updates, including notices of public hearings and published rules for comment,
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click here.
Sincerely,
Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda

Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
State Bar of Texas | 1414 Colorado | Austin, Texas 78701 | 800.204.2222
Unsubscribe

34

From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Public Comment on Proposed change to Rule 1.01
Saturday, March 02, 2019 9:45:47 AM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

BRENT

Last Name

MORGAN

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24051084

Feedback
Subject

Public Comment on Proposed change to Rule 1.01

Comments
The proposed rule change to 1.01 is inappropriate and clearly written by someone who has never
represented indigent, career-criminal defendants or those with unrealistic expectations of what an
attorney does. If this is made a rule, I will expect to get those of my court-appointed clients and
divorce clients who believe adultery=I get everything will be filing a grievance and citing this rule.
For example, if I have a jury returns a verdict of "guilty" on a client, I will expect to get a grievance
now because I didn't have the "skill" to get a "not guilty". If my client is not award custody of their
minor child, then I will get a grievance because my "skills" were not sufficient to garner custody. I
cannot tell you the number of people who come in my office to complain about how "bad" their
previous attorney was when really it was the facts of the case. Whether these grievances have merit
or not is beside the point. I will have to waste precious time in answering these grievances and
having to explain every decision I have ever made in every case. Do NOT add such a vague,
unnecessary addition to the Rules of Professional Conduct.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
Re: Seeking Comments on Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01
Saturday, March 02, 2019 10:51:38 AM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments
Where can I find the Committee rationale for the proposed changes?
Thanks,
Danny Hardesty
Tx. Bar No. 08957400
On Fri, Mar 1, 2019 at 4:04 PM State Bar of Texas - CDRR <cdrr@texasbar.com> wrote:
State Bar of Texas

Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01
Public Comments Sought
Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation
The Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda (CDRR) has published proposed changes to
Rule 1.01 (Competent and Diligent Representation). The proposed changes were also published in
the (March) Texas Bar Journal and the (March 1) Texas Register. A public hearing on the proposed
rule will be held at 10:30 a.m. on April 18, 2019, at the Texas Law Center in Austin.
The Committee will accept comments concerning the proposed rule changes through May 1, 2019.
Comments can be submitted here.
The CDRR is responsible for overseeing the initial process for proposing a change or addition to the
disciplinary rules (Gov't Code § 81.0873). For more information, go to texasbar.com/CDRR.
To subscribe to email updates, including notices of public hearings and published rules for comment,
click here.
Sincerely,
Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda

Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
State Bar of Texas | 1414 Colorado | Austin, Texas 78701 | 800.204.2222
Unsubscribe
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
RE: [EXTERNAL] Seeking Comments on Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01
Saturday, March 02, 2019 5:17:27 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments
Approved.
From: State Bar of Texas - CDRR [mailto:cdrr@texasbar.com]
Sent: Friday, March 01, 2019 3:59 PM
To: Gills, Kirk B.
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Seeking Comments on Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01

State Bar of Texas

Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01
Public Comments Sought
Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation
The Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda (CDRR) has published proposed changes to
Rule 1.01 (Competent and Diligent Representation). The proposed changes were also published in
the (March) Texas Bar Journal and the (March 1) Texas Register. A public hearing on the proposed
rule will be held at 10:30 a.m. on April 18, 2019, at the Texas Law Center in Austin.
The Committee will accept comments concerning the proposed rule changes through May 1, 2019.
Comments can be submitted here.
The CDRR is responsible for overseeing the initial process for proposing a change or addition to the
disciplinary rules (Gov't Code § 81.0873). For more information, go to texasbar.com/CDRR.
To subscribe to email updates, including notices of public hearings and published rules for comment,
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click here.
Sincerely,
Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda

Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
State Bar of Texas | 1414 Colorado | Austin, Texas 78701 | 800.204.2222
Unsubscribe
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed changes to Rule 1.01
Sunday, March 03, 2019 1:54:07 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

James

Last Name

Drummond

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24081380

Feedback
Subject

Proposed changes to Rule 1.01

Comments
The proposed changes should be adopted. The changes have been implicit heretofore, but making
them explicit helps the public know what is expected and what they are entitled to in the matter of
Representation.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed rules changes - Disciplinary Rule 1.01
Sunday, March 03, 2019 3:32:30 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Matt

Last Name

McKool

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

13731600

Feedback
Subject

Proposed rules changes - Disciplinary Rule 1.01

Comments
I do not see the need for these changes. The existing rule includes the same requirements as the
existing rule: diligence, promptness, knowledge, skill, thoroughness, and preparation are part of the
rule already. (e.g. neglect and fail to carry out obligations completely) neglect is also defined.
Neglect is also defined and would include the same elements. In addition, these terms (diligence,
promptness, knowledge, skill, thoroughness, and preparation) are vague and subject to overly broad
subjective connotations whereupon reasonable minds may differ. This would subject attorneys to a
myriad of specious and questionable complaints. Many clients feel wrongs when the attorney fails to
follow the client's perceived obligations or act with urgency as to every detail. Also many client's
often blame the attorney for any setback or loss. These changes would invariably provide an
ambiguous standard resulting in a global catch-all basis for all complaints (founded and unfounded)
and lead to a surge of unfounded complaints.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Regarding Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01
Sunday, March 03, 2019 3:38:46 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Melissa

Last Name

Wheeler

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24104437

Feedback
Subject

Regarding Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01

Comments
I am support of the proposed rule. I hope that whatever version of the rule results from these
meetings includes proposed section (b), which provides "a lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence
and promptness in representing a client." The reasonability standard proposed here is important to
me because of the volume of my cases — each client, of course, deserves competent and zealous
representation, but the reality is that sometimes I have to prioritize one case over another for a short
time while due dates approach.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed Rule 1.01
Monday, March 04, 2019 10:37:16 AM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Roger

Last Name

Hughes

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

10229500

Feedback
Subject

Proposed Rule 1.01

Comments
I do not understand the need for this change. I am unaware of a similar change to ABA model code.
Further, I question the wisdom of making 'competence' grounds for discipline. This opens the door to
mere professional negligence as grounds for discipline. The proposed duty to provide 'competent
representation' goes beyond just having the skills, etc., to do the job -- it will extend the wisdom of
decisions. No one defends incompetence, but do we want the grievance procedure to be mired in
claims over nothing more than negligence in judgment? The other rules have fairly precise or
objective standards to know when a violation occurs. Trying to determine when representation is
competent is a vague standard for imposing sanctions. Finally, this change will be allow arguments
that the Rules apply to determine negligence in civil malpractice cases, which so far has not been the
law.
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[Harry L. Tindall Submission 3.4.19]

Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation
(a) A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client.
Competent representation requires the legal knowledge, skill,
thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the
representation.
(b) A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in
representing a client.
(c)(a) A lawyer shall not accept or continue employment in a legal
matter which the lawyer knows or should know is beyond the lawyer’s
competence of the lawyer, unless:
(1) another lawyer who is competent to handle the matter is, with
the prior informed consent of the client, associated in the matter; or
(2) the advice or assistance of the lawyer is reasonably required in
an emergency and the lawyer limits the advice and assistance to that
which is reasonably necessary in the circumstances.
(d)(b) In representing a client, a lawyer shall not: (1) neglect a legal
matter entrusted to the lawyer; or (2) frequently fail to carry out
completely the obligations that the lawyer owes to a client or clients.
(e)(c) As used in this Rule subsection, “neglect” signifies means
inattentiveness involving a conscious disregard for the responsibilities
owed to a client or clients.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01
Monday, March 04, 2019 4:44:52 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Toysha

Last Name

Jones Martin

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24004726

Feedback
Subject

Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01

Comments
Where can I find additional information regarding the basis for the proposed changes? What does
the committee hope to capture by adding the additional language? Is this intended to address
competencies such as understanding of technology?

45

From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01
Tuesday, March 05, 2019 11:48:00 AM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Phillip

Last Name

Herr

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24038956

Feedback
Subject

Proposed Changes to Rule 1.01

Comments
Dear Sir or Madam, I disagree with this revision by the committee. The mandatory language of "
(a)...shall provide competent representation to a client. and (b) A lawyer shall act with reasonable
diligence and promptness in representing a client." This language would make it easier to sue
lawyers for malpractice. The previous language has been used for probably 15 years. I do not see a
reason to change it. This proposal would make it easier for the public to sue lawyers. By including
this added "shall" language in the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct, it (i) makes it
easier for the public to sue lawyers; and (ii) creates another standard of care for lawyers to follow
by. Sincerely, Phillip M. Herr
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Comment on Propose amendment to Rule 1.01
Thursday, March 07, 2019 3:15:36 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Frederick

Last Name

Moss

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

14583400

Feedback
Subject

Comment on Propose amendment to Rule 1.01

Comments
Now that the Tx Sup Ct has added technological competence to comment 8, I have no issues with
the proposed rule amendment. It puts Texas in line with the Model Rules and most other states.
With multi-jurisdictional practice common today, states should strive for uniformity. Also, it is good to
move the definition of "competence" from the comment to the rule, as it is not in the "Terminology"
section. However, I suggest that the final subsection's definition of "neglect" is confusing and selfcontradictory. One cannot be both "inattentive" to (unaware of) a responsibility and consciously
disregard it at the same time. The words "inattentiveness involving" should be deleted.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Comments on changes to Rule 1.01 - Competent and Diligent Representation
Friday, March 08, 2019 12:39:19 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

jerry

Last Name

suva

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24060690

Feedback
Subject

Comments on changes to Rule 1.01 - Competent and Diligent Representation

Comments
Hello, I reviewed the proposed additions to Rule 1.01. I find these to be largely redundant with
previous section (b), which says that a lawyer will not neglect a legal matter or frequently fail to
carry out completely the obligations owed. The only new aspect of the amendments appears to be a
strict scrutiny as-applied to the diligence and promptness. It smells like a colorable ethics complaint
could now be made by not returning an overlooked e-mail, or only after returning from spring break.
Thank you, Jerry Suva
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: proposed rule 1.01
Monday, March 11, 2019 10:54:44 AM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Mark

Last Name

White

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

21317900

Feedback
Subject

proposed rule 1.01

Comments
I'm pretty concerned that section (a) of this new rule will be difficult to manage. The ability to file a
grievance over lack of knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation could turn the grievance
system into a malpractice forum. I'm wondering whether a comment has been drafted for this rule to
give us further guidance. Could someone let me know please? mdw
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: proposed changes to Rule 1.01
Friday, March 15, 2019 12:45:57 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Tom

Last Name

Gray

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

08329400

Feedback
Subject

proposed changes to Rule 1.01

Comments
I am sure that you have considered that the uncertainties wrought by an unnecessary change can
have unintended consequences. That is what I fear here. There are intense pressures being applied
for lawyers to do more pro bono services, including providing limited scope representation. I fear
that this change will have a chilling effect on lawyers efforts to expand the scope of their assistance.
I also see where an attorney might elect to not take on matters where the level of representation is
geared to what the client can afford. If I have to demonstrate that I have rendered the same level of
"legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation" regardless of the level of payment, then I
simply avoid representing anyone that cannot pay for full services. Moreover, I fail to see what the
change adds to what is already required. How is (b) fundamentally different that what is now (b)(1)
(which becomes (d)(1). It seems to simply restate it as a positive. Maybe it changes the burden of
persuasion in a disciplinary action? And the new (b) seems to be inconsistent with the new (d)(2),
previously (b)(2). The old provision allowed for some forgivable sins, but the new provision seems to
impose absolute liability. Is that type of internal conflict within the code really helpful to the public or
the profession? I am sure that if I was privy to all the committees discussion about the need for this
modification I would understand it better but I am looking at it from trying to apply it without that
insight and knowledge, as would any attorney in practice. In summary, I do not see the need for the
change, I do not see what it is supposed to accomplish, and I fear that it will have the unintended
consequence of driving attorneys away from preforming marginal or pro bono services. Respectfully,
Tom Gray
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed change to DR 1.01
Monday, April 01, 2019 10:52:49 AM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Robert

Last Name

Kisselburgh

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

11538750

Feedback
Subject

Proposed change to DR 1.01

Comments
I believe the proposed changes are unnecessary. The current 1.01a and 1.01b cover competence in
handling a matter and not neglecting a case. The proposed changes do nothing other than adding
vagueness to attorneys practicing law. The legal practice is not a cookie-cutter operation where
every case can be handled the same and if a lawyer is really neglecting a case and not pursuing it on
his/her client's behalf, DR 1.01b addresses that issue.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Rule 1.01
Monday, April 01, 2019 11:03:25 AM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

James

Last Name

Nickell

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

15012800

Feedback
Subject

Rule 1.01

Comments
The proposed changes do nothing other than establish a couple of subjective standards with which
second guess an attorney's efforts on behalf of his/her client.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Comments on 6.05 & 1.01
Monday, April 01, 2019 11:16:03 AM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Richard

Last Name

Stucky

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24041986

Feedback
Subject

Comments on 6.05 & 1.01

Comments
I think the change to 6.05 is overbroad. I understand the intent, but a conflict is a conflict. The way I
read the proposed change is that it takes the client out of the conflict decision making, and lawyers
are making the decision for them. Change to 1.01 - I believe the change is too vague and
unnecessary. "competent" and acting with "reasonable diligence and promptness" is
vague/overbroad and not defined.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed Rule 1.01
Monday, April 01, 2019 1:19:47 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Arnold

Last Name

Hayden

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24065390

Feedback
Subject

Proposed Rule 1.01

Comments
Changes to Rule 1.01 will wreck havoc on criminal defense attorneys, giving grounds for a grievance
for every frivolous ineffectiveness of counsel claim faced, but without the protection of a harmless
error rule. Rule 1.01(b) essentially moves the standard from "neglect" to "reasonable diligence"
without defining the standard of reasonableness being used. Rule 1.01(a) gets rid of the intent
element of Rule 1.01(c), creating a strict liability situation on what is required to be competent
without taking into consideration circumstances which are not known or situations where your client
is not being forthright. Any mistake or strategic decision will now be subject to a grievance, without
any consideration as to whether the grieved behavior would have changed the outcome of the case.
If this rule were to pass, the cost of indigent defense in the state of Texas will skyrocket.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed addition to Rule 1.01
Tuesday, April 02, 2019 1:12:40 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Dana

Last Name

Timaeus

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

20039900

Feedback
Subject

Proposed addition to Rule 1.01

Comments
When I started practicing law, the wisdom of the profession required that lawyers know how to
handle their clients' cases or associate additional or other counsel with requisite skill and knowledge
or pledge to work and learn the law, facts and skills necessary to do the job acceptably. No lawyer
passes the bar and has an immediate stock of adequate skill and knowledge. No lawyer gets a full
explanation of a potential client's situation from the first conversation. Even if you add comments
that soften the harshness of your proposed language, the plain language of the proposed rule will be
used as a weapon against lawyers who lose contested matters and almost every contested matter
has a high probability of producing a losing party. Please be careful, also, with any wording that
discourages lawyers from taking on difficult, novel, and charity cases. It appears that you want to
create an easier burden for clients that complain about the representation that they receive and an
easier standard by which to prove misconduct. Your proposed language goes deeper and creates
unnecessary risks for new lawyers and any lawyer who has to research the law applicable to the
client's situation.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed Amendment to TDRPC 1.01
Friday, April 05, 2019 5:39:14 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Frederick

Last Name

Moss

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

14583400

Feedback
Subject

Proposed Amendment to TDRPC 1.01

Comments
Adding ABA Rule 1.1 and 1.3 verbatim on top of current 1.01 language is harmless and puts our rule,
arguably, in line with the ABA, which is good. However, the main objection from the opponents of
change (i.e., most lawyers), will be "If it ain't broke, don't fix it" refrain. What is the need to fix
current Rule 1.01?? The ABA language renders most of the current rule's language surplusage. The
current language adds nothing. I would delete all of the language of the current rule, especially the
"frequently fails" subsection which is a huge loophole for lawyers. But, perhaps keeping the current
language will encourage voting for it at the referendum.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed Change to Rule 1.01 Competent and Diligent Representation
Thursday, April 18, 2019 6:23:28 AM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

DEBRA

Last Name

EDMONDSON

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24045824

Feedback
Subject

Proposed Change to Rule 1.01 Competent and Diligent Representation

Comments
I am concerned about adding the phrase "A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and
promptness. The phrase "and promptness" is vague but implies that "something better get done
quickly." How quickly is left to the interpretation of the reader/examiner. While a lawyer should
always act with diligence, every case is different. Promptness adds a new layer to the equation and
one that is likely to cause real problems for the attorney. How prompt is prompt ? If I call the
opposing counsel and they don't immediately call me back, am i obligated to call them every day
until I get a response? What about the non-responsive client who suddenly gets you the information
that you have been asking about for a month and now there are other deadlines looming that did not
exist but that client (since he got you the information ) now wants instant results? Diligence implies
all the right things that a lawyer needs to do in representing his/her client and addressing their
issues. Promptness is already implied in "diligence" and adding the phrase "with promptness" is
unnecessary and sets up other potential issues that given the many variances in every situation, an
attorney should not have to deal with.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Changes to Disciplinary Rule 1.01
Friday, April 26, 2019 11:06:48 AM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Larry

Last Name

Gollaher

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

08110000

Feedback
Subject

Changes to Disciplinary Rule 1.01

Comments
Please note me as being in favor of the proposed change.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Opposition to the proposed changes to TDRPC 1.01
Wednesday, May 1, 2019 11:35:59 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Rich

Last Name

Robins

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

00789589

Feedback
Subject

Opposition to the proposed changes to TDRPC 1.01

Comments
The proposed changes to TDRPC 1.01 (Competent & Diligent Representation) warrant our
OPPOSITION. They are disconcertingly subject to interpretation in ways that would hinder the
practice of law for bar members, and make it tougher for laypersons to find lawyers who would be
willing to try to achieve such folks' worthwhile yet challenging goals. The risks for lawyers
increasingly outweigh the reward if these rules are adopted. After all, the proposed rules changes are
ALSO alarmingly empowering to anyone at the Texas Bar who either does not want to learn what the
relevant legal nuances are in a particular area of the law before rushing to judgment, or who
predatorily chooses to ignore such nuances out of a desire to pursue "intimidation lawsuits" against
bar members who happen to be critics of the Bar's improprieties. Might you remember how former
membership director (and Texas Supreme Court clerk) Kathy Holder embezzled over half a million
dollars of our Bar dues for nearly a decade before someone finally turned her in? The Bar was not at
all eager to let this be known during the recent Sunset Review process at the state legislature. Notice
how its submitted documents to the Commission did not mention her embezzlement, etc.? The Texas
Bar didn't even notify the membership of the Sunset Review Commission's public hearing before it
actually happened, either. Such scandals are just the tip of the iceberg. Where does the Bar's annual
$54 million dollar budget actually go? Don't ask or probe, unless you want some antagonistic former
client to potentially become unduly empowered by the Bar later to use the ethics rules as a weapon
against you (while the Bar clique delights in seeing you squirm and being distracted from further
policing the Bar). The proposed rule changes to 1.01 empower malicious "disciplinarians" at the Bar
to conveniently claim that the accused attorney member somehow didn't comply with whatever that
disciplinary official claims is sufficiently competent & sufficiently diligent in the practice of law. These
matters are for the courts' finders of fact to decide, so that perjury rules finally apply against the
accusers along with anti-SLAPP / Texas Citizens Participations Act protections (that the Texas Bar
seeks to evade, revealingly enough) against frivolous legal actions. The Texas Bar does not offer
redress for members falsely accused or clumsily dealt with by corrupted bar officials seeking to make
(highly lucrative) work for themselves and to silence critics of how the Texas Bar spends its lofty
revenues. There are several reasons to distrust the Texas Bar due to its various conflicts of interest
and lack of adequate checks & balances existing for the benefit of (compulsory) members. They are
documented in part at http://www.TexasBarSunset.com . Why don't more of us raise such issues?
Because we have let the Texas Bar become too powerful, making too many of us look like cowards.
If we want self-rule instead of further bureaucratic self-enrichment at society's expense, we would
do well to oppose the proposed rule changes to TDRPC 1.01 and let the courts decide based on
malpractice, contract, fiduciary and deceptive trade practices act legal principles (etc.).
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Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
Transcript of April 18, 2019, Public Hearing
Proposed Rule 1.01. Competent and Diligent Representation
Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct
The following is a transcript of the public hearing on proposed Rule 1.01, Texas Disciplinary Rules of
Professional Conduct, held by the Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda (CDRR) on April 18,
2019, at the Texas Law Center. Video of the full CDRR meeting, including public hearings, is available at
texasbar.com/cdrr.

Lewis Kinard:

01:16

Thanks for coming. Uh, we do have a hearing process so, uh, if
you haven't signed up to speak, there are blue cards in the back,
I would like you to do that and turn them into Brad over here.
Brad Johnson, our staff counsel support. We put a three minute
timer on you. If you get a yellow light that means you have
about 60 seconds to wrap up. The Committee can- will um, if we
need to maybe keep you there a little longer asking questions
for clarification, so, um, you are not automatically off the hook
at three minutes.

Lewis Kinard:

01:48

Uh, today the first public hearing is on proposed Rule 1.01,
competent diligent representation. It was published in the, uh,
Texas Register and Bar Journal. And, uh, has anyone signed up
for that topic?

Brad Johnson:

02:07

I don't believe that anyone has, um, Madeleine, were you
planning to speak on 6.05, or on what?

Madeleine Connor:

02:13

I've never ... On the ... On the conflicts. The six-

Lewis Kinard:

02:16

[crosstalk 00:02:16] Yeah, 6.05.

Brad Johnson:

02:17

Then unless anyone here plans to sign up for 1.01, we haven't,
we don't have any blue cards yet, so is there anyone that does
want to speak on that?

Lewis Kinard:

02:29

Alright, public comments are still open for a while. I don't
remember the cut off on that one.

Brad Johnson:

02:33

Uh, May 1st, would be-

Lewis Kinard:

02:34

May 1st. So online, um, options at, uh, texasbar.com/cdrr you
can find the opportunity t- to participate, uh, link there. Uh, and
so we will move into the, the other, uh, open public hearing on

CDRR Public Hearing – April 18, 2019
Proposed Rule 1.01, Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct
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proposed Rule 6.05 conflict of interest exceptions for non-profit
and limited pro bono legal services.
Lewis Kinard:

02:59

Uh, and just really quickly before, uh, we call our first speaker
on that, I definitely want to thank everybody who has been
helpful in, uh, encouraging public participation, from from the
Bar and the public. This is something that is important. The
Committee considers all of the comments. Uh, the staff keeps
us pretty well papered with them, so we, we get to read
through them all, uh, and they do matter. Uh, we'll will talk a
little bit more later on, on a specific example on how the
comments have mattered a lot, so um, please keep encouraging
your friends and family and neighbors, and all the other people
who follow the Bar activities very closely, uh, to participate and
weigh in, uh, and comment so that we understand kind of
where the sentiments are and concerns, and making sure we
haven't missed something.

CDRR Public Hearing – April 18, 2019
Proposed Rule 1.01, Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct
61

Page 2 of 2

American Bar Association
Model Rules of Professional Conduct (2019)
Rule 1.1: Competence
A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client. Competent representation
requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for
the representation.
(Comment omitted)

Rule 1.3: Diligence
A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client.
(Comment omitted)
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LEWIS KINARD, CHAIR
TIMOTHY D. BELTON
AMY BRESNEN
CLAUDE DUCLOUX
HON. DENNISE GARCIA

RICK HAGEN
DEAN VINCENT JOHNSON
CARL JORDAN
KAREN NICHOLSON

October 16, 2019
Mr. Jerry C. Alexander, Chair
State Bar of Texas Board of Directors
Passman & Jones

RE:

Submission of Proposed Rule Recommendation – Rule 6.05, Texas Disciplinary
Rules of Professional Conduct

Dear Mr. Alexander:
Pursuant to section 81.0875 of the Texas Government Code, the Committee on
Disciplinary Rules and Referenda initiated the rule proposal process for proposed Rule 6.05
(Conflict of Interest Exceptions for Nonprofit and Limited Pro Bono Legal Services) of the Texas
Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct. The Committee published the proposed rule in the
Texas Bar Journal and the Texas Register. The Committee solicited and considered public
comments and held two public hearings on the proposed rule. At its July 2019 meeting, the
Committee voted to recommend the proposed rule to the Board of Directors.
Included in this submission packet, you will find the proposed rule, proposed comments to
the proposed rule, and other supporting materials. Section 81.0877 of the Government Code
provides that the Board of Directors is to vote on each proposed disciplinary rule recommended
by the Committee not later than the 120th day after the date the rule is received from the
Committee. The Board can vote for or against a proposed rule or return a proposed rule to the
Committee for additional consideration.
As a reminder, if a majority of the Board of Directors approves a proposed rule, the Board
shall petition the Supreme Court of Texas to order a referendum on the proposed rule as provided
by section 81.0878 of the Government Code.
As you know, the Board voted at its April 2019 meeting to approve rule change proposals
recommended by the Committee pertaining to confidentiality of information and clients with
diminished capacity, and to hold the proposals for submission to the Supreme Court at a later date
with other rule proposals as deemed appropriate by the Board.
Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
P.O. Box 12487, Austin, TX 78711
cdrr@texasbar.com

1

www.texasbar.com/cdrr

Thank you for your attention to this matter. Should the Board require any other
information, please do not hesitate to contact me. Please confirm receipt of this report at your
earliest convenience.
Sincerely,

Lewis Kinard
Chair, Committee on Disciplinary Rules and
Referenda
cc:

Randall O. Sorrels
Trey Apffel
Larry P. McDougal
Joe K. Longley
Ross Fischer
John Sirman
Seana Willing
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Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
Overview of Proposed Rule
Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct
Rule 6.05. Conflict of Interest Exceptions for Nonprofit
And Limited Pro Bono Legal Services
Provided here is a summary of the actions and rationale of the Committee on Disciplinary
Rules and Referenda (Committee) related to proposed Rule 6.05, Texas Disciplinary Rules of
Professional Conduct (TDRPC).
Previous Actions by the Committee
•
•
•

•

•
•

Initiation – The Committee voted to initiate the rule proposal process at its February 6,
2019, meeting.
Publication – The proposed rule was published in the April 2019 issue of the Texas Bar
Journal and the March 29, 2019, issue of the Texas Register. The proposed rule was
concurrently posted on the Committee’s website.
Additional Outreach – On April 1, 2019, an email notification regarding the proposed
rule was sent to all Texas lawyers (other than those who have voluntarily opted out of
receiving email notices), Committee email subscribers, and other potentially interested
parties. On May 24, 2019, an additional email concerning the proposed rule was sent to all
Texas lawyers (other than those who have voluntarily opted out of receiving email notices)
and Committee email subscribers. Additional notifications regarding the proposed rule
were emailed to Committee subscribers on March 21, April 15, April 26, June 4, and June
25, 2019.
Public Comments – The Committee extended the public comment period to three months
(through July 1, 2019). The Committee received 11 written public comments and two
individuals provided comments at a public hearing. Additionally, the Executive Director
of the Texas Access to Justice Commission spoke in support of the proposed rule at the
Committee’s January 9, 2019, meeting.
Public Hearing – The Committee held public hearings on the proposed rule on April 18,
2019, and June 6, 2019, at the Texas Law Center.
Recommendation – The Committee voted at its July 23, 2019, meeting to recommend the
proposed rule to the Board of Directors.

Overview and Rationale
In December 2014, the State Bar of Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct
Committee (DRPCC), a predecessor to this Committee, recommended adoption of proposed Rule
6.05, TDRPC, which is intended to facilitate the provision of limited pro bono legal services by
providing narrow exceptions to certain conflict of interest rules. The 2014 recommendation
replaced a similar recommendation in 2010 by DRPCC. Subsequently, in response to concerns
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expressed by members of the State Bar Board of Directors Discipline and Client Attorney
Assistance Committee (DCAAP) at the time, DRPCC amended its then-proposed comments to the
proposed rule. In May 2016, DRPCC issued a supplemental report 1 recommending adoption of the
rule.
Carrying forward DRPCC’s objective of improving the Disciplinary Rules to better
facilitate the provision of limited pro bono legal services to those in need, this Committee
recommends adoption of proposed Rule 6.05. While the proposed rule is the same as that
recommended by DRPCC in 2014 and 2016, the Committee has made additional changes to the
proposed comments in an attempt to more fully explain the purpose and limitations of the proposed
rule.
Proposed Rule 6.05 is generally based on Rule 6.5 of the American Bar Association (ABA)
Model Rules of Professional Conduct, which was adopted in 2002 in response to concerns that
application of conflict of interest rules may deter lawyers from providing pro bono legal services. 2
With the exception of Texas and Kansas, every other state, as well as the District of Columbia, has
either adopted Model Rule 6.5 or a variation of Model Rule 6.5.
As noted in Comment 1 to Model Rule 6.5, short-term limited legal service programs are
“normally operated under circumstances in which it is not feasible for a lawyer to systematically
screen for conflicts of interest as is generally required before undertaking a representation.”
To facilitate the provision of free legal services to the public, proposed Rule 6.05 would
create narrow exceptions to certain conflict of interest rules for limited pro bono legal services.
These exceptions are justified because the limited and short-term nature of the legal services
rendered in such programs reduces the risk that conflicts of interest will arise between clients
represented through the program and other clients of the lawyer or the lawyer’s firm. Other than
the limited exceptions set forth in the proposed rule, a lawyer would remain subject to all
applicable conflict of interest rules.
Paragraph (a)
The conflict of interest provisions of Rules 1.06, 1.07, and 1.09, TDRPC, are broad and are
generally imputed to all other lawyers in a firm. Therefore, a lawyer is effectively required to
perform a thorough conflict screening before engaging in a lawyer-client relationship. Because the
type of limited pro bono legal services addressed by the proposed rule are often performed in the
field (such as at natural disaster sites or weekend legal clinics), a lawyer participating in such a
program may often be unable to perform a proper conflict check. Under paragraph (a) of proposed
1

The May 25, 2016, DRPCC Supplemental Report is attached under the tab “Prior Committee Reports.” That report
includes DRPCC’s December 12, 2014, report recommending adoption of the rule, as well as a 2010 report by DRPCC
regarding a prior variation of the proposal. Neither proposal was included as part of the 2011 referendum on proposed
amendments to the TDRPC.
2

See Rachel Brill & Rochelle Sparko, Limited Legal Services and Conflicts of Interest: Unbundling in the Public
Interest, 16 Geo. J. Legal Ethics 553 (2003).
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Rule 6.05, a lawyer would only be prohibited by Rules 1.06, 1.07, and 1.09 from providing limited
pro bono legal services if the lawyer actually knows of a prohibitive conflict at the time of the
representation. If a lawyer is aware of such a conflict, the lawyer would remain prohibited from
such representation.
Paragraph (b)
Paragraph (b) of proposed Rule 6.05 addresses the imputation of conflicts through a lawyer
providing limited pro bono legal services. It provides that certain conflicts will not be imputed to
other lawyers in a firm with the volunteer lawyer so long as the volunteer lawyer takes proper steps
to protect the confidential information from access by the other lawyers in the firm. The volunteer
lawyer, however, would remain subject to those conflict rules as to the representation of other
clients. Paragraph (b) is designed to be stricter than Model Rule 6.5, which by contrast does not
impose such safeguarding requirements in order to avoid the imputation of conflicts.
Paragraph (c)
Paragraph (c) of proposed Rule 6.05 goes beyond the scope of Model Rule 6.5 and
addresses the possession of applicant eligibility information by limited pro bono legal service
programs. The provision provides a limited exception to conflict provisions contained in Rules
1.06, 1.07, and 1.09 that apply when an applicant provides such information but no legal services
are provided. The exception is designed to avoid the mere possession of eligibility information by
the legal services organization from being used to disqualify legal services staff and pro bono
lawyers from representing other clients. As described in the 2014 DRPCC Report, “disingenuous
parties too often apply for legal aid knowing they are ineligible solely to prevent their adversaries
from accessing free legal services from the organization.” 3
The exception in paragraph (c) would only be available in two situations. The first is where
none of the eligibility information is material to an issue in the legal matter. The second is where
the applicant’s provision of eligibility information was conditioned on the applicant’s informed
consent that providing this information would not by itself prohibit a representation of another
client adverse to the applicant.
Paragraph (d)
Paragraph (d) of proposed Rule 6.05 carefully defines “limited pro bono legal services” so
as to appropriately limit the volunteer services that qualify for the narrow conflict exceptions
contained in the proposed rule. To qualify, the legal services must be provided through a pro bono
or assisted pro se program sponsored by a court, bar association, accredited law school, or
nonprofit legal services program. The services must also be short-term and provided without any
expectation of extended representation or of receiving legal fees. The strict definition is designed
to ensure that the pro bono services offered are so limited in time and scope that there is little risk
that conflicts will arise between clients represented through the program and other clients of the
lawyer or the lawyer’s firm.
3

December 12, 2014, DRPCC Report, Page 4 (attached under the tab “Prior Committee Reports”).
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Paragraph (e)
Paragraph (e) of proposed Rule 6.05 is intended to clarify that lawyers are not deemed to be part
of the same firm simply because they volunteer through the same pro bono program.
Public Comments
The Committee received a variety of comments related to the proposed rule. Several
comments expressed clear support for the proposed rule, while others opposed its adoption.
Of the comments supporting the proposed rule, some discussed the significant need for pro
bono legal services for underserved communities and those who cannot afford to pay for legal
services. While supporting the proposed rule, one comment suggested expanding the proposal to
specifically address pro bono legal services to indigent persons involved in international
proceedings. Another comment supporting the proposal expressed concerns that paragraph (c) of
the proposed rule could lead to confusion since it is not part of the corresponding ABA Model
Rule. While still favoring adoption of the proposal, the author of that comment also discussed the
possibility that the proposed law firm of the pro bono lawyer could represent a client against the
pro bono client; however, the author noted the chances this could happen are de minimis and the
ABA and other states with similar rules did not consider this a serious risk. Further, as previously
discussed, proposed paragraph (b) provides that a conflict would continue to be imputed to other
lawyers in the pro bono lawyer’s firm if the pro bono lawyer either (1) discloses confidential
information of the pro bono client to lawyers in the firm, or (2) maintains such information in a
manner that would render it accessible to lawyers in the firm.
Of the comments opposing the proposal, some described the proposed rule as overbroad or
expressed concerns about the protection of confidential information. Two comments expressed
concerns that it would be very difficult for a person to either prove or disprove an alleged violation
under the proposed rule. One of those comments also discussed concerns about possible
exploitation of the proposed rule by lawyers employed by nonprofit entities. Some comments
generally expressed the idea that pro bono representations should remain subject to all applicable
conflict rules.
One comment suggested expanding the definition of “limited pro bono legal services” in
proposed paragraph (d) to extend to community service programs.
The Committee carefully considered all of the public comments. While recognizing the
concerns expressed in some of the comments, the Committee believes the proposed rule takes
appropriate steps to limit the possibility that a conflict will arise through a pro bono representation
and to ensure that confidential information is not impermissibly disclosed or utilized. The
Committee believes the narrow exceptions contained in the proposed rule are justified given the
short-term and limited nature of the pro bono services described by the proposal. The Committee
also believes the proposed rule appropriately defines the type of limited pro bono legal services
covered.
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Additional Documents
Included on the pages that follow are the proposed rule, proposed comments to the
proposed rule, public comments received, the corresponding ABA Model Rule, and previous
reports from DRPCC recommending the proposed rule.
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Committee on Disciplinary Rules and
Referenda Proposed Rule Changes
Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct
Rule 6.05. Conflict of Interest Exceptions for Nonprofit
and Limited Pro Bono Legal Services
Proposed Rule (Redline Version)
Rule 6.05. Conflict of Interest Exceptions for Nonprofit and Limited Pro Bono Legal
Services
(a) The conflicts of interest limitations on representation in Rules 1.06, 1.07, and 1.09 do not
prohibit a lawyer from providing, or offering to provide, limited pro bono legal services unless
the lawyer knows, at the time the services are provided, that the lawyer would be prohibited by
those limitations from providing the services.
(b) Lawyers in a firm with a lawyer providing, or offering to provide, limited pro bono legal
services shall not be prohibited by the imputation provisions of Rules 1.06, 1.07, and 1.09 from
representing a client if that lawyer does not:
(1) disclose confidential information of the pro bono client to the lawyers in the firm; or
(2) maintain such information in a manner that would render it accessible to the lawyers
in the firm.
(c) The eligibility information that an applicant is required to provide when applying for free
legal services or limited pro bono legal services from a program described in subparagraph (d)(1)
by itself will not create a conflict of interest if:
(1) the eligibility information is not material to the legal matter; or
(2) the applicant’s provision of the eligibility information was conditioned on the
applicant’s informed consent that providing this information would not by itself prohibit
a representation of another client adverse to the applicant.
(d) As used in this Rule, “limited pro bono legal services” means legal services that are:
(1) provided through a pro bono or assisted pro se program sponsored by a court, bar
association, accredited law school, or nonprofit legal services program;
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(2) short-term services such as legal advice or other brief assistance with pro se
documents or transactions, provided either in person or by phone, hotline, internet, or
video conferencing; and
(3) provided without any expectation of extended representation of the limited assistance
client or of receiving any legal fees in that matter.
(e) As used in this Rule, a lawyer is not “in a firm” with other lawyers solely because the lawyer
provides limited pro bono legal services with the other lawyers.

Proposed Rule (Clean Version)
Rule 6.05. Conflict of Interest Exceptions for Nonprofit and Limited Pro Bono Legal
Services
(a) The conflicts of interest limitations on representation in Rules 1.06, 1.07, and 1.09 do not
prohibit a lawyer from providing, or offering to provide, limited pro bono legal services unless
the lawyer knows, at the time the services are provided, that the lawyer would be prohibited by
those limitations from providing the services.
(b) Lawyers in a firm with a lawyer providing, or offering to provide, limited pro bono legal
services shall not be prohibited by the imputation provisions of Rules 1.06, 1.07, and 1.09 from
representing a client if that lawyer does not:
(1) disclose confidential information of the pro bono client to the lawyers in the firm; or
(2) maintain such information in a manner that would render it accessible to the lawyers
in the firm.
(c) The eligibility information that an applicant is required to provide when applying for free
legal services or limited pro bono legal services from a program described in subparagraph (d)(1)
by itself will not create a conflict of interest if:
(1) the eligibility information is not material to the legal matter; or
(2) the applicant’s provision of the eligibility information was conditioned on the
applicant’s informed consent that providing this information would not by itself prohibit
a representation of another client adverse to the applicant.
(d) As used in this Rule, “limited pro bono legal services” means legal services that are:
(1) provided through a pro bono or assisted pro se program sponsored by a court, bar
association, accredited law school, or nonprofit legal services program;
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(2) short-term services such as legal advice or other brief assistance with pro se
documents or transactions, provided either in person or by phone, hotline, internet, or
video conferencing; and
(3) provided without any expectation of extended representation of the limited assistance
client or of receiving any legal fees in that matter.
(e) As used in this Rule, a lawyer is not “in a firm” with other lawyers solely because the lawyer
provides limited pro bono legal services with the other lawyers.
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Proposed Comments to Proposed Rule 6.05
Conflict of Interest Exceptions for Nonprofit and Limited Pro Bono Legal Services
Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct
1. Nonprofit legal services organizations, courts, law schools, and bar associations have
programs through which lawyers provide short-term limited legal services typically to help lowincome persons address their legal problems without further representation by the lawyers. In
these programs, such as legal-advice hotlines, advice-only clinics, disaster legal services, or
programs providing guidance to self-represented litigants, a client-lawyer relationship is
established, but there is no expectation that the relationship will continue beyond the limited
consultation and there is no expectation that the lawyer will receive any compensation from the
client for the services. These programs are normally operated under circumstances in which it is
not feasible for a lawyer to check for conflicts of interest as is normally required before
undertaking a representation.
2. Application of the conflict of interest rules has deterred lawyers from participating in these
programs, preventing persons of limited means from obtaining much needed legal services. To
facilitate the provision of free legal services to the public, this Rule creates narrow exceptions to
the conflict of interest rules for limited pro bono legal services. These exceptions are justified
because the limited and short-term nature of the legal services rendered in such programs reduces
the risk that conflicts of interest will arise between clients represented through the program and
other clients of the lawyer or the lawyer’s firm. Other than the limited exceptions set forth in
this Rule, a lawyer remains subject to all applicable conflict of interest rules.
Scope of Representation
3. A lawyer who provides services pursuant to this Rule should secure the client's consent to the
limited scope of the representation after explaining to the client what that means in the particular
circumstance. See Rule 1.02(b). If a short-term limited representation would not be fully
sufficient under the circumstances, the lawyer may offer advice to the client but should also
advise the client of the need for further assistance of counsel. See Rule 1.03(b).
Conflicts and the Lawyer Providing Limited Pro Bono Legal Services
4. Paragraph (a) exempts compliance with Rules 1.06, 1.07, and 1.09 for a lawyer providing
limited pro bono legal services unless the lawyer actually knows that the representation presents
a conflict of interest for the lawyer or for another lawyer in the lawyer's firm. A lawyer
providing limited pro bono legal services is not obligated to perform a conflicts check before
undertaking the limited representation. If, after commencing a representation in accordance with
this Rule, a lawyer undertakes to represent the client in the matter on an ongoing basis or the
lawyer charges a fee for the legal assistance, the exceptions provided by this Rule no longer
apply.
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Imputation of Conflicts
5. Paragraph (b) provides that a conflict of interest arising from a lawyer’s representation
covered by this Rule will not be imputed to the lawyers in the pro bono lawyer’s firm if the pro
bono lawyer complies with subparagraphs (b)(1) and (2).
6. To prevent a conflict of interest arising from limited pro bono legal services from being
imputed to the other lawyers in the firm, subparagraph (b)(1) requires that the pro bono lawyer
not disclose to any lawyer in the firm any confidential information related to the pro bono
representation.
7. Subparagraph (b)(2) covers the retention of documents or other memorialization of
confidential information, such as the pro bono lawyer’s notes, whether in paper or electronic
form. To prevent imputation, a pro bono lawyer who retains confidential information is required
by subparagraph (b)(2) to segregate and store it in such a way that no other lawyer in the pro
bono lawyer’s firm can access it, either physically or electronically.
Eligibility Information
8. Paragraph (c) recognizes the unusual and uniquely sensitive personal information that
applicants for free legal assistance may be required to provide. Organizations that receive
funding to provide free legal assistance to low-income clients are generally required, as a
condition of their funding, to screen the applicants for eligibility and to document eligibility for
services paid for by those funding sources. Unlike other lawyers, law firms, and legal
departments, these organizations ask for confidential information to determine an applicant’s
eligibility for free legal assistance and are required to maintain records of such eligibility
determinations for potential audit by their funding sources. Required eligibility information
typically includes income, asset values, marital status, citizenship or immigration status, and
other facts the applicant may consider sensitive. Paragraph (c) provides a limited exception to
the conflict of interest provisions contained in Rules 1.06, 1.07, and 1.09 that apply when an
applicant provides such information but no legal services are provided. This exception is
available only in the two situations described in subparagraphs (c)(1) and (c)(2).
9. The first situation where the paragraph (c) exception is available is where none of the
eligibility information is material to an issue in the legal matter. Alternatively, under
subparagraph (c)(2), if the applicant provided confidential information after giving informed
consent that the eligibility information would not prohibit the persons or entities identified in the
consent from representing any other present or future client, then the eligibility information alone
will not prohibit the representation. The lawyer should document the receipt of such informed
consent, though a formal writing is not required. What constitutes informed consent is discussed
in the comments to Rule 1.06.
10. Rule 1.05 continues to apply to the use or disclosure of all confidential information provided
during an intake interview. Similarly, Rule 1.09 continues to apply to the representation of a
person in a matter adverse to the applicant. Notably, Rule 1.05(c)(2) permits a lawyer to use or
disclose information provided during an intake interview if the applicant consents after
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consultation to such use or disclosure, and Rule 1.09(a) excludes from its restrictions the
representation of a person adverse to the applicant in the same or a substantially related matter if
the applicant consents to such a representation.
Limited Pro Bono Legal Service Programs
11. This Rule applies only to services offered through a program that meets one of the
descriptions in subparagraph (d)(1), regardless of the nature and amount of support provided.
Some programs may be jointly sponsored by more than one of the listed sponsor types.
12. The second element of “limited pro bono legal services,” set forth in subparagraph (d)(2), is
designed to ensure that the services offered are so limited in time and scope that there is little risk
that conflicts will arise between clients represented through the program and other clients of the
lawyer or the lawyer’s firm.
13. The third element of the definition, set forth in subparagraph (d)(3), is that the services are
offered and provided without any expectation of either extended representation or the collection
of legal fees in the matter. Before agreeing to proceed in the representation beyond “limited pro
bono legal services,” the lawyer should evaluate the potential conflicts of interest that may arise
from the representation as with any other representation. Likewise, the exceptions in paragraphs
(a) and (b) do not apply if the lawyer expects to collect any legal fees in the limited assistance
matter.
Firm
14. Lawyers are not deemed to be part of the same firm simply because they volunteer through
the same pro bono program. Nor will the personal prohibition of a lawyer participating in a pro
bono program be imputed to other lawyers participating in the program solely by reason of that
volunteer connection.
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Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct
Rule 6.05. Conflict of Interest Exceptions for Nonprofit and
Limited Pro Bono Legal Services

Public Comments Received
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Comments on Rule 6.05
Monday, April 01, 2019 11:01:23 AM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Curtis

Last Name

Doebbler

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24105187

Feedback
Subject

Comments on Rule 6.05

Comments
There is a significant need for legal services to be provided to those who cannot afford to pay for
legal services. Moreover, it is the duty of every lawyer, if they are able, to contribute to the
representation of individuals who cannot afford to pay for legal services. In this regard, any effort
that is made to facilitate the rendering of legal services pro bono publica must be welcomed. The
proposed Rule 6.05 of the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct on “Conflict of Interest
Exceptions for Nonprofit and Limited Pro Bono Legal Services” eases the conflicts restrictions placed
on lawyers acting pro bono publica. The rule should therefore be welcomed. While still requiring
respect for the confidentiality of client information, proposed Rule 6.05 makes it less burdensome for
lawyers to become involved in pro bono legal services. It is hoped that Rule 6.05 might also add a
paragraph on the pro bono legal services to indigent persons involved in international litigation who
have been injured by actions that constitute, or, are alleged to constitute, violations of international
law, especially international human rights law. A proposed addition to the Proposed Rule 6.05 might
read in a new paragraph (b)(3) as follows (repeating paragraphs 1 and 2 and adding a new
paragraph 3): (1) disclose confidential information of the pro bono client to the lawyers in the firm;
or (2) maintain such information in a manner that would render it accessible to the lawyers in the
firm; and, (3) when a lawyer abides by paragraphs (1) and (2) and is rendering services before an
international court, tribunal, commission, committee, or any other entity with the authority to decide
matters relating to an individual’s or group of individuals’ rights under international law this Rule shall
also be applicable. Such an addition would clarify that pro bono services may be rendered in cases
involving individuals or groups in international proceedings. It would also clarify that in such cases
the same more relaxed rules of conflicts apply to the provision of legal services in international
forums.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Comments on 6.05 & 1.01
Monday, April 01, 2019 11:16:03 AM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Richard

Last Name

Stucky

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24041986

Feedback
Subject

Comments on 6.05 & 1.01

Comments
I think the change to 6.05 is overbroad. I understand the intent, but a conflict is a conflict. The way I
read the proposed change is that it takes the client out of the conflict decision making, and lawyers
are making the decision for them. Change to 1.01 - I believe the change is too vague and
unnecessary. "competent" and acting with "reasonable diligence and promptness" is
vague/overbroad and not defined.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: New Disciplinary Rules
Monday, April 01, 2019 1:28:33 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Gary

Last Name

Warren

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

00785181

Feedback
Subject

New Disciplinary Rules

Comments
The rule sucks, the State Bar sucks even more.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed Rule 6.05
Monday, April 01, 2019 1:54:54 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

James

Last Name

Tirey

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24000501

Feedback
Subject

Proposed Rule 6.05

Comments
Although the idea in expanding an attorney's ability to do pro bono work and provide "limited legal
services" without the specter of creating a conflict that would prevent future paid work by the
attorney is admirable, this proposed rule is misguided. It is highly possible that, in order to
competently provide "limited legal services," the attorney is going to come into the possession of
sensitive, confidential information that could work to the client's prejudice in the event that the
attorney ends up employed adversely to the client's interest. It also encourages sloppy compliance
with the disciplinary rules regarding conflicts. Please do not enact this Rule.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Proposed 6.05 (Conflict of Interest, etc.)
Monday, April 01, 2019 3:28:22 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Lisa

Last Name

Palmer

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

15432350

Feedback
Subject

Proposed 6.05 (Conflict of Interest, etc.)

Comments
The proposed rule says (d) As used in this Rule, “limited pro bono legal services” means legal
services that are: (1) provided through a pro bono or assisted pro se program sponsored by a court,
bar association, accredited law school, or nonprofit legal services program; I suggest that another
exception should be made for community service projects/programs. Some attorneys provide
assistance (for instance to the elderly, veterans, etc.) through organizations that are not connected
to any of the types of organizations mentioned in the proposed rule. Thanks, Lisa McNair Palmer
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Comments on Proposed Disciplinary Rule 6.05
Monday, April 01, 2019 3:35:09 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Don

Last Name

Morehart

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

14423700

Feedback
Subject

Comments on Proposed Disciplinary Rule 6.05

Comments
Even clients receiving pro bono services are entitled to conflict-free representation. the indigent
client should not have to deal with a lawyer from their present or "former" lawyer's firm at some
future time in an adverse environment just because the indigent person couldn't pay for the pro
bono services provided. There is no way that the pro bono lawyer could ever establish by credible
evidence that the "lawyer [did] not: (1) disclose confidential information of the pro bono client to the
lawyers in the firm," and the client / former client will never believe that the Chinese Fire Wall was
truly reliable. This is a stupid rule which will lead to an excuse for unethical conduct and to clients
(former clients) getting abused without recourse.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Comment for Proposed Rule 6.05.
Tuesday, April 02, 2019 12:40:15 AM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

David

Last Name

Coker

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

24045080

Feedback
Subject

Comment for Proposed Rule 6.05.

Comments
Re: Proposed Rule 6.05 (Conflict of Interest Exceptions for Nonprofit and Limited Pro Bono Legal
Services). I believe that special attention should be given to possible exploitation of the "pro bono"
exemption being proposed by attorneys working under the "umbrella" of a not-for-profit entity. I am
primarily concerned by this rule potentially being exploited by attorneys employed by "not for profit"
legal organizations. While the organization itself may be not for profit, this does not prevent the
organization from compensating staff attorneys, as well as providing valuable public relations
exposure from pro bono representation that may result in windfall judgments. Case in point: Certain
"not-for-profit" legal organizations actively seek windfall judgments/settlements, oftentimes by
bringing suits against employers on behalf of employees under the FLSA, with the proceeds being
directed towards special interests, special interest groups, political partisanship, and across the board
increases in staff salaries, end-of-year bonuses, or future job opportunities. So "technically" an
attorney could be found to be in compliance with the Rule because his or her firm is a not-for-profit,
but the attorney knows that any large judgments will be reflected in year end bonuses and potential
salary increases, thus the attorney achieves personal financial gain in the form of salary increase or
EoY bonus payout, while the not-for-profit shows no financial gain on the not-for-profit organization's
balance sheet. In short: Allowing for the exemption to apply to any attorney working under a
perceived "umbrella" of a not-for-profit entity, simply presents too much opportunity for exploitation.
This exploitation is made all the worse given the difficulty in proving a violation, and the nigh
impossible computation of damages that may result from a violation. I apologize in advance for any
grammatical errors or poor verbiage. Thank you for your time and consideration. Dave Coker
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

M.J. "Jack" Borchers
cdrr
RE: Seeking Comments on Proposed Disciplinary Rule 6.05
Tuesday, April 02, 2019 10:12:18 AM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments
Disagree. No comment necessary.
From: State Bar of Texas - CDRR [mailto:cdrr@texasbar.com]
Sent: Monday, April 01, 2019 10:26 AM
To:
Subject: Seeking Comments on Proposed Disciplinary Rule 6.05

Proposed Disciplinary Rule
6.05
Public Comments Sought
Conflict of Interest Exceptions for Nonprofit and Limited Pro
Bono Legal Services
The Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda (CDRR) has published
proposed Rule 6.05 (Conflict of Interest Exceptions for Nonprofit and Limited
Pro Bono Legal Services) in the (April) Texas Bar Journal and the (March 29)
Texas Register. A public hearing on the proposed rule will be held at 10:30 a.m.
on April 18, 2019, at the Texas Law Center in Austin.
The Committee will accept comments concerning proposed Rule 6.05 through
July 1, 2019.
22

The Committee also published proposed changes to Rule 1.01 (Competent and
Diligent Representation) in the (March) Texas Bar Journal and the (March 1)
Texas Register. A public hearing on the proposed rule will be held at 10:30 a.m.
on April 18, 2019, at the Texas Law Center in Austin.
The Committee will accept comments concerning the proposed changes to Rule
1.01 through May 1, 2019.
Comments on each proposed rule can be submitted here.
The CDRR is responsible for overseeing the initial process for proposing a
change or addition to the disciplinary rules (Gov't Code § 81.0873). For more
information, go to texasbar.com/CDRR.
To subscribe to email updates, including notices of public hearings and
published rules for comment, click here.
Sincerely,
Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda

Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
State Bar of Texas | 1414 Colorado | Austin, Texas 78701 | 800.204.2222
Unsubscribe
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April 4, 2019
Proposed Rule (Clean Version)
with suggested edits by Harry Tindall
Rule 6.05. Conflict of Interest Exception for Nonprofit and Limited Pro
Bono Legal Service
(a) In this Rule, a lawyer is not in a firm with another lawyer solely
because the lawyer provides limited pro bono legal services with
another lawyer.
(b) In this Rule, “limited pro bono legal service” means legal service that
is:
(1) provided through a pro bono or assisted pro se program
sponsored by:
(i) an accredited law school;
(ii) a bar association;
(iii) a court; or
(iv) nonprofit legal service program;
(2) short-term service such as legal advice or other brief
assistance with pro se documents or transactions, provided either in
person or by telephone, hotline, internet, or video conferencing; and
(3) provided without any expectation of extended representation
of the limited assistance client or of receiving any legal fees in that
matter.
(c) The conflict of interest limitation on representation in Rules 1.06,
1.07, and 1.09 do not apply to a lawyer providing, or offering to
provide, limited pro bono legal service unless the lawyer knows, at the
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time the service is provided, that the lawyer would be prohibited by the
conflict of interest limitation.
(d) A lawyer in a firm with another lawyer providing, or offering to
provide, limited pro bono legal service is not prohibited by the
imputation provision of Rules 1.06, 1.07, or 1.09 from representing a
client if that lawyer does not:
(1) disclose confidential information of the pro bono client to
another lawyer in the firm; or
(2) maintain such information in a manner that would render it
accessible to another lawyer in the firm.
(e) The eligibility information that an applicant is required to provide
when applying for free legal service or limited pro bono legal service
from a program described in subparagraph (b)(1) is not a conflict of
interest if:
(1) the eligibility information is not material to the legal matter; or
(2) the provision of the eligibility information was conditioned on
the applicant’s informed consent that providing this information would
not prohibit a representation of another client adverse to the applicant.
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From:
To:
Subject:
Date:

cdrr
CDRR Comment: Propose TDRPC 6.05
Monday, April 08, 2019 5:28:03 PM

* State Bar of Texas External Message * - Use Caution Before Responding or Opening
Links/Attachments

Contact
First Name

Frederick

Last Name

Moss

Email
Member

Yes

Barcard

14583400

Feedback
Subject

Propose TDRPC 6.05

Comments
I support the adoption of Rule 6.05 proposed by the CDRR -- with one qualification. The ABA and
most states have such a rule in order to promote increased pro bono work by lawyers, a worthy
cause. The only substantive objection I've heard to this proposal is that it may allow the law firm of
the pro bono lawyer to represent a client against the pro bono client in the same matter on which
the pro bono lawyer advised the pro bono client. The ABA and all the other states did not consider
this a serious risk; the chances that this could happen are de minimus and should not stand in the
way of adoption. My only concern is that subsection (c), which only tangentially deals with pro bono
representation on a one-time basis and has no counterpart in the ABA rules or in any state as far as I
know, might confuse the bar and cause it to be defeated in a referendum. As important as (c) is to
legal services offices, I think serious consideration ought to be given to deleting (c) from the
proposal and adding it as a new subsection in Rule 1.09, where it belongs.
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April 16, 2019
State Bar of Texas
Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
Texas Law Center
1414 Colorado Street
Austin, Texas 78701
CDRR@texasbar.com
Dear Chair and Committee Members:
I am a writing regarding the proposed rule changes regarding Rule 6.05 Conflict
of Interest Exceptions for Nonprofit and Limited Pro Bono Legal Services.
The Austin Bar Association’s Pro Bono Committee considered the proposed
changes during a duly noticed committee meeting on April 15, 2019 and voted
unanimously to support their adoption.
One of the main reasons for convening the Austin Bar Association’s Pro Bono
Committee is that the need for legal services in underserved communities is so
great. Legal aid organizations can only do so much alone, they depend on the
private attorneys that make up the majority of bar association members. Rigid
conflict rules can create a barrier to entry for some private attorneys interested
in rendering pro bono legal services. Proposed Rule 6.05 works to remove one of
those barriers. It is also a model rule that has been adopted nationwide. We are
aware of no reason it would not work well in Texas.
For those reasons, the Austin Bar Association’s Pro Bono Committee
recommends that the Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda approve
the proposed rule change.
Should you have any questions, do not hesitate to call me on my direct line at
.
Sincerely,

Austin Kaplan
Chairperson, Austin Bar Association Pro Bono Committee
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Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda
Transcript of April 18, 2019, Public Hearing
Proposed Rule 1.06. Conflict of Interest Exceptions for Nonprofit
and Limited Pro Bono Legal Services
Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct
The following is a transcript of the public hearing on proposed Rule 6.05, Texas Disciplinary Rules of
Professional Conduct, held by the Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda (CDRR) on April 18,
2019, at the Texas Law Center. Video of the full CDRR meeting, including public hearings, is available at
texasbar.com/cdrr.

Lewis Kinard:

02:59

Uh, and just really quickly before, uh, we call our first speaker
on that, I definitely want to thank everybody who has been
helpful in, uh, encouraging public participation, from from the
Bar and the public. This is something that is important. The
committee considers all of the comments. Uh, the staff keeps us
pretty well papered with them, so we, we get to read through
them all, uh, and they do matter. Uh, we'll will talk a little bit
more later on, on a specific example on how the comments
have mattered a lot, so um, please keep encouraging your
friends and family and neighbors, and all the other people who
follow the Bar activities very closely, uh, to participate and
weigh in, uh, and comment so that we understand kind of
where the sentiments are and concerns, and making sure we
haven't missed something.

Lewis Kinard:

03:50

Okay. Uh, Brad, let's start with, uh, speakers on 6.05.

Brad Johnson:

03:54

Yes sir, we have two that have signed up for Rule 6.05. And if
anyone else does want to, please just bring the blue card over.
Um, first we have Madeleine Connor and she has indicated that
she is speaking on behalf of the Austin Bar Association Pro Bono
Committee.

Lewis Kinard:

04:14

And if you're on the phone, if you don't mind muting your
phone if you can please.

Madeleine Connor:

04:20

Hi. Good morning.

Lewis Kinard:

04:22

[crosstalk 00:04:22] Hi, thank you.

Madeleine Connor:

04:23

Thank you. Um, I just wanted to be here if there were any
questions. Also, uh, um, our chair of our committee at the
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Austin Bar Association Pro Bono Committee, uh, Mr. Austin
Kaplan did submit a letter. Uh, I think Mr. Johnson, yesBrad Johnson:

04:40

Yeah, I remember [crosstalk 00:04:41]

Madeleine Connor:

04:41

... has distributed it, but I do have some copies if anybody else is
interested. Um, we were asked by, uh, some uh, uh, a staff
employee that works, um, here. Uh, to, to ... If we were
interested in commenting on it. We all agreed we were and we
think it would be a good thing, uh, to amend the rules to include
this. Um, the, the vote was unanimous to support the rule
change or the um, the um, the new rule.

Madeleine Connor:

05:12

And um, I did kind of give my own, um, situation when I was ... I
currently work at the Texas Veterans Commission on the
General Counsel. Before that I was at the AG's office and the
General Litigation Division for eight years and I had always
made it, you know, part of my life to contribute, and, you know,
the, the cost of, uh, retaining a lawyer, just ridiculous. I mean,
even, you know, upper middle class people have difficulty with
that.

Madeleine Connor:

05:42

So, I kinda made it, you know a, a part of my life to, to always
try to help and be involved in either VLS cases or some, some
private cases that I was involved with, where, for example, one,
um, one client, um, missed the cut off by a dollar an hour. He
had gone to VLS to try to get some help. The, um, of Travis
County and try to get some help, but he, his income was one
dollar an hour over their, you know, it exceeded that, so.

Madeleine Connor:

06:19

And of course, you know, very limited income. Uh, worked part
time at um, at Home Depot, and had a child. So, I represented
him actually twice. Um, and the first time I represented him was
when I was at the AG's office, um completely pro bono, not low
bono or anything like that. Um, I was an assistance attorney
general, doing the civil rights and the employment, um, mostly,
was my docket. But, you know, I wanted to give back.

Madeleine Connor:

06:47

So, um, I represented him. He had a very, uh, wealthy and
powerful ex-spouse on the other side with, you know, highpowered lawyers and it was just me and him, and you know, my
little v- v- very limited resources. Um, but I think it was about
eight months into the litigation. Um, his ex-spouse got a new
lawyer and he immediately filed a motion to, um, recuse or
disqualify me because I worked at the AG's office, and um,
therefore there was a conflict.
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Madeleine Connor:

07:25

And, so, I don't know if I should ... Do I stop?

Lewis Kinard:

07:30

Uh, thanks so much. Does it have to beep so loudly?

Madeleine Connor:

07:33

(laughs) But anyway, the end of that story was, is they did have
to do a conflicts check and it was very disruptive to the agency,
and I, we didn't even know any of those people. They're in a
different building, you know, the child support division, and it
was just a kind of a, a tactic that I didn't think was really fair,
and so after that point, I was not allowed to take any more pro
bono cases, you know, that ...

Madeleine Connor:

07:59

Well, there wasn't a conflict, so ...

Lewis Kinard:

08:02

Mm-hmm (affirmative)-

Madeleine Connor:

08:02

So anyway, that was it.

Lewis Kinard:

08:04

So w- w- we may have some questions, and when you said VLS,
is that the, the volunteer lawyer service here in Austin?

Madeleine Connor:

08:10

Yes. In Travis County, yes. Yeah.

Lewis Kinard:

08:12

[crosstalk 00:08:12] Okay. Any questions for the speaker?

Claude Ducloux:

08:16

L- Let me just say that I appreciate, tell Mr. Kaplan I appreciate
his letter. We got that, a- and I want to make clear to anybody
who's listening here today, that the provisions of this rule don't
just give you a magic shield against conflicts of interest. It says,
"Look, if you have this limitation, if you truly know there's a
conflict, you're still bound by the rules."

Claude Ducloux:

08:33

This just t- t- to go, like I go on Monday nights, you meet
somebody, try to give them help in a lawyer tenant situation,
not know if, perhaps their t- l- their landlord is somebody that
maybe your firm represents.

Madeleine Connor:

08:45

Mm-hmm (affirmative)-

Claude Ducloux:

08:45

So, i- i- it's not an exculpation, it's not a f- get out of jail free
card, it's really for those limited services, and if you know about
a conflict, you are still bound by the tenets of the disciplinary
rules.

Madeleine Connor:

08:56

Right. Okay.

Lewis Kinard:

08:59

Any questions on the phone? Alright, thanks so much.
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Madeleine Connor:

09:05

[crosstalk 00:09:05] Thank you so very much. Thank you.

Brad Johnson:

09:07

Next we have Becky Moseley, who has indicated she's speaking
on behalf of the Texas Access to Justice Commission, as well as
on her own behalf as an attorney.

Lewis Kinard:

09:23

Good morning.

Becky Moseley:

09:23

Good morning, and thank you guys for, uh, having this
opportunity to come talk about this important issue. Um, I'm
Becky Moseley. I am a staff attorney, uh, here in this building,
but with the Texas Access to Justice Commission.

Becky Moseley:

09:38

I'm also here on behalf of Trish McAllister, who is the executive
director of the Texas Access to Justice Commission, and she is
the former executive director of VLS, the Volunteer Legal
Services in Austin, um, and then I myself am a former staff
attorney at Legal Aid of Northwest Texas, and um, both Trish
and I, uh, in our prior jobs, have a lot of experience with, um,
pro bono clinics, um, and the important role that those pro
bono clinics play.

Becky Moseley:

10:14

Uh, the need for civil legal services in Texas is great. While one
in five Texans financially qualify for free legal services, only
about 1 in 10 applicants for those services are able to receive
extended services through a legal aid organization.

Becky Moseley:

10:33

For so many people, what legal lid and pro bono attorneys are
able to provide is brief service, advice, sometimes the only thing
that a- person who's eligible for legal services is gonna get, is an
attorney consultation, and that is so important.

Becky Moseley:

10:53

Um, we depend on pro bono attorneys at Legal Aid and now at
the Access to Justice Commission, we encourage their
participation and their service. Um, and the Texas Bar, as you
know, has a aspirational goal of 50 hours of service for
attorneys.

Becky Moseley:

11:09

What this rule does, is it prov- it uh, takes care of a barrier that
we hear from private attorneys. "Oh no, we can't take this ...
We can't participate pro bono because we might have a- an
imputed conflict with the firm. Um, like has been said, if, if a pro
bono attorney knows there's a conflict, they're prevented from,
um, providing even a brief advice, a brief consultation.

Becky Moseley:

11:37

But this rule would make it so, um, those conflict rules a- are
not going to prohibit an attorney from offering this crucial
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service, um, i- if they don't know about a conflict. Um, it also llets these attorneys from firms, especially, provide this brief
service, provide um, brief advice and consultation without
worrying about imputing the conflict to this indigent client to
the rest of the firm. Uh, and that's very important, especially
because we see Legal Aid and VLS, some firms, uh, discourage
um, having a lot of um, participation pro bono, because of
imputation rules.
Becky Moseley:

12:26

One thing that hasn't been mentioned that I'll mention briefly is
subsection C of the proposed rule 6.05, which just says that,
um, the, just p- giving the eligibility information, to screen for
eligibility for legal aid, doesn't necessarily create a conflict. Now
it could, if that eligibility information or income information is,
is relevant or material to a legal matter.

Becky Moseley:

12:52

Um but the, it doesn't necessarily create that conflict, and we
see some, not a ton, but some uh, abuse or attempted abuse of
these rules to game the system. Meaning, one spouse has a lot
of money and they know they're not gonna be eligible for legal
aid, but they apply anyways and give their eligibility information
with the hopes of conflicting out the other spouse. Um,
especially in abusive situations where there's already
manipulation in the relationship, that can happen.

Becky Moseley:

13:26

And so this just clarifies, uh subsection C would clarify that just
getting that income information doesn't, itself necessarily
create a conflict. I think my time is about up. Oh, it's more than
up. It's counting up now.

Lewis Kinard:

13:40

Yeah.

Becky Moseley:

13:40

The counter's counting up now.

Lewis Kinard:

13:41

(laughs)

Becky Moseley:

13:43

But I'd be happy to answer any questions about the rule. Um, ithere's one other thing that I want to try to sneak under
[inaudible 00:13:53] I'm gonna mention. I- I was able to read the
comments um, that have already been submitted on the rule. I
do think some of the comments have a, um, a misperception
about uh, subsection B.

Becky Moseley:

14:05

I- the lawyer who provides pro bono advice is gonna be
conflicted out in the future from representing someone against
that indigent client, but the, the imputation rules might not
apply. So I think there's some misunderstanding in the
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comments that think that an attorney who provides brief
services or advice to an indigent client could then represent a
paying client against that indigent client, um but the rule does
not create that problem. It's just the imputation that would not
apply.
Lewis Kinard:

14:39

Very good, thank you. Any questions for our speaker? Anybody
on the phone? Great, thanks so much for coming.

Becky Moseley:

14:47

Thank you guys.

Brad Johnson:

14:51

That, unless anyone wants to sign up for, for these, for this
item, then, then that is it.

Lewis Kinard:

14:57

That's it. When do, uh-

Brad Johnson:

14:58

One more for the next agenda item. One- one more, that's it.

Lewis Kinard:

15:00

[crosstalk 00:15:00] Alright. When do public comments close on
6.05?

Brad Johnson:

15:03

That will be, let me double check, I believe it's July 1st.

Lewis Kinard:

15:06

I was gonna say, it was a little longer I knew.

Brad Johnson:

15:07

Yeah.

Claude Ducloux:

15:08

[inaudible 00:15:08] …sometime.

Lewis Kinard:

15:10

Yep.

Brad Johnson:

15:11

That's correct, for the proposal 6.05, public comments will be
accepted th- through July 1st.

Lewis Kinard:

15:17

Alright good. So yes, please uh, if you haven't already, and, and
you're listening on the phone you would like to comment, uh,
uh go to that texasbar.com/cdrr and um, submit your
comments. Uh, we appreciate the Bar Association's uh,
weighing in too, 'cause it's, I think, and important perspective to
take.
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Proposed Rule 6.05, Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct
June 6, 2019 - Texas Law Center
Video of the full Committee on Disciplinary Rules and Referenda meeting, including public hearings, is available at texasbar.com/cdrr.

LEWIS KINARD: Welcome to the Committee on disciplinary rules and referenda. We
have two public hearings today, followed by our committee meeting and - which is open,
as well. So, calling this to order and - not really have a lot of comments to add today in
terms of anything special going on. And we'll get to some special new business later on
in our agenda. But today, if you have not - if you plan to speak and haven't signed in,
please fill out one of the cards and give it to Cory. And he'll organize you for us. Our first
public hearing topic would be the proposed rule 6.05, conflict of interest exceptions for
nonprofit and limited pro bono legal services. The second one will be on one of the first
of our - I think we're going to have more than one - on the new, revised, proposed
lawyer advertising rules. And you're welcome to speak on both or take your turn and
speak twice if you want. So I guess - Professor Johnson, have we got you yet?
CORY SQUIRES: Do you want to do the roll call?
LEWIS KINARD: We can do that at the beginning in the meeting part. Yeah. All right.
With that, let's go on to our topics. Anybody who has come to speak on either of the
rules, we'll start with 6.05. Interested parties first. Pro bono - Limited pro bono
assistance exceptions to the conflicts - imputed conflicts rules. And I don't see anybody
running for the microphone. So anybody signed up for the advertising rules?
[End of Public Hearing on Proposed Rule 6.05, Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct]
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American Bar Association
Model Rules of Professional Conduct (2019)
Rule 6.5: Nonprofit & Court-Annexed Limited Legal Services Programs
(a) A lawyer who, under the auspices of a program sponsored by a nonprofit organization
or court, provides short-term limited legal services to a client without expectation by either
the lawyer or the client that the lawyer will provide continuing representation in the
matter:
(1) is subject to Rules 1.7 and 1.9(a) only if the lawyer knows that the representation
of the client involves a conflict of interest; and
(2) is subject to Rule 1.10 only if the lawyer knows that another lawyer associated
with the lawyer in a law firm is disqualified by Rule 1.7 or 1.9(a) with respect to the
matter.
(b) Except as provided in paragraph (a)(2), Rule 1.10 is inapplicable to a representation
governed by this Rule.

(Comment omitted)
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SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT BY THE STATE BAR OF TEXAS COMMITTEE ON THE
DISCIPLINARY RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT
RULE PROVIDING EXCEPTIONS TO CONFLICTS OF INTEREST RULES FOR
NONPROFIT AND LIMITED PRO BONO LEGAL SERVICES
MAY 25, 2016
In December 2014, the State Bar of Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional
Conduct Committee (Committee) recommended the adoption of a Rule that addresses
conflicts of interest arising from lawyers’ provision of pro bono legal services.1 Generally,
the Rule would facilitate the provision of pro bono legal services by (1) permitting a lawyer
to accept a pro bono representation unless the lawyer knows of a conflict of interest that
prohibits acceptance; (2) preventing the imputation of a conflict of interest that arises from
a lawyer’s provision of pro bono legal services, if the lawyer adequately protects the pro
bono client’s confidential information; and (3) preventing eligibility information collected
by limited pro bono legal services programs from creating conflicts of interest in certain
circumstances. The Committee’s recommendation was referred to the State Bar of Texas
Board Discipline and Client Attorney Assistance Program Committee (DCAAP) for
consideration. Members of the Committee and DCAAP spoke about the recommendation
in April 2015. DCAAP members then expressed concern about the Rule’s permitting a
lawyer in a firm with a lawyer who provided limited pro bono legal services to represent a
party averse to the pro bono client in the same matter that the client discussed with the
service provider.
In its next several meetings, Committee members discussed this concern.
Committee members also discussed the proposed Rule with other interested groups,
including the State Bar of Texas Pro Bono Working Group and the Texas Access to
Justice Commission. While recognizing that the contemplated representation might be
perceived as inappropriate, the Committee concluded that the proposed Rule should not
be amended. Specifically, it concluded that the risk that an actual conflict of interest would
arise is slight given the restricted scope of limited pro bono legal services, that the Rule
adequately protects against this risk, and that the Rule’s imputation provision is necessary
to facilitate the provision of limited pro bono legal services. This conclusion was
supported by other groups’ endorsements of the Rule as drafted.2 However, the
Committee believed that it should better explain the imputation provision and therefore
amended Comment 5 to the proposed Rule so that it reads as follows:
Because the limited nature of the services significantly reduces the risk of
conflicts of interest with other matters being handled by the lawyer’s firm,
paragraph (b) provides that a conflict of interest arising from a lawyer’s
representation covered by this Rule will not be imputed to the lawyers in the
pro bono lawyer’s firm if the pro bono lawyer complies with subparagraphs
1

See Report, attached as Exhibit 1.

2

See Letter of Support from the Pro Bono Working Group, attached as Exhibit 2; Resolution of the Texas
Access to Justice Commission, attached as Exhibit 3.
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(b)(1) and (2). Therefore, by virtue of paragraph (b), a lawyer’s provision of
limited pro bono legal services does not preclude the lawyer’s firm from
undertaking or continuing the representation of a client with interests averse
to a client receiving the services.
With this amendment, the Committee again recommends the addition of its
proposed Rule providing exceptions to conflicts of interest rules for nonprofit and limited
pro bono legal services.

2
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REPORT BY THE STATE BAR OF TEXAS COMMITTEE ON THE DISCIPLINARY
RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT
RULE PROVIDING EXCEPTIONS TO CONFLICTS OF INTEREST RULES FOR
NONPROFIT AND LIMITED PRO BONO LEGAL SERVICES
DECEMBER 12, 2014
The State Bar of Texas Committee on the Disciplinary Rules of Professional
Conduct (Committee) submits this report to the State Bar President and Board of
Directors. The Committee recommends the addition of a Rule that addresses conflicts
of interests that arise from lawyers’ provision of pro bono legal services. It further
recommends that the Rule, if adopted, be added to Part VI of the Rules, which concerns
public service. This recommendation replaces the Committee’s 2010 recommendation
that proposed Rule 6.05, which also addressed these conflicts of interest, be adopted.1
Overview
The Committee’s proposed Rule was inspired by Model Rule 6.5.2 The Model
Rule was added in response to concern that strict application of conflict of interest rules
may deter lawyers from volunteering to provide pro bono legal services.3 Sharing this
concern, the Committee endeavored to draft a similar rule.
To begin, the Committee requested that the Supreme Court ask people in Texas
who are involved in providing equal access to justice and pro bono legal services to
review Model Rule 6.5 to determine whether the Rule (1) is consistent with procedures
already governing voluntary pro bono representation; (2) conflicts with how voluntary
pro bono plans are administered in Texas; and (3) sufficiently addresses the conflict of
interest problems pro bono representation presents or, on the other hand, provides too
great an exception to general conflict of interest requirements. Subsequently, such
people were added to, or identified on, the Committee, and it undertook a review of
Model Rule 6.5.
The Committee found that the Model Rule’s first provision, which generally
permits a lawyer to accept a pro bono representation unless the lawyer knows of a
conflict of interest that prohibits acceptance, was well considered and should be
included in a Texas rule without substantive changes. However, the Committee found
that the Model Rule’s second provision, which generally prevents the imputation of
1

See Report by the State Bar of Texas Committee on Texas Disciplinary Rule of Professional Conduct
Rule 6.05 (New Rule), attached as Exhibit A. Please note that proposed Rule 6.05 was not part of the
2011 referendum on proposed amendments to the Disciplinary Rules.
2

A comparison of the Committee’s Rule and its Model Rule analogue, Rule 6.5, appears in Exhibit B.

3

For a discussion of the conflict of interest problems involved with voluntary lawyer programs, see,
Rachel Brill and Rochelle Sparko, Limited Legal Services and Conflicts of Interest: Unbundling in the
Public Interest, 16 GEORGETOWN JOURNAL OF LEGAL ETHICS 553 (2003).
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conflicts of interest that arise from a lawyer’s provision of pro bono legal services, to be
too broad. It therefore concluded that a similar Texas rule should prevent imputation
only when specified conditions are satisfied, balancing (1) concerns of affiliated lawyers’
that they will be prohibited from accepting future representations by conflicts created by
pro bono work undertaken by one of them and (2) interests of pro bono clients in the
confidentiality of information they disclose. The Committee further found that Model
Rule 6.5 did not address unique problems caused by nonprofit legal services
organizations’ collection and possession of eligibility information applicants for services
must provide. Finally, the Committee found that the Model Rule did not sufficiently
define the kinds of services such a rule should target or clearly indicate that lawyers
working in the same pro bono program were not necessarily working in the same firm.
Each of these findings is reflected in the Committee’s proposed Rule.
The Committee is comfortable that the modifications suggested by its
recommended Rule advance the purposes underlying the Model Rule while protecting
the interests of people who may need to use voluntary pro bono legal services.
Notably, other states have adopted variations of Model Rule 6.5 more suited to their
particular needs.4
Paragraph (a)
Paragraph (a) in Model Rule 6.5 combines a broad (and, in the Committee’s
opinion, incomplete) definition of the targeted services with an exemption from Model
Rules concerning conflicts of interest. For clarity, the Committee has defined the
targeted services separately, in paragraph (d).
The limitations on representation in Texas Rules 1.06, 1.07, and 1.09 effectively
require lawyers to perform conflict checks so as not to accept a representation that
conflicts with the interests of a current or former client, in reference to a client of both an
individual lawyer and of lawyers in the same firm with that lawyer. Lawyers who
perform the specific type of pro bono legal services defined in this Rule will often do so
in the field, such as at sites established to help victims of natural disasters or at a
weekend legal clinic. These lawyers will not have the luxury of time or access to the
records needed to perform conflict checks. In such situations, these lawyers are
prohibited by the proposed Rule from providing the limited pro bono representation only
if they actually know of prohibiting conflicts when the representation presents itself,
without performing a conflict check.

4

See, e.g., New York Rule 6.5, Participation in Limited Pro Bono Legal Services Programs; New
Hampshire Rule 6.5, Nonprofit and Court-Annexed Limited Legal Services Programs.
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Paragraph (b)
Paragraph (b) provides a way for a lawyer who supplies limited pro bono legal
services contemplated by this Rule to prevent the imputation of conflicts associated with
that representation to other lawyers in the lawyer’s firm. The lawyer simply has to make
sure that confidential information of the pro bono client is not accessible to the other
lawyers. Thus, the lawyer who volunteers at a covered program can take steps to avoid
tainting the other lawyers at the lawyer’s firm with confidential information the lawyer
learns in the representation. Depending on the circumstances, a lawyer may shield
them from exposure to potential conflicting information simply by not taking the
information back to the lawyer’s office or by not storing it in the lawyer’s client files or
database of the lawyer’s firm, legal department, or agency.
A lawyer who provides limited pro bono services will be prohibited from
representing other clients due to confidential information learned from the pro bono
client, but this prohibition will not be imputed to other lawyers in the same firm unless
the confidential information is effectively shared with them. If the pro bono lawyer, for
example, places the pro bono client’s confidential information into the firm database, it is
effectively shared with the rest of the firm. This exception is a major difference between
fee-based representation and pro bono representation. In the former, the knowledge of
confidential client information by one lawyer is imputed to all lawyers in the firm,
whether or not they actually have that knowledge.
Paragraph (c)
Paragraph (c) extends the scope of the proposed Rule beyond that of its Model
Rule analogue to deal with the possession of eligibility information by legal services
organizations. Its goal is to provide a means for preventing the possession of eligibility
information from being used to disqualify legal services staff and pro bono lawyers from
representing other clients.
People who seek pro bono legal services typically need to establish their
eligibility for such services. Eligibility is generally based on financial, immigration, and
residence criteria determined by funders such as the Texas Access to Justice
Foundation, which administers funds from the Interest on Lawyers Trust Accounts
program and other sources. This information exceeds, in its sensitivity, the kind of
information a prospective client will usually share with a lawyer when seeking
representation.
Merely gathering such information can, under a strict reading of the Rules, create
a potential conflict of interest involving the applicant and other parties to the same or a
substantially related legal matter. This conflict is imputed to every lawyer in the legal
services organization. Indeed, even if an applicant is determined to be ineligible and is
turned away before any legal services are provided, and the eligibility information is
segregated or stored in a way that makes it inaccessible to the legal staff of the
organization and its volunteer lawyers, the organization has no way of avoiding the

3
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potential conflict of interest the information creates. Moreover, disingenuous parties too
often apply for legal aid knowing they are ineligible solely to prevent their adversaries
from accessing free legal services from the organization. These bad faith applications
create false conflicts and block access to legal services for the second applicant
because, in most of these cases, no alternative sources of free legal assistance are
available.
Paragraph (c) provides that such eligibility information will not create a conflict of
interest in certain situations. Subparagraphs (1) and (2) provide clear means for
determining when the eligibility information does not pose a basis for a conflict. The first
provides that, if the information is not material to the legal matter, then that information
will not create a conflict. The second, an advance waiver to using confidential eligibility
information as a basis for disqualification, is a new concept to the Texas Rules. The
Committee’s inspiration for this inclusion came from the following comment to the Model
Rule concerning prospective clients:
A lawyer may condition a consultation with a prospective client on the
person's informed consent that no information disclosed during the
consultation will prohibit the lawyer from representing a different client in
the matter. See Rule 1.0(e) for the definition of informed consent. If the
agreement expressly so provides, the prospective client may also consent
to the lawyer's subsequent use of information received from the
prospective client.
As significant is that the Professional Ethics Committee (PEC) endorsed such advance
waivers in its Opinion 608, which considered conflicts of a lawyer working for a legal
services organization. The PEC concluded as follows:
A lawyer for a legal services organization is permitted under the Texas
Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct to represent a client in a child
custody matter against an adverse party who had unsuccessfully applied
for services of the legal services organization in the same matter, provided
that the unsuccessful applicant had consented in writing, after appropriate
disclosure by the organization of the relevant circumstances, that the
provision of limited information requested by the organization to determine
financial eligibility in the intake screening process would not by itself result
in restricting the legal services organization or its lawyers from providing
services to other persons who might be adverse to the unsuccessful
applicant.
The PEC, in the absence of specifically relevant Texas Rules, fashioned its
guidance out of a painstaking analysis of the current conflicts Rules. While certainly
helpful in providing this guidance for legal services organizations, Opinion 608, like all
ethics opinions, addressed only the factual scenarios presented. The Committee’s
proposed Rule, incorporating the scenarios addressed in Opinion 608, also provides
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guidance for potential conflict scenarios with pro bono representation not dealt with in
that opinion.
Paragraph (d)
Paragraph (d) supplies the definition of “limited pro bono legal services” for the
Rule. It is designed to make clear the circumstances under which the narrow conflict of
interest exceptions provided by this Rule apply: those where a lawyer offering limited
pro bono legal services does not have the opportunity to perform a standard check for
conflicts. If the lawyer takes on any other type of pro bono representation, then it does
not qualify for the exemptions provided by this Rule. For example, a lawyer who
attends a bar association legal aid clinic, agrees to help a client obtain a divorce, and
assists that client over a multi-week or multi-month time period, has time to check for
potential conflicts of interest and therefore is not providing “limited pro bono legal
services” contemplated by this Rule. The legal services must be completed prior to the
lawyer having such an opportunity or they will not qualify as “short-term services.”
Additionally, to avoid creating an unintended opening for fee-based legal service
providers, the Committee has made clear in the Rule that this Rule’s exception applies
only when the services are provided without any expectation of either extended
representation or legal fees from the client.
Paragraph (e)
Paragraph (e) clarifies that volunteer lawyers merely working through the same
legal services program at the same time as the lawyer providing the services are not
deemed to be in a firm for the purposes of this Rule. This means, for example, that a
group of lawyers who are not otherwise practicing law together as a firm may assemble
at a location, such as natural disaster shelter, and confer with each other as necessary.
Nor will the personal prohibition of a lawyer participating in the program be imputed to
other lawyers solely because they are participating in the same program, unless there is
another basis for barring representation, such as when lawyers in the same program
are also in the same firm.
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REPORT BY
THE STATE BAR OF TEXAS COMMITTEE ON
TEXAS DISCIPLINARY RULE OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT
RULE 6.05 (NEW RULE)
The State Bar of Texas Committee on the Texas Disciplinary Rules of
Professional Conduct (Committee) submits this report to the Texas Supreme
Court, to Roland Johnson, Texas State Bar President, and to the Board of
Directors of the State Bar. This report addresses a new proposed Rule 6.05, to
be added to those Rules that deal with public service and are currently located in
Part VI. This recommendation supplements the Committee’s prior
recommendations regarding other Rules in current Part VI.1
The Committee’s Rule 6.05 as compared with ABA Rule 6.5 appears in
Attachment A. The current Texas Rules has no equivalent of Rule 6.05, nor did
the Court-appointed Task Force make a recommendation regarding Rule 6.05.
Overview
When the Committee submitted its initial report on the Rules regarding the
duties and responsibilities of a lawyer engaged in public service legal work, it
believed that ABA Rule 6.5 seemed to be an excellent idea. The ABA Rule was
added in response to the concern that strict application of the conflict of interest
rules may deter lawyers from serving as volunteers in programs that provide
legal services pro bono. However, ABA Rule 6.5 provides a very broad
exception to conflict of interest prohibitions that are at the core of the fiduciary
duty a lawyer owes a client and that are imputed to other lawyers with whom the
lawyer practices.2
Before adopting this Rule, the Committee concluded that those in Texas
knowledgeable about the process of providing equal access to justice and with
providing legal services pro bono should look at this ABA Rule initially and decide
whether the ABA Rule (1) matches any procedures already governing voluntary
pro bono representation; (2) poses any problems with how voluntary pro bono
plans are being administered in Texas; and (3) sufficiently addresses the conflict
1

In its original report, the Committee made the following recommendations regarding the Rules in
current Part VI:
1.
Move current Texas Rule 1.13 to make it 6.02 and then amend it in order to
make it substantially identical to ABA 6.3
2.
Adopt ABA 6.4 (making it Texas 6.03) with only one change
3.
Not adopt ABA 6.1
4.
Keep current Texas Rule 6.01, which is identical to ABA Rule 6.2

2

For a discussion of the conflict of interest problems involved with voluntary lawyer programs,
see, Rachel Brill and Rochelle Sparko, Limited Legal Services and Conflicts of Interest:
Unbundling in the Public Interest, 16 GEORGETOWN JOURNAL OF LEGAL ETHICS 553
(2003).
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of interest problems in pro bono representation, or on the other hand, provides
too great an exception to general conflict of interest requirements.
Therefore, the Committee recommended that the Supreme Court send
ABA Rule 6.5 to those in Texas who are most involved in providing equal access
to justice. After that time, the Committee became equipped to consider the
issues with ABA Rule 6.5 and is comfortable that the modifications afforded by its
recommended Rule 6.05 advance the purposes underlying the Model Rule while
protecting the interests of members of the public who may need to use voluntary
pro bono legal services.
Working with the goals of Rule 6.05 and the approach taken by the ABA
posed three major problems. First, the Committee recognized—through the pro
bono experiences of many of its members—that an individual lawyer may be
deterred from providing free legal services even at a help desk or disaster relief
center by pressure from affiliated lawyers who may fear that they will be
prohibited from taking a future fee-based representation due to conflicts created
by the one lawyer’s pro bono work out of the office. Second, the relaxation of the
prohibitions on representation in the various conflicts Rules (e.g., Rules 1.06,
1.07, 1.09, and the new 1.17), on both the lawyer providing the pro bono
representation and affiliated lawyers, would need to be carefully crafted so as to
provide protection to the pro bono clients consistent with that provided to feepaying clients. Third, although the Committee immediately recognized problems
with the ABA formulation, virtually every state that has adopted a pro bono legal
services Rule has tracked the ABA language, providing no guidance for
deviation. New York has substantially amended ABA Rule 6.5, and the
Committee was guided by its innovation (due to New York using the Model Rule
numbering and format, strict adherence to New York’s language was not possible
and, for other reasons, was not desirable).
The Committee concluded that it could address all three problems by
following the general approach of the ABA in making this an unconventional
disciplinary Rule. That is, by its language, the Rule neither prohibits nor requires
specific behavior but instead provides a narrow exception to certain provisions of
indicated conflicts Rules. Also, the Committee believed it could curtail abuse of
the lifting of some of the representation prohibitions in the indicated conflicts
Rules with a careful definition of kind of services targeted, which is not fully
developed in the ABA Rule. Finally, the Committee has provided protection for
the pro bono client that is simply missing in the ABA Rule.
Paragraph (a)
Paragraph (a) in ABA Rule 6.5 combines a broad (and, in the Committee’s
opinion, incomplete) definition of the targeted services with an exemption from
Model Rules 1.6 1.9(a), and 1.10. For clarity, the Committee has defined the
targeted services separately, in paragraph (d). As the ABA Model Rules place
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aspects of the conflicts Rules in different places than do the Texas Rules (for
example, the ABA addresses imputation to affiliated lawyers in its Rule 1.10,
while the Texas Rules do so within each Rule, when it applies), the references in
ABA Rule 6.5 are simply unworkable for Texas. Moreover, the equivalent Texas
Rule numbers may not simply be substituted, as exemptions are provided only
for limited portions of the indicated conflicts Rules.
In paragraph (a), a majority of the Committee voted to deviate from strict
disciplinary Rule format (e.g., “a lawyer shall” or “a lawyer shall not”) mainly to
exert a visual appeal to lawyers to provide pro bono legal services. Those opting
for this format believed that lawyers would be discouraged by strictly prohibiting
or mandatory language. The Committee considered making this a purely
permissive “Rule” with “may” (as in proposed new Rule 6.02, “A lawyer may
serve as a director, officer, or member of an organization involved in reform of
the law or its administration notwithstanding that the reform may affect the
interests of a client of the lawyer.“), but decided that its proposal was more
clearly an exception.
The limitations on representation in Rules 1.06, 1.07, 1.09, and proposed
1.17 effectively require lawyers to perform conflicts checks so as not to take on a
representation that conflicts with a representation of a current or former client,
both of the individual lawyer or lawyers affiliated with that lawyer. Lawyers who
perform pro bono legal services as defined in this Rule will often do so in “the
field,” such as at impromptu sites established to help victims of natural disasters
or at a weekend legal clinic. These lawyers will not have the luxury of time or
access to the requisite records to perform conflicts checks. Thus, the lawyers
are prohibited from taking the pro bono representation only if they actually know
at the time of prohibiting conflicts, without performing a conflicts check. A
comment will explain that, if they have simply forgotten and, in the fullness of
time, might have recalled a conflict, they may use the exemption provided by this
Rule.
A comment will also explain that, if, in the brief amount of time a lawyer
will spend on the services defined in this Rule, the lawyer learns of a conflict that
prohibits the lawyer’s personal representation of the pro bono client, then the
lawyer must take the same steps as Rule 1.06, 1.07, and 1.09 provide for a feepaying client. New York, one of the few states to vary from the ABA Model Rule
1.6, has this as a specific provision.3

3

New York’s rule provides as follows: “(e) This Rule shall not apply where the court before which
the matter is pending determines that a conflict of interest exists or, if during the course of the
representation, the lawyer providing the services becomes aware of the existence of a conflict of
interest precluding continued representation.”
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Paragraph (b)
Paragraph (b) provides a way for the lawyer who supplies limited pro bono
legal services contemplated by this Rule to prevent the imputation of conflicts
associated with that representation to affiliated lawyers. The lawyer simply has
to make sure that confidential information of the pro bono client (or the
prospective pro bono client, if the representation does not occur) is not
accessible to affiliated lawyers. Thus, the lawyer who volunteers at a covered
program should intend at the outset to take steps to avoid tainting affiliated
lawyers with confidential information the lawyer learns in the representation.
Depending on the circumstances, a lawyer may shield affiliated lawyers from
exposure to potential conflicting information simply by not storing confidential
information from the limited assistance client in the lawyer’s client files or
database of the lawyer’s firm, legal department, or agency.
While the lawyer who provides the limited pro bono services will be
prohibited from representing other clients due to confidential information learned
from the pro bono client to the same extent as if the pro bono client were a feepaying client, this prohibition will not be imputed to affiliated lawyers unless the
confidential information is effectively shared with them. If the pro bono lawyer,
for example, places the pro bono client’s confidential information into the firm
database, it is effectively shared with affiliated lawyers. This is a major difference
between fee-based representation and pro bono representation. In the former,
the knowledge of confidential client information by one lawyer is imputed to
affiliated lawyers, whether or not they actually have that knowledge.
Paragraph (c)
People who seek pro bono legal services typically need to establish their
eligibility for such services. Eligibility is generally based on financial, immigration,
and residence criteria as determined by funders such as the Texas Access to
Justice Foundation, which administers funds from the Interest on Lawyers Trust
Accounts program and other sources, and such criteria are mandatory conditions
under which the sponsoring organization may use grant funds to provide free
legal assistance through its staff and volunteers. This information exceeds, in its
sensitivity, the kind of information a prospective client will usually share with a
lawyer under Rule 1.17. Applicants for free legal assistance must be determined
eligible before even receiving the assistance. Accordingly, greater protection is
afforded the eligibility information of the pro bono client than the information of
the non-pro bono prospective client, in that Rule 1.17 permits a lawyer to
condition a discussion with a prospective client on a waiver as to the use of
confidential information imparted in that discussion. Such a waiver prevents a
prospective client from unilaterally creating a prohibition on a lawyer or law firm's
representation of an opposing party simply by sharing confidential information.
No waiver is possible with the prospective pro bono client because of the nature
of the information and the different goals of the pro bono client (who needs to
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obtain limited legal services in often emergency situations) and the fee-paying
client (who may simply be assessing a number of lawyers for the most desirable,
given the issues and circumstances).
Paragraph (c), then absolutely prevents the lawyer from using the pro
bono client’s eligibility information to the disadvantage of the individual, whether
or not the individual becomes a pro bono client. In reality, the lawyer who
provides the pro bono services may never have access to such information.
However, a lawyer in an impromptu setting may need to make eligibility
determinations on the spot in accordance with the eligibility guidelines of the
funding source sponsoring the event. A comment will explain that the mere
receipt of such information by the lawyer, when the prospective client is rejected
and not helped, will not create a conflict of interest for the lawyer regarding a
different representation in the same or a substantially related matter.
Rules 1.05 and 1.17 continue to apply to protect any confidential
information provided during the eligibility interview and limit the lawyer’s ability to
undertake a representation based on information other than that required to
establish eligibility or where the same information is material to an issue in the
representation. Once the lawyer has agreed to provide legal services, then all of
the disciplinary Rules apply to the relationship except as expressly stated in this
Rule.
Paragraph (d)
Paragraph (d) supplies the definition of “limited pro bono legal services”
for the Rule. It is designed to make clear the circumstances under which the
narrow exceptions provided by this Rule apply: those where a lawyer does not
have the opportunity to perform a standard check for conflicts. If the lawyer
takes on any other type of pro bono representation, then it does not qualify for
the exemptions provided by this Rule. For example, a lawyer who attends a bar
association legal aid clinic, agrees to help a client obtain a divorce, and assists
that client with the various steps over a multi-week or multi-month time period,
has plenty of time to return to the office and check for potential conflicts of
interest and therefore exceeds the “limited pro bono legal services” contemplated
by this Rule. The legal services must be completed prior to the lawyer having
such an opportunity or they will not qualify as “short-term services.”
Additionally, in order to avoid creating an unintended opening for feebased legal service providers, the Committee has made clear in the Rule that this
Rule’s exception applies only when the services are provided without any
expectation of either extended representation or legal fees from the client.
New York’s version of ABA Rule 6.5 contains a separate definition of the
services to be affected by its Rule. The committee in New York formed to
recommend changes to its Rules based on the 2003 Model Rules (previously,
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New York still had the ABA Model Code, not even the 1983 Model Rules)
essentially suggested the ABA version. New York’s court, however, added three
provisions, a separate definition being one of them.4
Paragraph (e)
Paragraph (e) clarifies that “affiliated” in reference to other lawyers than
the lawyer providing the pro bono legal services does not include other volunteer
lawyers merely working through the same legal services program at the same
time as the lawyer providing the services. Thus, the lawyer providing the
services does not have to be concerned about safeguarding confidential client
information of the pro bono legal services clients or applicants. This means, for
example, that a group of lawyers who are otherwise unaffiliated may assemble at
a location, such as natural disaster shelter, and confer with each other as
necessary. Nor will the personal prohibition of a lawyer participating in the
program be imputed to other lawyers solely because they are participating in the
same program, unless there is another basis for barring representation, such as
when lawyers in the same program are also in the same firm.

4

New York’s definition is as follows: “(c) Short-term limited legal services are services providing
legal advice or representation free of charge as part of a program described in paragraph (a) with
no expectation that the assistance will continue beyond what is necessary to complete an initial
consultation, representation or court appearance.”
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ATTACHMENT A:
RULE 6.05—ABA & COMMITTEE PROPOSED
ABA Version
Rule 6.5 Nonprofit and Court-annexed
Limited Legal Services Programs
(a) A lawyer who, under the auspices of a
program sponsored by a nonprofit
organization or court, provides short-term
limited legal services to a client without
expectation by either the lawyer or the
client that the lawyer will provide
continuing representation in the matter:
(1) is subject to Rules 1.7 and
1.9(a) only if the lawyer knows that
the representation of the client
involves a conflict of interest; and
(2) is subject to Rule 1.10 only if
the lawyer knows that another
lawyer associated with the lawyer
in a law firm is disqualified by Rule
1.7 or 1.9(a) with respect to the
matter.

Proposed Committee Version
Rule 6.05 Pro Bono Legal Service
Programs
(a)
The conflicts of interest limitations
on representation in Rules 1.06, 1.07,
1.09, and 1.17 do not prohibit a lawyer
from providing limited pro bono legal
services unless the lawyer knows at the
time the services are provided that the
lawyer would be prohibited by those
limitations from providing the services.
(b)
If the lawyer providing limited pro
bono legal services maintains any
confidential information of the limited
assistance client or prospective client in a
manner that would render that information
inaccessible by lawyers affiliated with that
lawyer, conflicts of interest in Rules 1.06,
1.07, 1.09, and 1.17 shall not be imputed
to those affiliated lawyers.
(c)
A lawyer who receives confidential
information provided by an applicant or
prospective client required for a
determination of eligibility for limited pro
bono legal services or for free legal
services from a program sponsored by a
court, bar association, accredited law
school, or an organization funded by the
IOLTA program, shall not use that
information to the disadvantage of the
applicant or prospective client, except as
required by Rule 1.05.
(d)
As used in this rule, “limited pro
bono legal services” means legal services
that are:
(1)
provided through a pro bono
or assisted pro se program
sponsored by a court, bar
association, accredited law school,
nonprofit legal services program,
or nonprofit organization funded
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ATTACHMENT A:
RULE 6.05—ABA & COMMITTEE PROPOSED
ABA Version

Proposed Committee Version
through the Interest on Lawyers
Trust Account (IOLTA) program;
(2)
short-term services such as
legal advice or other brief
assistance with pro se documents
or transactions, provided either in
person or by phone, hotline,
internet, or video conferencing;
and
(3)
provided without any
expectation of extended
representation of the limited
assistance client or of receiving
any legal fees in that matter.
(e)
As used in this rule, “affiliated”
does not include mere association
through a pro bono or assisted pro se
program sponsored by a court, bar
association, accredited law school,
nonprofit legal services program, or
nonprofit organization funded through the
Interest on Lawyers Trust Account
(IOLTA) program.
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Texas Rule Language

[3] A lawyer who provides services pursuant to this Rule
should secure the client's consent to the limited scope of the
representation after explaining to the client what that means in
the particular circumstance. See Rule 1.02(b). If a shortterm limited representation would not be fully sufficient under
the circumstances, the lawyer may offer advice to the client
but should also advise the client of the need for further
assistance of counsel. See Rule 1.03(b).

[2] Application of the conflict-of-interest rules is deterring
lawyers from participating in these programs, preventing
persons of limited means from obtaining much needed legal
services. To facilitate the provision of free legal services to
the public, this Rule creates narrow exceptions to the conflictof-interest rules for limited pro bono legal services. These
exceptions are justified because the limited and short-term
nature of the legal services rendered in such programs
reduces the risk that conflicts will arise between clients
represented through the program and other clients of the
lawyer or the lawyer’s firm.

[1] Nonprofit legal services organizations, courts, law schools,
and bar associations have programs through which lawyers
provide short-term limited legal services typically to help lowincome persons address their legal problems without further
representation by the lawyers. In these programs, such as
legal-advice hotlines, advice-only clinics, disaster legal
services, or programs providing guidance to self-represented
litigants, a client-lawyer relationship is established, but there is
no expectation that the relationship will continue beyond the
limited consultation and there is no expectation that the lawyer
will receive any compensation from the client for the services.
These programs are normally operated under circumstances
in which it is not feas ble for a lawyer to check for conflicts of
interest as is normally required before undertaking a
representation.

Proposed Comments to Texas Rule

ABA Rule Language

Comments to ABA Rule

[2] A lawyer who provides short-term limited legal services
pursuant to this Rule must secure the client's informed
consent to the limited scope of the representation. See Rule
1.2(c). If a short-term limited representation would not be
reasonable under the circumstances, the lawyer may offer
advice to the client but must also advise the client of the need
for further assistance of counsel. Except as provided in this
Rule, the Rules of Professional Conduct, including Rules 1.6
and 1.9(c), are applicable to the limited representation.

[1] Legal services organizations, courts and various nonprofit
organizations have established programs through which
lawyers provide short-term limited legal services -- such as
advice or the completion of legal forms -- that will assist
persons to address their legal problems without further
representation by a lawyer. In these programs, such as legaladvice hotlines, advice-only clinics or pro se counseling
programs, a client-lawyer relationship is established, but there
is no expectation that the lawyer's representation of the client
will continue beyond the limited consultation. Such programs
are normally operated under circumstances in which it is not
feas ble for a lawyer to systematically screen for conflicts of
interest as is generally required before undertaking a
representation. See, e.g., Rules 1.7, 1.9 and 1.10.

Conflict of Interest Exceptions for Nonprofit and Limited Pro Bono Legal Services
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(a) The conflicts of interest
limitations on representation
in Rules 1.06, 1.07, and 1.09
do not prohibit a lawyer from
providing, or offering to
provide, limited pro bono
legal services unless the
lawyer knows, at the time the
services are provided, that
the lawyer would be
prohibited by those limitations
from providing the services.

Texas Rule Language

[4] Paragraph (a) exempts compliance with Rules 1.06, 1.07,
and 1.09 for a lawyer providing limited pro bono legal services
unless the lawyer actually knows that the representation
presents a conflict of interest for the lawyer or for another
lawyer in the lawyer's firm. A lawyer providing limited pro
bono legal services is not obligated to perform a conflicts
check before undertaking the limited representation. If, after
commencing a representation in accordance with this Rule, a
lawyer undertakes to represent the client in the matter on an
ongoing basis or the lawyer charges a fee for the legal
assistance, the exceptions provided by this Rule no longer
apply.

Paragraph a

Proposed Comments to Texas Rule

(2) is subject to Rule 1.10
only if the lawyer knows that
another lawyer associated
with the lawyer in a law firm is
disqualified by Rule 1.7 or
1.9(a) with respect to the
matter.

(1) is subject to Rules 1.7 and
1.9(a) only if the lawyer
knows that the representation
of the client involves a conflict
of interest; and

(a) A lawyer who, under the
auspices of a program
sponsored by a nonprofit
organization or court,
provides short-term limited
legal services to a client
without expectation by either
the lawyer or the client that
the lawyer will provide
continuing representation in
the matter:

ABA Rule Language

[5] If, after commencing a short-term limited representation in
accordance with this Rule, a lawyer undertakes to represent
the client in the matter on an ongoing basis, Rules 1.7, 1.9(a)
and 1.10 become applicable.

[3] Because a lawyer who is representing a client in the
circumstances addressed by this Rule ordinarily is not able to
check systematically for conflicts of interest, paragraph (a)
requires compliance with Rules 1.7 or 1.9(a) only if the lawyer
knows that the representation presents a conflict of interest for
the lawyer, and with Rule 1.10 only if the lawyer knows that
another lawyer in the lawyer's firm is disqualified by Rules 1.7
or 1.9(a) in the matter.

Comments to ABA Rule
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(2) maintain such information
in a manner that would
render it access ble to the
lawyers in the firm.

(1) disclose confidential
information of the pro bono
client to the lawyers in the
firm; or

(b) Lawyers in a firm with a
lawyer providing, or offering
to provide, limited pro bono
legal services shall not be
prohibited by the imputation
provisions of Rules 1.06,
1.07, and 1.09 from
representing a client if that
lawyer does not:

Texas Rule Language

[7] Subparagraph (b)(2) covers the retention of documents or
other memorialization of confidential information, such as the
pro bono lawyer’s notes, whether in paper or electronic form.
To prevent imputation, a pro bono lawyer who retains
confidential information is required by subparagraph (b)(2) to
segregate and store it in such a way that no other lawyer in
the pro bono lawyer’s firm can access it, either physically or
electronically.

[6] To prevent a conflict of interest arising from limited pro
bono legal services from being imputed to the other lawyers in
the firm, subparagraph (b)(1) requires that the pro bono
lawyer not disclose to any lawyer in the firm any confidential
information related to the pro bono representation.

[5] Paragraph (b) provides that a conflict of interest arising
from a lawyer’s representation covered by this Rule will not be
imputed to the lawyers in the pro bono lawyer’s firm if the pro
bono lawyer complies with subparagraphs (b)(1) or (2).

Paragraph b

Proposed Comments to Texas Rule
(b) Except as provided in
paragraph (a)(2), Rule 1.10 is
inapplicable to a
representation governed by
this Rule.

ABA Rule Language

[4] Because the limited nature of the services significantly
reduces the risk of conflicts of interest with other matters
being handled by the lawyer's firm, paragraph (b) provides
that Rule 1.10 is inapplicable to a representation governed by
this Rule except as provided by paragraph (a)(2). Paragraph
(a)(2) requires the participating lawyer to comply with Rule
1.10 when the lawyer knows that the lawyer's firm is
disqualified by Rules 1.7 or 1.9(a). By virtue of paragraph (b),
however, a lawyer's participation in a short-term limited legal
services program will not preclude the lawyer's firm from
undertaking or continuing the representation of a client with
interests adverse to a client being represented under the
program's auspices.

Comments to ABA Rule
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(2) the applicant’s provision of the eligibility
information was conditioned on the
applicant’s informed consent that providing
this information would not by itself prohibit a
representation of another client adverse to the
applicant.

(1) the eligibility information is not material to
the legal matter, or

(c) The eligibility information that an applicant
is required to provide when applying for free
legal services or limited pro bono legal
services from a program described in
subparagraph (d)(1) by itself will not create a
conflict of interest if:

Texas Rule Language

[10] Rule 1.05 continues to apply to the use or disclosure of all confidential
information provided during an intake interview. Similarly, Rule 1.09 continues
to apply to the representation of a person in a matter adverse to the applicant.
Notably, Rule 1.05(c)(2) permits a lawyer to use or disclose information
provided during an intake interview if the applicant consents after consultation
to such use or disclosure, and Rule 1.09(a)(3) permits a lawyer to represent a
person adverse to the applicant in the same or a substantially related matter if
the applicant consents to such a representation.

[9] The first situation where the paragraph (c) exception is available is where
none of the eligibility information is material to an issue in the legal matter.
Alternatively, under subparagraph (c)(2), if the applicant provided confidential
information after giving informed consent that the elig bility information would
not proh bit the persons or entities identified in the consent from representing
any other present or future client, then the eligibility information alone will not
proh bit the representation. The lawyer should document the receipt of such
informed consent, though a formal writing is not required. What constitutes
informed consent is discussed in the comments to Rule 1.06.

[8] Paragraph (c) recognizes the unusual and uniquely sensitive personal
information that applicants for free legal assistance may be required to
provide. Organizations that receive funding to provide free legal assistance to
low-income clients are generally required, as a condition of their funding, to
screen the applicants for eligibility and to document eligibility for services paid
for by those funding sources. Unlike other lawyers, law firms, and legal
departments, these organizations ask for confidential information to determine
an applicant’s eligibility for free legal assistance and are required to maintain
records of such eligibility determinations for potential audit by their funding
sources. Required eligibility information typically includes income, asset
values, marital status, citizenship or immigration status, and other facts the
applicant may consider sensitive. Paragraph (c) provides a limited exception
to the normal conflict of interest rules that apply to potential clients when an
applicant provides this information. This exception is available only in the two
situations described in subparagraphs (c)(1) and (c)(2).

Paragraph c

Proposed Comments to Texas Rule

ABA Rule Language

Comments to ABA Rule
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(3) provided without any expectation of
extended representation of the limited
assistance client or of receiving any legal fees
in that matter.

(2) short-term services such as legal advice
or other brief assistance with pro se
documents or transactions, provided either in
person or by phone, hotline, internet, or video
conferencing; and

(1) provided through a pro bono or assisted
pro se program sponsored by a court, bar
association, accredited law school, or
nonprofit legal services program;

(d) As used in this Rule, “limited pro bono
legal services” means legal services that are:

Texas Rule Language

[14] The third element of the definition, set forth in subparagraph (d)(3), is that
the services are offered and provided without any expectation of either
extended representation or the collection of legal fees in the matter. Before
agreeing to proceed in the representation beyond “limited pro bono legal
services,” the lawyer should evaluate the potential conflicts of interest that may
arise from the representation as with any other representation. Likewise, the
exceptions in paragraphs (a) and (b) do not apply if the lawyer expects to
collect any legal fees in the limited assistance matter.

[13] The second element of “limited pro bono legal services,” set forth in
subparagraph (d)(2) is designed to ensure that the services offered are so
limited in time and scope that there is little risk that conflicts will arise between
clients represented through the program and other clients of the lawyer or the
lawyer’s firm.

[12] This Rule applies only to services offered through a program that meets
one of the descriptions in subparagraph (d)(1), regardless of the nature and
amount of support provided. Some programs may be jointly sponsored by
more than one of the listed sponsor types.

Paragraph d

Proposed Comments to Texas Rule

ABA Rule Language

Comments to ABA Rule
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Texas Rule Language

(e) As used in this Rule, a
lawyer is not “in a firm” with
other lawyers solely because
the lawyer provides limited
pro bono legal services with
the other lawyers.

Proposed Comments to Texas Rule

[15] Lawyers are not deemed to be part of the same firm
simply because they volunteer through the same pro bono
program. Nor will the personal prohibition of a lawyer
participating in a pro bono program be imputed to other
lawyers participating in the program solely by reason of that
volunteer connection.

Paragraph e

ABA Rule Language

Comments to ABA Rule
[4] Nor will the personal disqualification of a lawyer
participating in the program be imputed to other lawyers
participating in the program.
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STATE BAR OF TEXAS

November 30, 2015
Board of Directors
State Bar of Texas
1414 Colorado
Austin, Texas 78701
RE: Proposed Disciplinary Rule of Professional Conduct 6.05
Dear Directors,
On behalf of the State Bar’s Pro Bono Workgroup, we write in support of the State Bar of Texas Committee on the
Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct’s (Committee) proposed Rule 6.05 addressing conflicts of interest
during the provision of limited pro bono legal services.
As you may know, the Pro Bono Workgroup was formed in 2013 with the mission of enhancing the culture of pro
bono service in Texas. The adoption of a rule that addresses conflicts of interest during the provision of limited
pro bono legal services is a priority for our Workgroup. The issue of conflicts in settings such as legal advice clinics
is a barrier to pro bono service that is repeatedly raised both by lawyers and legal aid providers alike. We believe
that adopting a rule clarifying the issue of conflicts in these limited settings will increase the number of lawyers
who are willing and able to provide pro bono legal services, and increase the numbers of low-income Texans who
receive the legal assistance they need.
The Pro Bono Workgroup supports the Committee’s proposed rule 6.05 because it does a good job of balancing
the important issue of conflicts of interest with the realities of providing limited pro bono legal services at a pro
bono clinic or similar setting. Additionally, the Committee’s proposed rule clarifies and improves upon Model Rule
6.5 in important ways that we believe will make the rule successful in Texas.
Removing barriers to pro bono service is a critical issue if we intend to make strides in addressing the “justice gap”
in our state. Adopting proposed rule 6.05 will remove a significant barrier preventing many attorneys from
participating in pro bono efforts. Therefore, we strongly support the Committee’s proposed Rule 6.05, and
respectfully request that the Board takes the necessary steps for adopting the rule without delay.
Sincerely,

Terry Tottenham
Former SBOT President
Co-chair Pro Bono Workgroup

Roland K. Johnson
Former SBOT President
Co-chair Pro Bono Workgroup
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MINUTES EXHIBIT E

State Bar of Texas
(A Component Unit of the State of Texas)
Report to the Board of Directors
December 17, 2019

December 17, 2019
To the Board of Directors
State Bar of Texas
Austin, Texas

811 Barton Springs Rd
Suite 550
Austin, TX 78704
T +1 512 476 0717
F +1 512 476 0462
www.rsmus.com

We are pleased to present this report related to our audit of the basic financial statements of the
State Bar of Texas (the State Bar), a component unit of the State of Texas, as of and for the year ended
May 31, 2019. This report summarizes certain matters required by professional standards to be
communicated to you in your oversight responsibility for the State Bar’s financial reporting process.
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors and management and
is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. It will be our
pleasure to respond to any questions you have about this report. We appreciate the opportunity to
continue to be of service to the State Bar of Texas.
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Required Communications
Generally accepted auditing standards (AU-C 260, The Auditor’s Communication With Those Charged
With Governance) require the auditor to promote effective two-way communication between the auditor
and those charged with governance. Consistent with this requirement, the following summarizes our
responsibilities regarding the financial statement audit, as well as observations arising from our audit that
are significant and relevant to your responsibility to oversee the financial reporting process.
Area

Comments

Our Responsibilities With
Regard to the Financial
Statement Audit

Our responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America have been described to you in our
arrangement letter dated May 13, 2019. Our audit of the financial
statements does not relieve management or those charged with
governance of their responsibilities, which are also described in that
letter.

Overview of the Planned
Scope and Timing of the
Financial Statement Audit

We have issued a separate communication, dated May 13, 2019,
regarding the planned scope and timing of our audit and identified
significant risks.

Accounting Policies and
Practices

Preferability of Accounting Policies and Practices
Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, in certain circumstances, management may select among
alternative accounting practices. In our view, in such circumstances,
management has selected the preferable accounting practice.
Adoption of, or Change in, Accounting Policies
Management has the ultimate responsibility for the appropriateness of
the accounting policies used by the State Bar. A summary of
significant accounting policies adopted by the State Bar is included in
Note 1 to the financial statements. The State Bar did not adopt any
significant new accounting policies during the year ended May 31,
2019, other than the required initial adoption of Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 75, Accounting
and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than
Pensions (OPEB). The adoption decreased beginning net position by
$50,530,389.
Significant or Unusual Transactions
We did not identify any significant or unusual transactions or
significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for
which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.
Management’s Judgments and Accounting Estimates
Summary information about the process used by management in
formulating particularly sensitive accounting estimates and about our
conclusions regarding the reasonableness of those estimates is in the
attached Summary of Significant Accounting Estimates.

Audit Adjustments

Audit adjustments, other than those that are clearly trivial, proposed
by us and recorded by the State Bar are shown in the attached
Summary of Recorded Audit Adjustments.

Uncorrected Misstatements

Uncorrected misstatements are summarized in the attached Summary
of Uncorrected Misstatements.
1

Area

Comments

Disagreements With
Management

We encountered no disagreements with management over the
application of significant accounting principles, the basis for
management’s judgments on any significant matters, the scope of the
audit or significant disclosures to be included in the basic financial
statements.

Departure From the Auditor’s
Standard Report

The auditor’s report included an emphasis of matters, which related to
the restatements of GASB Statement No. 75 and restatements for
beginning net position of the governmental activities to correct an
error for a division previously excluded and correct an error for the
recognition of revenue related to minimum continuing legal education
(MCLE) fees. The State Bar also restated beginning fund balance of
the Sections and Divisions fund balance to correct an error for
recognition of a division previously excluded. Our opinions were not
modified with respect to these matters.

Consultations With Other
Accountants

We are not aware of any consultations management had with other
accountants about accounting or auditing matters.

Significant Issues Discussed
With Management

We discussed with management the restatement disclosed in the
financial statements in Note 14 related to the Paralegal Division and
MCLE revenue.

Significant Difficulties
Encountered in Performing
the Audit

We did not encounter any significant difficulties in dealing with
management during the audit

Letter Communicating
Material Weaknesses and a
Significant Deficiency in
Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting

We have separately communicated material weaknesses and a
significant deficiency in internal control over financial reporting
identified during our audit of the basic financial statements, and this
communication is attached as Exhibit A.

Significant Written
Communication Between
Management and Our Firm

A copy of a significant written communication between our firm and
management of the State Bar, the representation letter provided to us
by management, is attached as Exhibit B.

2

Summary of Significant Accounting Estimates
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the preparation of financial statements and are based upon
management’s current judgment. The process used by management encompasses its knowledge and
experience about past and current events, and certain assumptions about future events. Management
may wish to monitor throughout the year the process used to determine and record these accounting
estimates. The following describes the significant accounting estimates reflected in the State Bar’s
May 31, 2019, financial statements.

Estimate

Accounting Policy

Pension Expense and
Net Pension Liability

The State Bar
participates in the
Employees Retirement
System of Texas (ERS),
one of the three
retirement systems of
the state of Texas. ERS
is considered a single
employer defined
benefit pension plan.
For financial reporting
purposes, ERS is
treated as a costsharing plan, since each
participating employer
has an obligation to
contribute.

Management’s
Estimation Process
The net pension liability
was measured as of
August 31, 2018, and
the total pension liability
used to calculate the
net pension liability was
determined by an
actuarial valuation as of
that date. The State
Bar’s proportion of the
net pension liability was
based on contributions
to the pension plan
relative to contributions
of all employers to the
plan for the period from
September 1, 2017 to
August 31, 2018. The
assumptions include the
expected rate of
investment return on
retirement plan assets,
the interest rate used to
determine the present
value of liabilities and
certain employeerelated factors. The
employee-related
factors include turnover,
retirement age and
mortality. These factors,
the estimated discount
rate and the rate of
return on investments
are based upon
historical and general
market data.
Management reviewed
the actuarial result.

3

Basis for Our
Conclusions on
Reasonableness
of Estimate
We obtained the
actuarial valuation
calculations from ERS,
audited schedules and
State Auditor’s Office
auditor’s reports. We
recalculated the State
Bar’s balances. Our
internal actuarial
specialist team
performed a review of
the actuarial valuation.
Based on our
procedures, we
concluded the
assumptions are
reasonable.

Estimate

Management’s
Estimation Process

Accounting Policy

Basis for Our
Conclusions on
Reasonableness
of Estimate

OPEB Expense and
Net OPEB Liability

The State Bar
participates in the State
Retiree Health Plan
(SRHP) administered by
ERS. SRHP is a costsharing multiple
employer
postemployment health
plan with a special
funding situation.

The total OPEB liability
was measured as of
August 31, 2018, and
was determined by an
actuarial valuation as of
that date. The State
Bar’s proportion of the
total OPEB liability was
based on contributions
to the plan relative to
contributions of all
employers to the plan
for the period from
September 1, 2017 to
August 31, 2018.
Management reviewed
the actuarial results.

Fair Value of
Investments

Investments, other than
CDs, are recorded at
fair value.

If available, quoted market
prices are used to value
instruments. Securities
traded on a national or
international exchange are
valued at the last reported
sales price at current
exchange rates.
Investments in debt
securities are valued
using a yield-based matrix
pricing model.

We tested the fair
value and estimated
fair value of the
investments by
verifying the quoted
market prices used
and using a valuation
specialist to price
marketable securities.
We concluded the
estimates are
reasonable.

Depreciable Useful
Life of Capital Assets

The depreciable useful
life of capital assets is
set at the estimated
useful life of the related
asset.

The determination is
made at the time the asset
is placed into service and
involves various
judgments and
assumptions based on
prior experience.

We tested the
estimated useful lives
and salvage values to
the State Bar’s policy.
We believe the
estimates used by
management of the
State Bar are
reasonable.

Allowance for
Doubtful Accounts

Receivables are
recorded gross of
accounts receivable net
an allowance for
doubtful accounts.

The allowance is adjusted
as information about
specific accounts
becomes available. The
State Bar also compares
the current allowance
amounts to prior-year
collection or write-off
experience.

We tested the
underlying information
supporting this
allowance, including
the most recent aging
reports and collection
experience. We
believe management’s
estimate is
reasonable.
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We obtained the
actuarial valuation
calculations from ERS,
audited schedules and
State Auditor’s Office
auditor’s reports. We
recalculated the State
Bar’s balances. Our
internal actuarial
specialist team
performed a review of
the actuarial valuation.
Based on our
procedures, we
concluded the
assumptions are
reasonable.

Summary of Recorded Audit Adjustments
Number
AJE 1
AJE 1

Name

Account No.

Allowance for Returns
Estimated Returns

03-0000-1350503-6100-40402-

Debit

Credit
$

$

(22,001)

22,001

Audit adjustment:
To reclassify allowance for return of book sales.
22,001
AJE 2
AJE 2

Net Position - Government wide
Accreditation fees/sponsor

01-0000-3000501-3800-40201-

(22,001)
(277,554)

277,554

Audit adjustment:
To restate MCLE revenue incorrectly recorded
during the current year that related to prior year.
277,554
AJE 3
AJE 3
AJE 3
AJE 3
AJE 3
AJE 3
AJE 3
AJE 3
AJE 3
AJE 3
AJE 3
AJE 3
AJE 3
AJE 3
AJE 3

Fund Balance—Undesignated
Cash:Checking Account
Cash:Petty Cash
Cash:Certificates of Deposit (CD)
Cash:Money Market (RJ)
Accounts Receivable
Prepaid Expense:Postage—US Postal Service
Prepaid Expense:Texas Advance Paralegal Seminar
Prepaid Expense:Annual Meeting Expense
Accounts Payable
Deferred Income:Member Dues
Deferred Income:Advertising Income—TPJ
Deferred Income:TX Advanced Paralegal Seminar:TAPS
Deferred Income:Annual Meeting Income
Sales Tax Payable

32000
10005
10010
10015
10020
11000
12005
12010
12035
20000
22005
22010
22019
22030
25500

(277,554)
(459,607)

212,311
1,000
266,258
41,023
9,201
778
1,288
(33)
263
(67,858)
(940)
5,935
(9,405)
(214)

Audit adjustment:
To restate beginning fund balance for Paralegal
Division incorrectly unrecorded.
538,057
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(538,057)

Summary of Uncorrected Misstatements
During the course of our audit, we accumulated uncorrected misstatements that were determined by
management to be immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial position, results of
operations, cash flows and related financial statement disclosures. Following is a summary of those
differences:
Statement of
Activities—Governmental
Activities/Balance Sheet—
Governmental Funds

Description

Assets

Statement of Activities-Governmental
Activities/Statements of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Fund Balance—Governmental Funds
Net Change in Net
Position/Fund
Expenses/
Balance
Expenditures
Revenue

Liabilities

Net Position/Fund
Balance

General Fund:
Overstatement of other income for portion of LRIS annual
membership attributable to the year ended 2020 (factual)
Overstatement of other income for portion of LRIS annual
membership attributable to the year ended 2020 (projected)
Overstatement of prepaid expenses as of May 31, 2019
understatement of expenses for the year ended 2019
Subtotals for General Fund

$

-

$

(72)

-

$

(54,625)
(54,625)

$

(35,430)
(35,502)

$

$

Statement of
Activities—Governmental
Activities/Balance Sheet—
Governmental Funds

Description

Assets

Sections and Divisions:
Adjustment for improperly recorded interest from CD as of May 31,
2019
$
Adjustment for improperly recorded interest from Cash as of May 31,
2018
Adjustment for improperly recorded interest from CD as of May 31,
2018
Subtotals for Sections and Division

Governmental Activities:
To record factual misstatement for accrued rent liability for
escalating rent payments.
Subtotals for governmental activities

$

$

-

$

35,502

-

$

-

$

$

-

(15,840)
19,662

$

70,465
70,465

Cumulative misstatements for General Fund

$

90,127

$

(15,840)
(15,840)

72
35,430

$

Statement of Activities-Governmental
Activities/Statements of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Fund Balance—Governmental Funds
Net Change in Net
Expenses/
Position/Fund
Expenditures
Balance
Revenue

Liabilities

4,002

72
35,430

-

$

(4,002)

$

(4,002)

Net Position/Fund
Balance

$

-

(3,798)

-

-

-

-

3,798

6,349

-

-

-

-

(6,349)

6,553

$

-

$

-

$

(4,002)

$

(4,002)

$

(2,551)

Cumulative misstatements for Sections and Divisions

$

(6,553)

$
$

-

$
$

(170,573)
(170,573)

$
$

-

$
$

24,520
24,520

$
$

24,520
24,520

$
$

146,053
146,053

$

-

$

(170,573)

$

-

$

24,520

$

24,520

$

146,053

$

170,573

Cumulative misstatements for governmental activities
Statement of
Activities—Business Type
Activities/Statement of Net
Position—Proprietary Fund
Description
Business-Type Activities and Book Fund:
To reduce cost of goods sold from royalties to Sections for amounts
attributable to the year ended 2018.
$
To reduce revenue and accounts receivable from book sales that did
not have available support for the year ended 2019.
Subtotals for business-type activities
$

Assets

Statement of Activities-Business-Type
Activities/Statements of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Net Position—Proprietary Fund
Net Change in
Net Position
Revenue
Expenses

Liabilities

(6,732)
(6,732)

$

-

$

$

-

$

$

(21,191)

$

(21,191)

$

21,191

$

(21,191)

$

6,732
(14,459)

$

21,191

Cumulative misstatements for business-type activities and book fund

$

6,732

6

-

Net Position

6,732
6,732

Exhibit A—Letter Communicating Material Weaknesses and a
Significant Deficiency in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

December 17, 2019
To Management and the Board of Directors
State Bar of Texas
Austin, Texas

811 Barton Springs Rd
Suite 550
Austin, TX 78704
T +1 512 476 0717
F +1 512 476 0462
www.rsmus.com

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the State Bar of Texas (the State Bar)
as of and for the year ended May 31, 2019, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America, we considered the State Bar’s internal control over financial reporting
(internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for
the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the State Bar’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the State Bar’s internal control.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies. Therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not
identified. However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we
consider to be material weaknesses and a significant deficiency.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A deficiency in design exists when (a) a control
necessary to meet the control objective is missing or (b) an existing control is not properly designed so
that, even if the control operates as designed, the control objective would not be met. A deficiency in
operation exists when a properly designed control does not operate as designed or when the person
performing the control does not possess the necessary authority or competence to perform the control
effectively.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is
a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be
prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We consider the following deficiencies in the State
Bar’s internal control to be material weaknesses.
Restatement of Sections and Divisions
During the fiscal year 2019, as part of the State Bar management team’s continued due diligence,
management concluded the Paralegal Division, which had been historically omitted from the State Bar’s
reporting, should be included in the State Bar’s financial statements (i.e., primary government) under the
Sections and Divisions major fund opinion unit. As a result of the omission of the division, ending fund
balance for the Sections and Division major fund opinion unit and ending net position for governmental
activities for the prior year ended May 31, 2018, were understated by $459,609. As a result of the
material misstatement as of May 31, 2018, the beginning fund balance and net position were restated to
correct the error.

To Management and the Board of Directors
State Bar of Texas
December 17, 2019
Page 2

We recommend the State Bar consider the impact and application of Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) standards for defining of the financial reporting entity and review each new
section or division for determination of whether the entity should be included in the State Bar’s financial
statements.
Restatement of Government Wide—Charges for Services—Member Service Minimum Continuing
Legal Education (MCLE) Revenue
During the prior year, the MCLE department transitioned to a new tracking/billing system. As a result of
the transition to the new system, some of the fees associated with MCLE, including accreditation fees,
fines, etc., were not being billed due to implementation delays. This appears to be a breakdown in
communication regarding financial reporting, as accounting management was not made aware in a
timely basis of the situation. As a result, revenue was inadvertently recorded in fiscal year 2019 that was
earned in fiscal year 2018. This action caused an understatement of MCLE revenue, an understatement
of the change in net position of the governmental activities and an understatement of the ending net
position for governmental activities for the prior year ended May 31, 2018, each in the amount of
$277,554.
We recommend the State Bar consider the impact and application of accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) revenue recognition standards for all revenue to
ensure revenue is being recognized in the appropriate period and any implementation of new systems
include accounting management throughout the process.
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with
governance. We consider the following deficiency in the State Bar’s internal control to be a significant
deficiency.
Law Practice Resource Management Reserve for Returns
During our audit of the Law Practice Resource Management fund, we noted the controls in place to
determine the calculation and reporting of the reserve for return of items sold were not designed
effectively to detect or prevent an overstatement of revenue and accounts receivable in the amount of
$22,001.
Although the calculation and presentation of the reserve in the financial statements was corrected, we
recommend a re-evaluation of the controls over the methodology to calculate and report the reserve to
avoid misstatements.
Following are descriptions of other identified deficiencies in internal control that we determined did not
constitute significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.
Law Practice Resource Management Financial Records
During our audit of the Law Practice Resource Management fund, we noted following issues:


Documentation was not being retained to support the date that digital auto-supplements download
instructions had been mailed to the customer as of the date of revenue recognition. Documentation of
the date of the invoices and the date the customer signed up to receive the auto-supplement was
retained as support; however, because the date the customer receives the download was not
available, we noted approximately $6,700 of book revenue that we could not determine was
appropriately recognized as revenue during the year ended May 31, 2019.

To Management and the Board of Directors
State Bar of Texas
December 17, 2019
Page 3



Controls were not designed or implemented to detect costs of goods sold related to royalties in a
timely manner. Management identified and corrected the unrecorded cost of goods sold in the
amount of approximately $22,000; however, these unreported cost of goods sold for fiscal year
May 31, 2018, were recorded in fiscal year 2019 instead and, therefore, were not recorded in the
proper period. Management asserts that it has implemented additional procedures that will ensure
royalties are calculated in a timely manner going forward.

Although these deficiencies resulted in passed audit adjustments that were not material, we recommend
the State Bar’s management ensure transactions are being reported in the proper period.
General Fund Prepaid Expenses
During our audit of prepaid expenses recorded in the General Fund, we noted controls were not
implemented to appropriately prevent or detect amounts being incorrectly recognized as a prepaid
expense; however the expense should be recognized in the current period for costs associated with
future continued professional education courses. Because the General Fund is being reported under the
modified accrual basis of accounting under Governmental Accounting Standards, such period costs
should be expensed when incurred rather than capitalized. Management estimates the difference
between full accrual and modified accrual for course planning expenses is approximately $54,625.
Although this deficiency resulted in a passed audit adjustment that was not material, we recommend the
State Bar’s management perform a detailed review of amounts capitalized in governmental funds to
ensure such costs are recorded in accordance with the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Accrued Rent Liability
During our testing over leases, we noted controls were not implemented to prevent the omission of an
accrual for operating leases with escalating rent payments. U.S. GAAP requires lease expenses
associated with leases containing escalating rent provisions to be recorded in the financial statements
using a straight-line method with a resulting accrued rent liability in the government-wide financial
statements.
Although this deficiency resulted in a passed audit adjustment that was not material, we recommend the
State Bar’s management continue to monitor leases with escalating rent payments to ensure the
calculated accrued rent liability is not material to the financial statements.
This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Board of Directors
and others within the State Bar and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than
these specified parties.

Exhibit B—Significant Written Communication Between Management
and Our Firm
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of Directors
State Bar of Texas
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the State Bar of Texas (the
State Bar), a component unit of the State of Texas, as of and for the year ended May 31, 2019, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the State Bar’s basic financial
statements, as listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.
Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the State Bar as of May 31, 2019, and the respective
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof, for the year then ended, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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Emphasis of Matters
As described in Note 14 to the basic financial statements, effective June 1, 2018, the State Bar
implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 75, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB), which restated beginning
net position of the governmental and business-type activities.
As described in Note 14, the State Bar restated beginning net position of the governmental activities and
beginning fund balance of Sections and Divisions special revenue fund to correct a revenue recognition
error and to correct an error in the financial reporting entity. Our opinions are not modified with respect to
these matters.
Other Matters
Required Supplemental Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis, statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance—budget
(GAAP basis) and actual—general fund, schedule of changes in State Bar’s proportionate share of net
pension liability and related ratios, schedule of employer contributions—net pension liability, schedule of
changes in State Bar’s proportionate share of total OPEB liability and related ratios, schedule of employer
contributions—total OPEB liability and related notes to required supplementary information, as listed in
the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information,
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by GASB, who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplemental information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Supplemental Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the State Bar’s basic financial statements. The combining balance sheet—nonmajor
governmental funds, combining statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances—
nonmajor governmental funds and the combining statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in
fund balances—governmental funds, as listed in the table of contents, are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.
The combining balance sheet—nonmajor governmental funds, combining statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances—nonmajor governmental funds and the combining statement
of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances—governmental funds are the responsibility of
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements, or to the basic financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, the other supplemental information, as listed in the table of contents, is
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Austin, Texas
December 17, 2019
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State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2019
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis is provided by management of the State Bar of Texas (State
Bar) to offer readers an overview and analysis of the financial activities of the State Bar for the fiscal year
ended May 31, 2019. This section is only an introduction and should be read in conjunction with the State
Bar’s financial statements, which immediately follow this section.
Financial Highlights


The State Bar is in a strong financial position with no debt carried on the balance sheet, strong and
consistent revenues and controlled expenses.



The State Bar complies with the Governmental Accounting Standards Board’s (GASB)
pronouncements, and has implemented GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions this year. This required a restatement
to the government-wide statement of net assets in the amount of ($47,498,566) in governmental
activities and ($3,031,823) in business-type activities. The State Bar participates in the Employee’s
Retirement System of Texas’ (ERS) plan to provide health insurance to its retirees. ERS is the plan
administrator and determines the amount of contributions that the State Bar and all other participating
state agencies must make to fund the plan. The State Bar has made all of the required contributions
to ERS. The amount of liability recorded represents the State Bar’s proportionate share of the plan’s
total postemployment benefit liability based on the State Bar’s total contributions made for its retired
employees. The amount of unfunded liability is not controlled or established by the State Bar. The
liability does not affect the governmental funds or the budget of the State Bar, unless ERS requires a
higher premium payment per employee. Historically, the premiums for employees and retirees have
increased gradually and the State Bar does not anticipate significant changes to the plan’s
administration as a result of this GASB requirement. The State Bar’s proportionate share of other
post-employment benefits (OPEB) liability decreased from fiscal year 2018 to fiscal year 2019
$5.4 million due to changes to a better than anticipated return on investment and a change in the
actuarial assumptions of the plan. See Note 11 regarding this adjustment and further disclosures on
the OPEB plan.



The assets of the State Bar were below its liabilities for fiscal year ended May 31, 2019, by
$64,082,706 (net position). This amount includes all State Bar-related assets, including the reserves,
all capital assets, all assets related to the Law Practice Resource Management, the Sections and
Divisions and all special revenue funds and capital project funds.



The State Bar’s total net position decreased by $4,024,584 from the end of fiscal year 2018 to the
end of fiscal year 2019. The decrease in net position was due to a $6.3 million entry to pension
expense.



As of the close of the current fiscal year, the State Bar’s governmental funds reported combined
ending fund balances of $36,075,301 an increase of $3,120,332 in comparison with the prior year.
This increase in fund balance is primarily due to the strong performance of TexasBarCLE,
membership dues and MCLE revenues. Of this amount, $14,898,339 is reserved for ongoing
expenses (unassigned fund balance). The amount includes the General Fund, the Client Security
Fund and the Sections and Divisions.



At the end of the current fiscal year, the fund balance for the General Fund was $17,749,877, or 43%
of the total General Fund expenditures for the year ended May 31, 2019. Of this amount, $1,992,084
is subject to the Board of Director’s (the Board) approval on how the funds may be used, and
$859,454 is nonspendable.
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State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2019
Overview of the Financial Statements
The State Bar’s basic financial statements are comprised of the following components: (1) the
government-wide financial statements, (2) the fund financial statements and (3) notes to the basic
financial statements. This report also contains required supplementary information in addition to the basic
financial statements themselves. Each one is described below.
Government-wide statements: The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide
readers with a broad overview of the State Bar’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector
business. The statements include all assets and liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting. The
government-wide financial statements are made up of the statement of net position and the statement of
activities. The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 16 through 18 of this report.
The statement of net position presents information on all the State Bar’s assets, liabilities and deferred
inflows/outflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position. Over time, increases or
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of the financial position of the State Bar is
improving and deteriorating.
The statement of activities presents information showing how the State Bar’s net position changed during
the most recent fiscal year. The statement of activities is presented on the full accrual basis. This means
that all changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change
occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Therefore, revenues and expenses are reported in
this statement for some items that will result in cash flows only in future fiscal periods (e.g., earned, but
unused vacation leave).
Both government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the State Bar that are principally
supported by dues and intergovernmental revenues (government activities) from other functions that are
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type
activities). The governmental activities of the State Bar include general government, public services,
member services and public protection. The business-type activities of the State Bar include the Law
Practice Resource Management.
Fund financial statements: A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The State Bar, like other state
and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related
legal requirements. The fund financial statements are made up of a balance sheet and a statement of
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances. The basic governmental fund financial statements
can be found on pages 19 through 27 of this report. All the funds of the State Bar can be divided into
three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.
The State Bar has three types of funds:


Governmental funds—Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources
available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s
near-term financing requirements.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2019
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term
financing decision. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement
of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.
The State Bar maintains 12 individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures
and changes in fund balances for the General Fund, the Client Security Fund and Sections and
Divisions, all of which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other nine governmental funds
are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. These nine funds are: Texas Board of Legal
Specialization Fund, Texas Bar College, Annual Meeting, Texas Law Center, Technology Fund,
Project Grants Fund, Hatton W. Sumners Grants Fund, Law Focused Education and Department of
Public Service. Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the
form of combining statements in the other supplemental information section of this report.
The State Bar adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund. A budgetary comparison
statement has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget.


Proprietary funds—The Law Practice Resource Management is the State Bar’s only proprietary fund.
It is an enterprise fund. An enterprise fund is used to report an entity’s business-type activities in the
government-wide financial statements. The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found
on pages 23 through 25 of this report.



Fiduciary funds—Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties
outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial
statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support the State Bar’s own
programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. The
fiduciary funds the State Bar has is an agency fund used to hold monies for donations received for
access to justice and the State Bar of Texas Insurance Trust, included as a blended component unit.
The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 26 through 27 of this report.

Notes to the financial statements: The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to
the basic financial statements can be found on pages 29 through 57 of this report.
Required supplemental information: In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying
notes, this report also presents certain required supplemental information. The State Bar adopts an
annual budget for its General Fund. A budgetary comparison statement has been provided for the
General Fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget. In addition, this includes required
supplemental information regarding the State Bar’s changes in its proportionate share of net pension
liability and related ratios and schedules of employer’s contributions. Required supplemental information
can be found on pages 60 through 71 of this report.
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Other supplemental information: In addition to the basic financial statements, accompanying notes and
required supplemental information this report also presents certain other supplemental information. The
combining balance sheet—nonmajor governmental funds and combining statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances—nonmajor governmental funds are provided to give
additional information for each nonmajor fund. The combining statement of revenues, expenditures and
changes in fund balances—governmental funds is provided to give additional information by expenditure
type. Other supplemental information is provided on pages 74 through 76.
Government-Wide Financial Analysis
Net position: The following table presents a summary of the State Bar’s net position as of May 31, 2019,
with comparison totals as of May 31, 2018:
Table A-1
The State Bar’s Net Position
Governmental Activities
2018
2019
Current and other assets
Capital assets, net
Total assets

$

49,327,146
6,953,989
56,281,135

7,350,376

$
$

$

20,944,131
89,240,459
110,184,590

$

$

$

55,407,484
6,305,122
61,712,606

Deferred outflows of resources

$

Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

$

Deferred inflows of resources
Net position (deficit):
Net investment in capital
assets
Unrestricted (deficit), as
restated
Total net position
(deficit)

$

$

$

1,909,201
35,322
1,944,523

469,173

$
$

$

157,967
5,698,645
5,856,612

1,758,945

$

6,869,434

$

$

$

742,969

$

7,819,549

$

12,382,816

$
$

21,102,098
94,939,104
116,041,202

$

$

129,406
3,686,344
3,815,750

$

17,585,884
61,416,268
79,002,152

1,158,446

$

112,273

$

19,307,519

$

1,871,218

35,322

$

35,322

$

6,302,460

$

6,904,756

11,639,847

$
$

$

17,456,478
57,729,924
75,186,402

18,149,073

$

6,267,138

$

(15,893,799)
$

(9,024,365)

$

(4,812,025)

$

(1,275,853)

(4,847,347)
$

2018
51,236,347
6,989,311
58,225,658

$

(59,270,681)

$

Total
2019
57,106,022
6,340,444
63,446,466

1,698,538
35,322
1,733,860

(65,537,819)
$

Business-Type Activities
2018
2019

$

(1,240,531)

$

(17,169,652)

(70,385,166)
$

(64,082,706)

$

(10,264,896)

The State Bar’s net position invested in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation (e.g., land,
buildings, furniture and equipment), less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still
outstanding reflects $6,302,460 of total net position. The State Bar uses these capital assets to provide
services to members; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the
State Bar’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the
resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.
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State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2019
Changes in net position: The following schedule shows the changes in net position for the year ended
May 31, 2019, with comparison totals for the year ended May 31, 2018. The difference between revenues
and expenses represents the change in net position.
Table A-2
Changes in the State Bar’s Net Position
Governmental Activities
2018
2019
Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and
contributions
General revenues:
Membership dues
Investment income
Royalty revenue
Other income
Loss on disposal of capital
assets
Total revenues

$

Expenses:
General government
Public services
Member services
Public protection
Books
Total expenses
Change in net
position
Net position (deficit) at beginning
of year, as restated
Net position (deficit) at end of
year
$

21,238,451

$

21,523,129

Business-Type Activities
2018
2019

$

2,288,252

2,052,850

1,621,158

24,804,055
1,018,343
1,525,878
538,501

23,038,553
448,156
1,291,089
242,749

8,993
1,138,780
-

(1,288)
51,176,790

(2,753)
48,162,081

10,597,640
4,979,973
24,876,303
14,207,787
54,661,703

9,803,273
4,916,027
24,364,583
13,612,929
52,696,812

(3,484,913)

(4,534,731)

(539,671)

(55,785,768)

(4,489,634)

(4,272,354)

(59,270,681)

$

(9,024,365)

$

7

2,295,723

$

-

2018

23,526,703

$

23,818,852

2,052,850

1,621,158

5,822
1,049,625
-

24,804,055
1,027,336
2,664,658
538,501

23,038,553
453,978
2,340,714
242,749

3,436,025

3,351,170

(1,288)
54,612,815

(2,753)
51,513,251

3,975,696
3,975,696

3,760,496
3,760,496

10,597,640
4,979,973
24,876,303
14,207,787
3,975,696
58,637,399

9,803,273
4,916,027
24,364,583
13,612,929
3,760,496
56,457,308

(409,326)

(4,024,584)

(4,944,057)

(831,205)

(60,058,122)

(5,320,839)

-

$

Total
2019

(4,812,025)

$

(1,240,531)

$

(64,082,706)

$

(10,264,896)

State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2019
Expenses and Program Revenues—Governmental Activities

$30,000,000
$24,876,303
$25,000,000
$21,167,171
$20,000,000

$14,207,787

$15,000,000
$10,597,640
$10,000,000

$4,979,973

$5,000,000
$572,275

$847,876

$703,979

$0
General
Governmental

Public Services
Expenses

Member Services

Public Protection

Revenues

This chart depicts the program revenues and expenses, as presented in the statement of activities on
page 18 of the financial statements. These represent the revenues and related expenses for these
programs. The State Bar also collects membership dues, investment income, royalty revenue and other
income that totaled $27,885,489 for the year ended May 31, 2019.
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State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2019
Revenues by Source—Governmental Activities

Membership Dues
48%

Operating Grants
and Contributions
4%

Investment and
Other Income
3%

Royalty Revenue
3%
Charges for
Services
42%

Membership dues continue to be the primary source of revenue for the State Bar. Total membership dues
collections for fiscal year 2019 were $24,804,055 compared to $23,038,553 in the prior fiscal year. The
State Bar anticipates a slowing growth in the revenue from dues because the projected number of
licensed attorneys will likely stabilize over the next five years.
TexasBarCLE charges for services remain strong at $15,165,102 for fiscal year 2019 compared to
$13,941,859 in revenue from fiscal year 2018. The continuing legal education offered by TexasBarCLE
has continued to provide stable income for the State Bar to supplement other strategic goals that may not
generate revenue, but provide a valuable service to lawyers and the public of the State of Texas. Other
charges for services include Minimum Continuing Legal Education (MCLE) fees, Texas Board of Legal
Specialization fees and Bar Journal fees.
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State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2019
Business-type activities: Business-type activities decreased the State Bar’s net position by $539,671.
The Law Practice Resource Management Fund, which includes the Law Practice Resource Management,
shows steady income and expenses although the change in net position is slightly lower this year than
last years $(409,326). The revenue and expenses will fluctuate from year to year based on the number of
projects that are completed during the year. A breakdown of expenses and program revenues and
revenues by source type follows:
Expenses and Program Revenues—Business-Type Activities
$4,100,000
$4,000,000

$3,975,696

$3,900,000
$3,800,000
$3,700,000
$3,600,000
$3,500,000

$3,436,025

$3,400,000
$3,300,000
$3,200,000
$3,100,000
Expenses

Revenues
Book Fund
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State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2019
Revenues by Source—Business Activities

Charges for
Services
67%

Royalty and
Investment
Revenue
33%

The types of revenue for the State Bar’s business activities continues to be charges for the sale of Law
Practice Resource Management books, both online subscriptions and hard copies of practice manuals.
Additionally, Texas Bar Books receives royalties from Thompson Reuters on the sale of Law Practice
Resource Management books. These revenues are anticipated to remain stable.
Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds
As noted earlier, the State Bar uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with financerelated legal requirements.
Governmental funds: The focus of the State Bar’s governmental funds is to provide information on nearterm inflows, outflows and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the
State Bar’s financing requirements. In particular, undesignated fund balance may serve as a useful
measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.
At the end of the current fiscal year, the State Bar’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund
balances of $36,075,301, an increase of $3,120,332 in comparison with the prior year. Of this amount,
$1,242,740 is nonspendable for inventories and prepaid items and $19,934,222 is committed for specific
uses by the Board.
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the State Bar. At the end of the current fiscal year, the
total fund balance of the General Fund was $17,749,877, which is 84% unassigned. As a measure of the
General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare the unassigned fund balance to total fund
expenditures. Unassigned fund balance represents 36% of total General Fund expenditures. During the
current fiscal year, the fund balance of the State Bar’s General Fund increased by $2,041,627.
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State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2019
Proprietary funds: The State Bar’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the
government-wide financial statements, but in more detail.
At the end of the current fiscal year, net position of the Law Practice Management totaled ($4,812,025).
The total decrease in net position was ($539,671). Other factors concerning the finances of this fund have
already been addressed in the discussion of the State Bar’s business-type activities.
General Fund budgetary highlights: The State Bar’s actual revenue for the General Fund was
$2,115,379 above budgeted amounts. The most significant positive variances resulted from other income
revenue and professional development revenue, which were offset by a negative variance from
membership dues revenue. The State Bar’s actual expenditures for the General Fund were $2,502,656
below budgeted amounts. The most significant positive variance resulted from board commitment
expenditures.
Capital asset administration:
Capital assets: The State Bar’s investment in capital assets for its governmental activities and businesstype activities as of May 31, 2019, amounts to $6,340,444 (net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization). This investment in capital assets includes land; buildings and systems; and furniture,
equipment, digital publication and other assets.
Table A-3
State Bar’s Capital Assets
Governmental Activities
2018
2019
Land
Construction in progress
Building and systems, net
Furniture, equipment, digital
publication and other,
net

$

$

154,074
200,534
824,028

5,126,486
6,305,122

$

$

154,074
20,960
824,028

5,954,927
6,953,989

Business-Type Activities
2018
2019
$

-

35,322
35,322

$

$

$

Total
2018

2019
-

35,322
35,322

$

$

154,074
200,534
824,028

5,161,808
6,340,444

$

$

154,074
20,960
824,028

5,990,249
6,989,311

Additional information on the State Bar’s capital assets can be found in Note 2 on page 38 of this report.
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State Bar of Texas
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
May 31, 2019
Long-term liabilities: At the end of the current fiscal year, the State Bar had capital leases of $37,984
and accrued compensated absences of $1,618,914. The current portion of liabilities, or liabilities that are
due within one year include capital lease payments and estimated payouts of vacation leave to
employees. The following table presents a summary of the State Bar’s long-term liabilities for the year
ended May 31, 2019, with comparative information as of May 31, 2018:
Table A-4
State Bar’s Noncurrent Liabilities
Governmental Activities
2018
2019
Capital lease payable

$

Accrued compensated absences

37,984

$

Business-Type Activities
2018
2019

84,555

$

-

$

Total
2018

2019
-

$

37,984

$

84,555

1,521,492

1,467,752

97,422

95,363

1,618,914

1,563,115

Net pension liability

54,916,885

56,802,309

3,505,333

3,625,679

58,422,218

60,427,988

Total OPEB liability

34,376,046

Total liabilities

$

89,240,459

$

57,729,924

$

5,698,645

$

3,686,344

62,075,658

96,649,378

(34,698)

(98,326)

-

36,570,262

3,721,042

5,796,971

(624,692)

(1,611,948)

-

2,194,216

58,354,616

90,852,407

Less current portion
Total noncurrent
liabilities

-

(659,390)

(1,710,274)
$

94,939,104

$

61,416,268

Additional information on the State Bar’s noncurrent liabilities can be found in Note 5 on page 43 of this
report.
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget
For the General Fund, estimated revenues for fiscal year 2020 are $43,109,214 and estimated
expenditures and other uses are $42,464,914. If these estimates are realized, and the General Fund
transfers $1,488,800 to other funds as budgeted, the State Bar’s budgetary General Fund balance is
expected to decrease slightly due to the expenditures related to Board commitments of excess fund
balance.
Contacting the State Bar’s Financial Management
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the State Bar’s finances for all those
with an interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in
this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Finance Division
Director, State Bar of Texas, and P.O. Box 12487, Austin, Texas 78711.
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Basic Financial Statements

State Bar of Texas
Statement of Net Position
May 31, 2019
Governmental
Activities

Business-Type
Activities

Total

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents—cash in bank
Investments
Receivables:
Sales to members and others, net of an allowance
for uncollectibles of $2,300 and $46,023,
respectively
Interest receivable
Other accounts receivable
Internal balances
Inventories, net of obsolescence
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets

$

$

43,703
70,429
2,791,195
(741,033)
12,070
1,230,670
55,407,484

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:
Land
Construction in progress
Buildings, net
Furniture, fixtures, computer equipment,
software and other equipment, net
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

16,029,288
35,971,162

154,074
200,534
824,028

35,322
35,322
$

16,029,288
35,971,162

445,196
70,429
2,791,195
567,584
1,231,168
57,106,022

-

5,126,486
6,305,122
61,712,606

$

401,493
741,033
555,514
498
1,698,538

154,074
200,534
824,028

$

-

5,161,808
6,340,444

1,733,860

$

63,446,466

23,374
445,799

$

389,569
7,429,980

469,173

$

7,819,549

Deferred Outflows of Resources
OPEB related amounts
Pension related amounts
Total deferred outflows of resources

366,195
6,984,181
$

See notes to financial statements.
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7,350,376

$

Governmental
Activities

Business-Type
Activities

Total

Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Due to agency funds
Unearned revenue
Capital lease obligations
Total OPEB liability
Accrued compensated absences
Total current liabilities

$

Noncurrent liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences
Total OPEB liability
Net pension liability
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

1,432,829
741,191
803,650
16,354,513
37,984
961,247
612,717
20,944,131

50,606
9,035
61,356
36,970
157,967

908,775
33,414,799
54,916,885
89,240,459

60,452
2,132,860
3,505,333
5,698,645

969,227
35,547,659
58,422,218
94,939,104

5,856,612

$ 116,041,202

849,297
309,149

$

14,155,036
5,152,483

$ 110,184,590

$

$

1,432,829
791,797
803,650
16,363,548
37,984
1,022,603
649,687
21,102,098

Deferred Inflows of Resources
OPEB related amounts
Pension related amounts
Total deferred inflows of resources

$

13,305,739
4,843,334

$

18,149,073

$

1,158,446

$

19,307,519

$

6,267,138
(65,537,819)

$

35,322
(4,847,347)

$

6,302,460
(70,385,166)

$ (59,270,681)

$

(4,812,025)

$ (64,082,706)

Net Position (Deficit)
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted (deficit)
Total net position (deficit)
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State Bar of Texas
Statement of Activities
Year Ended May 31, 2019

Functions/Programs
Primary government:
Governmental activities:
General government
Public services
Member services
Public protection
Total governmental activities

Program Revenues
Operating
Charges for
Grants and
Services
Contributions

Expenses

$

Business-type activities:
Books
Total business-type activities

10,597,640
4,979,973
24,876,303
14,207,787
54,661,703

$

$

$

$ (10,025,365)
(4,132,097)
(3,709,132)
(13,503,808)
(31,370,402)

(1,687,444)

(33,057,846)

General revenues:
Membership dues
Investment income
Royalty revenue
Other income
Loss on disposal of capital assets
Total general revenues

24,804,055
1,018,343
1,525,878
538,501
(1,288)
27,885,489

8,993
1,138,780
1,147,773

24,804,055
1,027,336
2,664,658
538,501
(1,288)
29,033,262

Change in net position

(3,484,913)

(539,671)

(4,024,584)

(55,785,768)

(4,272,354)

(60,058,122)

(4,812,025)

$ (64,082,706)

$

23,526,703

Net position (deficit) at beginning of year, as restated
Net position (deficit) at end of year

$

2,052,850

-

-

Total

(31,370,402)

58,637,399

-

$ (10,025,365)
(4,132,097)
(3,709,132)
(13,503,808)
(31,370,402)

Business-Type
Activities

(1,687,444)
(1,687,444)

$

2,288,252
2,288,252

420,217
1,632,633
2,052,850

Governmental
Activities

(1,687,444)
(1,687,444)

Total primary government activities

3,975,696
3,975,696

572,275
427,659
19,534,538
703,979
21,238,451

Net (Expenses) Revenues and Changes in Net Position

$ (59,270,681)

See notes to financial statements.
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State Bar of Texas
Balance Sheet—Governmental Funds
May 31, 2019

General
Fund

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

Sections and
Divisions

Total
Governmental
Funds

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents—cash in bank
Investments
Receivables:
Sales to members and others, net of an allowance
for uncollectibles of $2,300
Interest receivable
Other accounts receivable
Due from other governmental funds
Inventories
Prepaid items
Total assets

$

4,741,370
27,777,845

$

43,703
48,448
2,727,131
681,438
12,070
847,384

7,277,090
1,608,020

$

190
57,121
1,021,722
44,188

4,010,828
6,585,297

$

21,791
6,943
685,690
339,098

16,029,288
35,971,162

43,703
70,429
2,791,195
2,388,850
12,070
1,230,670

$

36,879,389

$

10,008,331

$

11,649,647

$

58,537,367

$

1,273,484
733,415
1,707,412
741,033
803,650
13,870,518
19,129,512

$

159,345
1,624,637
1,783,982

$

7,776
681,438
859,358
1,548,572

$

1,432,829
741,191
2,388,850
741,033
803,650
16,354,513
22,462,066

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Due to other governmental funds
Due to enterprise fund
Due to agency fund
Unearned revenue
Total current liabilities
Fund balances:
Nonspendable
Committed
Unassigned
Total fund balances
Total liabilities and fund balances

859,454
1,992,084
14,898,339
17,749,877
$

36,879,389

See notes to financial statements.
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44,188
8,180,161
8,224,349
$

10,008,331

339,098
9,761,977
10,101,075
$

11,649,647

1,242,740
19,934,222
14,898,339
36,075,301
$

58,537,367

State Bar of Texas
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position
May 31, 2019

Total fund balance—Governmental Funds balance sheet
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are difference
because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore,
are not reported in the funds
The following liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are
not reported in the funds:
Net pension liability
OPEB liability
Capital lease payable
Accrued compensated absences
Deferred outflows related to net OPEB liability
Deferred inflows related to net OPEB liability
Deferred outflows related to net pension liability
Deferred inflows related to net pension liability
Net position of governmental activities—statement of net position

See notes to financial statements.
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$

36,075,301

6,305,122

(54,916,885)
(34,376,046)
(37,984)
(1,521,492)
366,195
(13,305,739)
6,984,181
(4,843,334)
$ (59,270,681)

State Bar of Texas
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance—Governmental Funds
Year Ended May 31, 2019

General
Fund
Revenues:
Membership dues
Accounting and management fees
Texas Bar Journal
MCLE fees
Professional development
Minority affairs
Investment income
Grant revenue
Member benefits
Website
Advertising review
CDC disciplinary fees
Other income
Total revenues

$

Expenditures:
Executive
Member and public service
Professional development
Legal and attorney services
Access to justice commission
Member benefits and research
Attorney compliance
Operations and security division
Finance and information technology
Communications
Public protection
Special services
Expenditures related to Board commitments
Capital outlay
Debt service:
Principal
Interest
Total expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources (uses)

$

Fund balances at beginning of year, as restated
$

2,578,252
889,944
52,272
935,373
4,455,841

$

1,356,500
234,582
477,183
855,298
2,923,563

Total
Governmental
Funds
$

24,804,055
650,351
455,789
3,804,158
15,165,102
413,301
1,018,343
477,183
899,972
588,026
351,895
703,979
2,809,520
52,141,674

2,847,822
2,921,219
9,874,714
1,655,781
682,368
226,993
1,879,500
1,256,653
5,237,290
2,310,939
10,731,471
1,207,093
-

4,075,412
-

35,580
761,480
661,159
2,425,495
179,574

2,847,822
2,921,219
9,874,714
1,655,781
682,368
226,993
1,879,500
1,292,233
5,998,770
2,310,939
11,392,630
6,500,907
1,207,093
179,574

40,831,843

4,075,412

46,571
4,228
4,114,087

46,571
4,228
49,021,342

3,930,427

380,429

(1,190,524)

3,120,332

1,888,800
1,888,800

1,888,800
(1,888,800)
-

(1,888,800)
(1,888,800)

Net change in fund balances

Fund balances at end of year

20,869,303
650,351
455,789
3,804,158
14,275,158
413,301
731,489
899,972
588,026
351,895
703,979
1,018,849
44,762,270

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

Sections and
Divisions

-

2,041,627

380,429

698,276

3,120,332

15,708,250

7,843,920

9,402,799

32,954,969

17,749,877

See notes to financial statements.
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$

8,224,349

$

10,101,075

$

36,075,301

State Bar of Texas
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance of the
Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
Year Ended May 31, 2019

Net change in fund balance—total Governmental Funds
$
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different
because:
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources
are not reported as revenues in the funds
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures; however, in the statement of
activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as
depreciation and amortization expense:
Capital outlay—exclusive of noncapitalized items
Depreciation and amortization expense
Loss on disposal of capital assets
Proceeds from capital leases provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but
issuing debt increases noncurrent liabilities in the statement of net position; repayment of
capital leases is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces
noncurrent liabilities in the statement of net position:
Repayment of capital leases
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds:
Change in pension liability and related deferred inflows and outflows
Change in OPEB liability and related deferred inflows and outflows
Change in compensated absences
Change in net position of governmental activities—statement of activities

See notes to financial statements.
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$

3,120,332

(277,554)

207,034
(854,613)
(1,288)

46,571

(5,854,631)
182,976
(53,740)
(3,484,913)

State Bar of Texas
Statement of Net Position—Proprietary Fund
May 31, 2019
Law Practice
Resource
Management
Assets
Current assets:
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for uncollectibles of $46,023
Due from other funds
Inventories, net of obsolescence
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets

$

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets—furniture, fixtures, computer equipment, digital publication and other equipment, net of
accumulated depreciation and amortization of $318,315
Total assets

401,493
741,033
555,514
498
1,698,538

35,322
$

1,733,860

$

23,374
445,799
469,173

Deferred Outflows of Resources
OPEB related amounts
Pension related amounts
Total deferred outflows of resources
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accrued liabilities
Unearned revenue
Total OPEB liability
Accrued compensated absences
Total current liabilities

$

Noncurrent liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences
Total OPEB liability
Net pension liability
Total noncurrent liabilities

50,606
9,035
61,356
36,970
157,967

60,452
2,132,860
3,505,333
5,698,645

Total liabilities

$

5,856,612

$

849,297
309,149
1,158,446

Deferred Inflows of Resources
OPEB related amounts
Pension related amounts
Total deferred inflows of resources
Net Position (Deficit)
Investment in capital assets
Unrestricted (deficit)
Total net position (deficit)

See notes to financial statements.
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$

35,322
(4,847,347)

$

(4,812,025)

State Bar of Texas
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position—Proprietary Fund
Year Ended May 31, 2019
Law Practice
Resource
Management
Operating revenues:
Charges for sales and services:
Book sales
Total operating revenues

$

2,288,252
2,288,252

Operating expenses:
Costs of goods sold
Salaries and benefits
Professional services
Administrative fee
Office, equipment, storage rentals
Postage and freight
Other administrative expenses
Total operating expenses

688,020
2,116,477
100,861
542,548
163,423
156,958
207,409
3,975,696

Operating loss

(1,687,444)

Nonoperating revenues:
Investment income
Royalty revenue
Total nonoperating revenues

8,993
1,138,780
1,147,773

Change in net position

(539,671)

Net position (deficit) at beginning of year, as restated

(4,272,354)

Net position (deficit) at end of year

$

See notes to financial statements.
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(4,812,025)

State Bar of Texas
Statement of Cash Flows—Proprietary Fund
Year Ended May 31, 2019
Law Practice
Resource
Management
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers for goods and services
Payments to employees
Net cash used in operating activities

$

Cash flows from noncapital financing:
Interfund transactions
Net cash used in noncapital financing

2,597,630
(2,109,011)
(1,335,620)
(847,001)

(300,772)
(300,772)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest received
Royalties received
Net cash provided by investing activities

8,993
1,138,780
1,147,773

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

-

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

$

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Operating loss
Bad-debt expense
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories, net of obsolescence
Prepaid expenses
Accrued liabilities
Unearned revenue
Accrued compensated absences
OPEB liability
Net pension liability

Net cash used in operating activities

$
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(1,687,444)
(17,575)

326,271
203,242
(498)
(44,107)
9,035
2,059
(974,257)
1,336,273
$

See notes to financial statements.

-

(847,001)

State Bar of Texas
Statement of Net Position—Fiduciary Funds
May 31, 2019

Agency Funds

State Bar of
Texas
Insurance Trust
Private-Purpose
Trust Fund

Assets
Cash in bank
Accounts receivable
Due from general fund

$

81,760
871,101

$

444,246
319,823
-

$

952,861

$

764,069

Due to general fund
Due to other organizations

$

952,861

$

67,451
310,273

Total liabilities

$

952,861

$

377,724

$

386,345

Total assets
Liabilities

Net position, held in trust for member group insurance benefits

See notes to financial statements.
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State Bar of Texas
Statement of Changes in Net Position—Fiduciary Funds
Year Ended May 31, 2019
State Bar of
Texas
Insurance Trust
Private-Purpose
Trust Fund
Additions:
Contributions of subscribers
Royalties
Service agreement revenue
Total additions

$

Deductions:
Premiums to insurance carrier
Accounting fees
Insurance
Rent
Service agreement fee
Total deductions

6,876,094
87,074
600,000
7,563,168

6,876,094
25,187
258,803
634
250,000
7,410,718

Income before income tax benefit

152,450

Income tax benefit
Change in net position

14,678
137,772

Net position at beginning of year

248,573

Net position at end of year

$

See notes to financial statements.
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386,345
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Notes to Financial Statements
Note 1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Reporting entity: The State Bar of Texas’ (the State Bar) enabling legislation, Texas Rev. Civ. Stat. Ann.
Art. 320a-l (Vernon Supp. 1986), provides the authority for operations of the State Bar. In 1939, the State
Bar was created by the State of Texas legislature. Located in the judicial branch of the State government,
its primary responsibility is to cooperate in the regulation of the practice of law in the State of Texas. The
State Bar is an administrative branch or department of the Supreme Court of Texas. This report includes
the funds and account groups required to account for those activities, organizations and functions which
are related to the State Bar and are controlled by the State Bar. The State Bar is included in the financial
statements of the State of Texas as a component unit.
The State Bar’s major activities or functions include the collection and monitoring of membership dues,
discipline of attorneys, development and accreditation of professional development courses, publishing
and printing of legal text for sale to members, preparation and distribution of the Bar Journal and
providing access to a database of legal information for member use. These activities are included in the
accompanying financial statements.
Component units: Component units are legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of
the primary government are financially accountable. Component units can also be other organizations for
which the nature and significance of their relationship with a primary government is such that exclusion
would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. In addition,
component units can be organizations that raise and hold economic resources for the direct benefit of a
government unit. Because of the closeness of their relationships with the primary government, some
component units are blended as though they are part of the primary government.
The State Bar appoints a majority of members to the Texas Bar Foundation’s (the Foundation), the Texas
Center for Legal Ethics’ (the Center) and the Texas Legal Protection Plan, Inc.’s. (the Plan) governing
body; however, because the State Bar is not in a position to impose its will on or significantly influence the
programs, projects, activities or level of service performed by the Foundation, Center and the Plan, and
because no financial burden or benefit exists between the State Bar and the Foundation, Center and the
Plan, they are not considered a component unit of the State Bar.
Blended component units: The relationship among the following component units and the State Bar is
such that it meets the criteria, as set forth in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus—an Amendment of GASB Statements
No. 14 and No. 34., for inclusion in the reporting entity and are such that the financial statements are
blended with those of the State Bar.
The Texas Bar College (the College) is an honor society designed to recognize attorneys who
accumulate at least twice as many continuing legal education credit hours each year than the minimum
required. The College was created in 1981 by order of the Texas Supreme Court. The College is
governed by an 18-member board of directors, of which, 12 members are appointed by the State Bar’s
President, and six members are appointed by the State Bar’s President based on nominations submitted
by the College’s board. The College is a section 501(c)(3) corporation and is funded through membership
dues, investment income and merchandise sales. The College is reported as a Special Revenue Fund
because the services it provides, exclusively benefits the State Bar.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Law Focused Education, Inc. was created in 1975 as a section 501(c)(3) corporation to plan, promote and
support law-related education programs aimed at preparing elementary, middle and high school students
for effective, responsible citizenship and who are committed to liberty, justice and the Rule of Law. Law
Focused Education, Inc. is governed by a 16-member board of directors, all of which are appointed by the
State Bar’s President. Law Focused Education, Inc. is made up of two funds: Hatton W. Sumners Grants
Fund and Law Focused Education, both of which are reported as Special Revenue Funds because the
services it provides, exclusively benefits the State Bar. Contact the Finance Division of the State Bar to
obtain financial statements of the blended component units.
The State Bar of Texas Insurance Trust and Affiliate, which consists of the State Bar of Texas Insurance
Trust (the Trust) and the SBIT Insurance Agency, LLC (the Agency). The State Bar of Texas Insurance
Trust and Affiliate is custodial in nature and is reported with the fiduciary fund financial statements as a
private purpose trust fund.
The State Bar evaluated GASB No. 61 and determined the Trust meets the criteria for inclusion in the
reporting entity as a bended component unit.
The Trust was formed in 1973 to provide group insurance benefits to members of the State Bar, including
their employees, employees of the State Bar and the Trust and families of all eligible participants.
Premiums for the group policies are collected by the Trust and are remitted to the insurance company,
Prudential Insurance Company of America (Prudential), who underwrites the State Bar of Texas
Insurance Program (the Program). Prudential is responsible for all claims.
The Agency was formed on January 11, 2005, as a general lines insurance agency. The Agency was
formed to assist employees of the State Bar, the Trust and the families of eligible participants in acquiring
insurance from companies other than those currently provided by the Trust. The Trust owns 100% of the
membership interest of the Agency and is, therefore, consolidated in its financial statements. All
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
Government-wide financial statements: The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement
of net position and the statement of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the
State Bar and are reported on a full accrual basis of accounting, using the economic resource
measurement focus, which recognizes all long-term assets and receivables, as well as long-term debt
and obligations. The effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. However,
interfund services provided and used are not eliminated in process of consolidation. Governmental
activities, which are supported by dues, fees, grants and other revenues, are reported separately from
business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.
The statement of net position presents the State Bar’s nonfiduciary assets and deferred outflows of
resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position.
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The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a
specific function or segment. All capital asset depreciation is reported as a direct expense of the financial
program that benefits from the use of the capital assets. Program revenues include (1) charges to
customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided
by a given function or segment and (2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Membership dues and other items
not required to be included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.
Membership dues are reported as general revenues as they are the primary revenue source of the State
Bar and attorneys are required to pay this membership due in order to practice law in the State of Texas.
Fund financial statements: The fund financial statements provide information about the State Bar’s
funds, including its fiduciary funds and blended component units. Separate financial statements for each
fund category—governmental, proprietary and fiduciary are presented. The emphasis of fund financial
statements is on major governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All
remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds.
Fund accounting: The accounts of the State Bar are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is
considered to be a separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for by
providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts which comprise its assets, liabilities, deferred
inflows/outflows, fund balance/net position, revenues and expenditures or expenses, as appropriate.
The fund structure:
Governmental fund types: The State Bar reports the following major governmental funds:
General Fund: The General Fund is the State Bar’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial
resources of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.
Special Revenue Funds: The special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of
specific revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditures for specified purposes other
than debt service or capital projects. The Sections and Divisions are a special revenue fund reported as a
major governmental fund. The Sections and Divisions are created by the State Bar’s Board and serve the
individual members of the State Bar in certain legal specialization areas. The Sections and Divisions’
officers are elected by the members of the individual sections and divisions and are responsible for
maintaining and administering their operations. Although the Sections and Divisions collect a portion of
their revenues and pay expenditures for administration and operations individually, the State Bar
administers the collection of dues for the Sections and Divisions. The State Bar believes it is unlikely that
it will be required to use its assets to satisfy future claims of the Sections and Divisions; however, the
State Bar is liable for any claims should they occur.
Proprietary Fund: Proprietary fund types are used to account for the State Bar’s ongoing activities,
which are operated similar to those often found in the private sector. The measurement focus is upon
income determination, financial position and cash flows.
Enterprise Fund: Enterprise funds are used to account for those operations that are financed and
operated in a manner similar to private business or where the State Bar has decided that the
determination of revenues earned, costs incurred and/or net income is necessary for management
accounting.
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The State Bar reports its Book Enterprise Fund, known as Law Practice Resource Management, as a
major enterprise fund. The Book Enterprise Fund accounts for the activities relating to the sales of books.
The principal operating revenues of the State Bar’s Book Enterprise Fund are charges for the sales of
books and royalty income. Operating expenses include the cost of sales and services, and administrative
expenses.
Additionally, the State Bar reports the following nonmajor fund types:
Special Revenue Funds: The special revenue funds include: Texas Board of Legal Specialization Fund,
Texas Bar College, Annual Meeting, Client Security Fund, Project Grants Fund, Hatton W. Sumners
Grants Fund, Law Focused Education and Department of Public Service.
Capital Projects Funds: The capital projects funds are used to account for and report financial resources
that are restricted, committed or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or
construction of capital facilities and other capital assets, other than those financed by proprietary funds.
The capital projects funds include the Texas Law Center and the Technology Fund.
Fiduciary funds: Fiduciary funds account for assets held by the State Bar in a trustee or agency capacity
for the benefit of others and cannot be used to support the State Bar’s activities. The State Bar has the
following fiduciary fund types:


Agency fund—The agency fund is custodial in nature and is used to account for reporting voluntary
access to justice contributions.



Private-purpose trust fund: Component unit—Additional information about the blended presented
component unit, the State Bar of Texas Insurance Trust and Affiliate, a private purpose trust fund, can
be found on pages 26-27.

The government-wide financial statements and the proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements are
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. The
agency funds do not have a measurement focus, but are reported using the accrual basis of accounting.
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless
of the timing of related cash flows. Internal activity between funds is eliminated in the government-wide
financial statements.
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. This measurement focus means that only current
assets and current liabilities are included on the balance sheet. Operating statements of these funds
present resources (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (i.e., expenditures and
other financing uses) in net current assets. Revenues earned are recognized as soon as they are both
measurable and available. For this purpose, State Bar considers revenues to be available when they are
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For
this purpose, the State Bar considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days after
year-end.
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Expenditures are generally recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However,
expenditures related to debt service, compensated absences, other postemployment benefits, pensionrelated amounts and claims and judgments are recognized as expenditures only when the liability has
matured and payment is due. Capital acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds.
Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital financing and capital leases are
reported as other financing sources.
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the
State Bar’s proprietary funds are charges for services. Operating expenses for proprietary funds include
the costs of sales, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.
Budget and budgetary accounting: The State Bar’s budget is prepared annually by the Executive
Director for the General Fund and is reviewed by the budget committee of the Board and adopted by the
Board. The Sections and Divisions major fund and other special revenue funds do not have appropriated
budgets since other means control the use of these resources. The budget passes several stages of
review, including a public hearing, adoption by the Board and approval by the Supreme Court of Texas.
The budget may be amended at any meeting of the Board, but the amendments made are subject to the
approval of the Supreme Court of Texas. Variances from budgeted revenues and expenditures are
analyzed by management, the finance committee, the executive committee and the Board. Regulations
do not prohibit the State Bar from having unfavorable variances.
Assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund
balances/net position:
Cash and cash equivalents: The State Bar’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be demand
deposits, petty cash and money market accounts. Short-term highly liquid investments with an original
maturity of three months or less are considered cash equivalents.
Investments: Investments consist primarily of United States treasury securities, government agency
securities, commercial paper and money market mutual funds, which are stated at fair value. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. Investments are reported at fair value based upon quoted market prices, or when
quoted market prices are not readily determinable, estimated fair values using observable inputs including
quoted prices for similar securities, interest rates, net asset values (NAV) of underlying securities and a
fixed income pricing model which uses available market rates. Investments in nonnegotiable certificates
of deposit are reported at amortized costs.
Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on a trade-date basis. Interest income is recorded on the
accrual basis.
Chapter 2256 of the Texas Governmental Code (Public Funds Investment Act) authorizes the State Bar
to invest in funds under a written investment policy. The State Bar’s deposits and investments are
invested pursuant to the investment policy, which is approved annually by the Board. The primary
objectives of the State Bar’s investment strategy, in order of priority, are preservation and safety of
principal, liquidity and return on investment.
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Receivables: Receivables represents amounts due from sales to members and others. All receivables
are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles, if applicable. The allowance for doubtful accounts is
established as losses are estimated to have occurred through a provision for bad debts charged to net
position. Losses are charged against the allowance when management believes the uncollectibility of a
receivable is probable. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance. The allowance for
doubtful accounts is evaluated on a regular basis on historical experience and specifically identified
questionable receivables. The evaluation is inherently subjective, as it requires estimates that are
susceptible to significant revision as more information becomes available. At May 31, 2019, the State Bar
governmental activities and business-type activities reported an allowance of $2,300 and $46,023
respectively.
Inventories: Inventories consists of merchandise such as books and other publications held for sale by
the State Bar, which are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined for inventories on the
first-in, first-out method. Merchandise inventories reported in the General Fund are offset in the fund level
financial statements by a nonspendable fund balance to indicate they do not represent available
spendable resources.
Prepaid items: Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are
recorded as prepaid items in both the government-wide and fund financial statements. The cost of
prepaid items are recorded as expenditures/expenses when consumed rather than when purchased.
Capital assets: Capital assets, consisting of land, buildings, furniture and fixtures, computer equipment,
software and other equipment, are reported in the governmental activities and business-type activities
columns of the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund financial statements. Capital
assets are defined by the State Bar as assets with an initial cost of at least $5,000 and an estimated
useful life in excess of one year. Capital assets are recorded at historical cost if purchased or
constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of the donation. The
costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the assets or materially extend
the assets lives are not capitalized.
Land and construction in progress are not depreciated. The other capital assets are depreciated using the
straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:
Asset Description

Asset Life

Buildings
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment
Software
Other equipment

30 years
10-20 years
3-5 years
3-5 years
5-10 years

Accounts payable: Accounts payable represent the liability for the value of assets or services received
at the balance sheet date for which payment is pending.
Unearned revenue: The State Bar collects certain dues, fees and subscription revenue in advance for
future events or for license, fees and memberships with periods beginning subsequent to year-end.
These receipts are accounted for as unearned revenue, which will be earned and recognized in the
subsequent fiscal year, as the events occur and the licenses and memberships commence.
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Capital lease: Capital lease obligations represent the liability for future lease payments under capital
lease. Liabilities are reported separately as either current or noncurrent in the statement of net position.
Compensated absences: The State Bar grants paid annual leave to its employees. The amount of
annual leave that employees accrue depends on the length of State of Texas service as of the
employee’s anniversary date and accrued days and allowable carryover hour’s increases with the length
of service. Subject to certain limitations and requirements, employees’ accrued annual leave may be used
while employed, through the transfer to another State of Texas agency, at the termination of employment,
at death or retirement. The current and long-term liabilities for accumulated vacation are accrued when
incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts is
reported in governmental funds upon the occurrence of relevant events such as resignations, retirements
and other uses of leave balances by covered employees. These obligations are normally paid from the
same funding source from which each employee’s salary or wage compensation was paid. Accrued
annual leave of $1,521,492 and $97,422 was recorded as accrued compensated absences for
governmental activities and business-type activities, respectively, for the year ended May 31, 2019.
Pensions: The fiduciary net position of the Employees Retirement System of Texas Plan (ERS) has been
determined using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting. This includes for purposes of measuring the State Bar’s net pension liability, deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, pension expense and
information about assets, liabilities and additions and deductions from ERS’s fiduciary net position.
Benefit payments by ERS (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the terms of the plan. Investments of ERS are reported at fair value.
Deferred outflows/inflows of resources: In addition to assets, the statement of net position will
sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement
element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future
period(s) and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expenses/expenditures) until then.
Deferred outflows of resources consists of items not yet charged to pension and OPEB expense and
contributions from the State Bar after the measurement date but before the end of the State Bar’s
reporting period.
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred
inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents
an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow
of resources (revenue) until that time. Deferred inflows of resources consist of items including difference
between expected and actual experience, changes in assumptions and the change in proportion and
contribution differences for pension and OPEB amounts.
Net position: Net position represents the difference between assets plus deferred outflows of resources
and liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources on the government-wide financial statements and
proprietary fund financial statements. Net position consists of the following:
Net investment in capital assets: Consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization, reduced by outstanding capital lease obligations attributed to the acquisition of those
assets.
Restricted net position: Net position is reported as restricted when there are external limitations
imposed on its use by creditors, grantors, contributors and the like or imposed by law through
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
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Unrestricted net position: Represents the remaining portion of net position.
Fund balance: Fund balance is the difference between assets plus deferred outflows of resources and
liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources on the governmental fund financial statements. Fund
balances for governmental funds are classified as nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned or
unassigned in the fund statements.
Nonspendable: The nonspendable fund balance category includes amounts that cannot be spent
because they are not in spendable form, such as inventories and prepaid items, or amounts that are
legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. The nonspendable form criterion includes items
that are not expected to be converted to cash.
Restricted: Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of resources are
either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors or laws or
regulations of other governments or are imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation. Legal enforceability means that the State Bar can be compelled by an external party, such as
citizens, public interest groups or the judiciary, to use resources created by enabling legislation only for
the purposes specified by the legislation.
Committed: The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the
specific purposes imposed by formal action (resolution) of the Board. Those committed amounts cannot
be used for any other purpose unless the Board removes or changes the specified use by taking the
same type of action (resolution) it employed to previously commit those amounts. In contrast to a fund
balance that is restricted by enabling legislation, the committed fund balance classification may be
redeployed for other purposes with appropriate due process. Constraints imposed on the use of
committed amounts are imposed by the Board, separate from the authorization to raise the underlying
revenue; therefore, compliance with these constraints is not considered to be legally enforceable. The
committed fund balance also incorporates contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources in
the fund have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements.
Assigned: Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the State Bar
for specific purposes, but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. In
Governmental Funds other than the General Fund, assigned fund balance represents the remaining
amount that is not restricted or committed. In the General Fund, assigned amounts represent intended
uses established by the Board or a State Bar official delegated by the Board or by resolution.
Unassigned: Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund and includes all
spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications. In other Governmental Funds, the
unassigned classification is used only to report a deficit balance resulting from overspending for specific
purposes for which amounts had been restricted, committed or assigned.
When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance/net
position are available, the State Bar considers amounts to have been spent first out of restricted funds,
then committed funds, then assigned funds, and finally unassigned/unrestricted funds, as needed, unless
the Board or its delegated official has provided otherwise in its commitment or assignment actions.
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The following table details fund balances between the various categories as of May 31, 2019:
General
Fund
Fund balances:
Nonspendable:
Inventories
Prepaid items
Total nonspendable

$

Committed to:
Texas Law Center projects
Access to Justice (ATJ) student loan
repayment program
Run-off Election Reserve
Law Related Education program
Presidential initiatives
Statewide Pro Bono Recruitment Campaign
Ethics Initiatives
Texas Opportunity and Justice Incubator
Program
Legal Access Division Programs
Referendum reserve
Archives Digitization Project
Client Security Fund expenditures
Sections expenditures
Information technology projects
Special revenue funds
Total committed
Unassigned
Total fund balances

12,070
847,384
859,454

$

44,188
44,188

100,000

-

515,000
70,000
79,500
126,641
148,161
11,943

-

571,088
44,251
100,000
75,500
150,000
1,992,084

$

14,898,339
17,749,877

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

Sections and
Divisions

$

8,224,349

$

4,010,134

515,000
70,000
79,500
126,641
148,161
11,943

2,608,547
591,173
2,552,123
9,761,977

$

10,101,075

12,070
1,230,670
1,242,740

4,110,134

-

8,180,161
8,180,161

$

339,098
339,098

Total

571,088
44,251
100,000
75,500
2,608,547
8,180,161
741,173
2,552,123
19,934,222

$

14,898,339
36,075,301

At the September 2005 Board meeting, the Board adopted a financial policy to maintain a minimum level
of unrestricted fund balance. The minimum level for the year ended May 31, 2019, is approximately
$11 million of the unassigned fund balance. The target level is based on 2.9 months of budgeted
operating expenditures.
Transfers: Legally required transfers that are reported when incurred as transfers in by the recipient fund
and as transfers out by the disbursing fund. Interfund transfers are reported as other financing
sources/uses in the governmental funds and after nonoperating revenues/expenses in the proprietary
funds.
Reimbursements: Reimbursements are repayments from funds responsible for expenditures or
expenses to funds that made the actual payment. Reimbursements of expenditures made by one fund for
another are recorded as expenditures in the reimbursing fund and as a reduction of expenditures in the
reimbursed fund. Reimbursements are not displayed in the financial statements.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Interfund receivables and payables: Activity between funds that are representative of
lending/borrowing arrangements at the end of the fiscal year are shown in the financial statements as,
due to/from other funds. Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and
business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as internal balances.
These balances will be repaid within the next year and, therefore, are classified as current.
Interfund sales and purchases: Charges or collections for services rendered by one fund to another
that are recorded as revenues of the recipient fund and expenditures or expenses of the disbursing fund.
The composition of the State Bar’s interfund activities and balances are presented in Note 12.
Significant estimates: The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ
from those estimates.
Note 2.

Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the year ended May 31, 2019, was as follows:
Beginning
Balance
Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being
depreciated

$

Capital assets being depreciated and amortized:
Buildings
Furniture, fixtures, computer equipment,
software and other equipment
Total capital assets being
depreciated and amortized
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization for:
Buildings
Furniture, fixtures, computer equipment,
software and other equipment
Total accumulated depreciation and
amortization
Total capital assets being depreciated
and amortized, net
Governmental activities capital assets,
net
Business-type activities:
Furniture, fixtures, computer equipment,
software and other equipment
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Business-type activities capital assets,
net

$

154,074
20,960

Completed
CIP

$

-

Additions

$

Ending
Balance

Deletions

179,574

$

$

154,074
200,534

175,034

-

6,489,602

-

15,495,818

-

27,460

(24,779)

15,498,499

21,985,420

-

27,460

(24,779)

21,988,101

(5,665,574)

-

(9,540,891)

-

(854,613)

23,491

(10,372,013)

(15,206,465)

-

(854,613)

23,491

(16,037,587)

6,778,955

-

(827,153)

(1,288)

5,950,514

6,953,989

179,574

-

-

-

$

-

$

(647,579)

-

354,608

-

6,489,602

-

$

(1,288)

(5,665,574)

$

6,305,122

$

353,637
(318,315)

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

353,637
(318,315)

$

35,322

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

35,322
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Capital Assets (Continued)

Depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended May 31, 2019, was allocated in the following
manner:
Functions/programs:
General government
Member services

$
$

837,617
16,996
854,613

There was no depreciation and amortization expense for business-type activities for the year ended
May 31, 2019, because assets were fully depreciated. The remaining balance is considered salvage
value.
Note 3.

Deposits, Investments and Repurchase Agreements

Deposits of cash in bank: As of May 31, 2019, the carrying amount of deposits totaled $16,555,294 as
presented below:
Carrying
Amount
Governmental, business-type and fiduciary activities:
Cash in bank—carrying amount
Money market mutual funds—carrying amount at net asset value
Total cash in bank

$
$

10,716,193
5,839,101
16,555,294

Bank
Balance
$
$

11,516,196
5,839,100
17,355,297

These amounts are included on the statement of net position and statement of net position—fiduciary
funds as cash and cash equivalents.
Custodial credit risk: In the case of deposits, the risk is that in the event of a bank failure, the State Bar
will not be able to recover deposits or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.
The State Bar has a deposit policy for custodial credit risk, which requires bank deposit accounts to be
collateralized with pledge securities. There is no limit on the amount the State Bar may deposit in any
one institution. As of May 31, 2019, the State Bar’s deposits are not exposed to deposit custodial credit
risk because they are collateralized with securities held by the Federal Reserve in the State Bar’s name in
the amount of approximately $14.2 million. The State Bar does not have funds that are held in foreign
currency.
Investments: State Bar uses various methods to measure the fair value of investments on a recurring
basis. GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, established a hierarchy that
prioritizes inputs to valuation methods. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure
the fair value of the asset.


Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that
the State Bar has the ability to access at the measurement date.



Level 2 inputs are observable inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These inputs may include quoted
prices for the identical instrument in an inactive market, prices for similar instruments, interest rates,
prepayment speeds, credit risk, yield curves, default rates and similar data.
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Deposits, Investments and Repurchase Agreements (Continued)

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, to the extent relevant observable
inputs are not available, representing the State Bar’s own assumptions about the assumptions a
market participant would use in valuing the asset or liability, and would be based on the best
information available.

The availability of observable inputs can vary from security to security and is affected by a wide variety of
factors, including, for example, the type of security, whether the security is new and not yet established in
the marketplace, the liquidity of markets and other characteristics particular to the security. To the extent
that valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the
determination of fair value requires more judgment. Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised in
determining fair value is greatest for instruments categorized in Level 3.
The inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such
cases, for disclosure purposes, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value
measurement falls in its entirety, is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement in its entirety.
Investments measured at fair value using NAV per share (or equivalent) as a practical expedient to fair
value are not classified in the fair value hierarchy.
As of May 31, 2019, the fair value of investments were as follows:
Governmental activities:

Carrying Value
Fixed income securities:
U.S. Treasury securities
U.S. government agency
obligations
Commercial paper
Certificates of deposit
Total investments
at fair value

$

19,443,303

$

9,383,162
4,952,573
2,192,124
$

35,971,162

Fair Value Measurements Using
Other
Significant
Observable
Unobservable
Inputs
Inputs
(Level 2)
(Level 3)

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Assets
(Level 1)
19,443,303

$

$

19,443,303

-

$

9,383,162
4,952,573
$

14,335,735

-

Amortized
Cost
$

$

-

2,192,124

$

2,192,124

U.S. Treasury securities are valued using closing bid quoted market prices as of the last business day of
the month (Level 1 inputs). U.S. government agency obligations and commercial paper are valued using
a yield-based matrix pricing model (Level 2 inputs). Certificates of deposits are valued at amortized cost.
Custodial credit risk: In the case of investments, there is a risk that in the event of the failure of a
counterparty, the State Bar will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities
that are in the possession of an outside party. The State Bar’s investment policy requires that all deposits
are fully insured or collateralized, as required by the Public Funds Collateral Act, 2257, of the Texas
Government Code. The State Bar had no exposure to investment custodial credit risk at May 31, 2019,
because all certificates of deposit were fully covered by Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and all
other investments are held in the State Bar’s name.
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Deposits Investments, and Repurchase Agreements (Continued)

Credit risk: Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations. The State Bar’s investment policy allows for various types of investments including: United
States government agency obligations, United States Treasury securities, certificates of deposit, Banker’s
acceptances, repurchase agreements, money market mutual funds and commercial paper. Investments
in United States government agency obligations are not guaranteed by the United States government, but
are government-sponsored enterprises. As of May 31, 2019, State Bar’s credit quality distribution for
securities was as follows:
Investment Type
U.S. Treasury securities
U.S. government agency obligations
Money market mutual funds
Commercial paper

AAA
$

$

5,839,100
5,839,100

Standard and Poor’s Ratings
AA+
A-1+
$ 19,443,303
9,267,265
$ 28,710,568

$

$

A-1
-

$

$

4,952,573
4,952,573

GNMA Pool—not applicable
Certificates of deposit—not rated
Less cash equivalents (money market mutual funds)

Total
$ 19,443,303
9,267,265
5,839,100
4,952,573
39,502,241
115,897
2,192,124
(5,839,100)
$ 35,971,162

Concentration of credit risk: Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributable to the magnitude of
investment in a single issuer. The State Bar is authorized to invest funds in accordance with its
investment policy and the Texas Public Funds Investment Act. Authorized investments include, but are
not limited to:
1. U.S. Treasury and federal agency securities—up to 100% of the investment portfolio (IP)
2. Mortgage-backed securities—guaranteed by U.S. government–sponsored agencies up to 30% of the
IP
3. Certificates of deposit—up to 30% of the IP, but no more than 5% with any single issuer
4. Banker’s acceptance—up to 15% of the IP, but no more than 5% with any single issuer
5. Repurchase agreements—up to 30% of the IP, but no more than 10% with any single issuer
6. Money market mutual funds—up to 100% of the IP
7. Commercial paper—up to 30% of the IP, but no more than 5% with any single issuer
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Deposits, Investments and Repurchase Agreements (Continued)

As of May 31, 2019, the State Bar’s investments consist of the following:
Issuer

Fair Value

U.S. Treasury securities
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp.
Fannie Mae
GNMA Pool
Commercial paper
Certificates of deposit
Total investments

$

$

Percentage

19,443,303
3,328,853
5,938,412
115,897
4,952,573
2,192,124
35,971,162

54%
9%
17%
0%
14%
6%
100%

Interest rate risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair
value of an investment. In accordance with its investment policy, the State Bar manages its exposure to
declines in fair values by limiting the types of investment it allows and by limiting the average maturity to
five years.
As of May 31, 2019, the State Bar’s investments exposure to interest rate risk was as follows:

Description

Fair Value

U.S. Treasury securities
U.S. government agency obligations
Commercial paper
Certificates of deposit
Money market mutual funds

$

Less cash equivalents (money market mutual funds)
Total investments

Note 4.

$

19,443,303
9,383,162
4,952,573
2,192,124
5,839,100
41,810,262
(5,839,100)
35,971,162

Short-Term Debt

The State Bar has no short-term debt to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2019.
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651
25

State Bar of Texas
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 5.

Long-Term Liabilities

A summary of changes in long-term liabilities during the year ended May 31, 2019, is shown below:
Beginning
Balance
Governmental activities:
Capital lease obligations
Accrued compensated absences
Total OPEB liability
Net pension liability
Total governmental
activities
Business-type activities:
Accrued compensated absences
Total OPEB liability
Net pension liability
Total business-type
activities

Additions

Amounts
Due Within
One Year

Ending
Balance

Reductions

Amounts
Due
Thereafter

$

84,555
1,467,752
56,802,309

$

631,861
34,376,046
-

$

(46,571)
(578,121)
(1,885,424)

$

37,984
1,521,492
34,376,046
54,916,885

$

37,984
612,717
961,247
-

$

908,775
33,414,799
54,916,885

$

58,354,616

$

35,007,907

$

(2,510,116)

$

90,852,407

$

1,611,948

$

89,240,459

$

95,363
3,625,679

$

62,724
2,194,216
-

$

(60,665)
(120,346)

$

97,422
2,194,216
3,505,333

$

36,970
61,356
-

$

60,452
2,132,860
3,505,333

$

3,721,042

$

2,256,940

$

(181,011)

$

5,796,971

$

98,326

$

5,698,645

The liabilities for pension-related debt and compensated absences are liquidated by the General Fund
and the Law Practice Resource Management fund. This is the first fiscal year that the State Bar has
reported an OPEB liability. In the coming years, this liability will also be liquidated by the General Fund
and the Law Practice Resource Management fund.
Note 6.

Bonded Indebtedness

The State Bar has no bonded indebtedness to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2019.
Note 7.

Derivatives

The State Bar has no derivatives to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2019.
Note 8.

Leases

Capital lease obligations: The State Bar entered into long-term leases for financing the purchase of
certain capital assets and are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the
inception of the lease.
A summary of original capitalized costs of all such property under lease in addition to the accumulated
depreciation as of May 31, 2019, is presented below.

Assets
Other equipment
Total

$
$

241,319
241,319
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Governmental Activities
Accumulated
Depreciation
$
$

(177,641)
(177,641)

$
$

Total
63,678
63,678
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Leases (Continued)

Future minimum lease payments under the capital leases, together with the net present value of all
minimum lease payments as of May 31, 2019, were as follows:
Governmental Activities

Principal
Year ending May 31:
2020
Totals

$
$

37,984
37,984

Total Future
Minimum
Lease
Payments

Interest
$
$

1,899
1,899

$
$

39,883
39,883

Operating leases: Rent expense incurred under all third-party office space and equipment operating
leases for the year ended May 31, 2019, totaled $596,944 for governmental activities.
At May 31, 2019, the State Bar was obligated under operating leases for the regional Chief Disciplinary
Counsel Department’s and the Texas Board of Legal Specialization’s office space, expiring through 2027.
In addition, the State Bar has some short-term leases during the year May 31, 2019.
Future minimum lease payments on these operating leases are as follows:
Governmental
Activities
Years ending May 31:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025-2027

$

$

Note 9.

505,701
424,340
350,564
357,541
234,682
460,400
2,333,228

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

Plan description: The State Bar contributes to ERS, a public employee retirement system. It is a single
employer defined benefit pension plan, since the plan is for all state employees. For financial reporting
purposes, ERS is treated as a cost-sharing plan, since each participating employer has an obligation to
contribute. ERS provides service retirement, death and disability benefits to plan members and
beneficiaries. ERS operates under the authority of provisions contained primarily in Texas
Government Code, Title 8, Public Retirement Systems, Subtitle B, Employees Retirement System of
Texas, which is subject to amendment by the Texas Legislature. The ERS’ annual financial report and
other required disclosure information are available by writing the Employees Retirement System of Texas,
P.O. Box 13207, Austin, Texas, 78711-3207 or by calling (512) 476-6431.
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Defined Benefit Pension Plans (Continued)

Plan benefits: ERS plan covers members in employee and elected classes. The State Bar participates in
the employee class. The benefit and contribution provisions of the ERS plan are authorized by state law
and may be amended by the Legislature. The monthly benefit may vary by membership class:


The monthly standard annuity of the employee class is determined by a statutory percentage of 2.3%
of a member’s average monthly compensation multiplied by number of years of service credit. The
average monthly compensation of the employee class may vary depending on the hire date. For
members hired on or before August 31, 2009, the average monthly compensation is the average of
the highest 36 months of compensation. For members hired on or after September 1, 2009, and
before September 1, 2013, the average monthly compensation is the average of the highest
48 months of compensation. For members hired on or after September 1, 2013, the average monthly
compensation is the average of highest 60 months of compensation.



The monthly standard annuity of the elected class equals the statutory percentage of 2.3% of the
current state salary of a district judge multiplied by the number of years of service credit. Retirement
benefits are automatically adjusted as state judicial salaries change.

Contributions: The contribution rates for the state and the members for the ERS plan for the
measurement date of August 31, 2018, are presented in the table below:

Employee
Class
10.00%

Required Contribution Rates—ERS Plan
Employer
Members
Elected Class— Elected Class—
Employee
Elected Class— Elected Class—
Legislators
Other
Class
Legislators
Other
10.00%

10.00%

9.50%

9.50%

9.50%

The amount of State Bar’s contributions recognized by the ERS plan during the 2018 measurement
period was $2,017,410.
Net pension liability: The State Bar’s net pension liability was measured as of August 31, 2018, and the
total pension liability is used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation
as of that date.
Actuarial assumptions: The methods and assumptions applied, except discount rate, in the actuarial
valuation were based on an experience study covering the five-year period from September 1, 2011
through August 31, 2016.
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Defined Benefit Pension Plans (Continued)

The table below presents the actuarial methods and assumptions used to measure the total pension
liability as of the August 31, 2018:
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions
Actuarial cost method
Actuarial assumptions:
Discount rate
Investment rate of return
Inflation
Salary increase
Mortality:
State agency members:
Service retirees, survivors and other inactive members

Disabled retirees
Active members
Cost-of-living adjustments

Entry age normal
5.69%
7.50%
2.50%
0.0 to 9.5%

2017 State Retirees of Texas Mortality table with mortality improvements
based on full generational projection using Ultimate MP projections sale.
Tables were developed based on the experience in the 2016 actuarial
study.
RP-2014 Disabled Retiree Mortality with Ultimate MP Projection Scale
projected from the year 2014
RP-2014 Employee Mortality tables for male and female with Ultimate MP
projection scale projected from the year 2014
None—Employee
2.75%—Elected

Long-term expected rate of return on assets: The long-term expected rate of return on plan
investments was developed using a building-block method with assumptions including asset class of
investment portfolio, target allocation, real rate of return on investments and inflation factor. Under this
method, best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (net of investment expense and
inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term
expected rate of return by weighing the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation.
The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class for
the plan’s investment portfolio are presented below:

Target
Allocation

Asset Class
Global equity
Global credit
Opportunistic credit
Intermediate treasuries
Real estate
Infrastructure
Hedge funds
Cash
Total
Inflation
Expected arithmetic nominal rate of return

50.00%
11.00%
3.00%
11.00%
12.00%
7.00%
5.00%
1.00%
100%
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Long-Term
Expected
Arithmetic Real
Rate of Return
3.91%
0.57%
0.20%
0.29%
0.90%
0.49%
0.31%
0.02%
6.69%
2.50%
9.19%
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Defined Benefit Pension Plans (Continued)

Discount rate: A blended discount rate of 5.69% was applied to measure the total pension liability as of
August 31, 2018. The 5.69% discount rate incorporated a 7.50% long-term expected rate of return on
pension plan investments and 3.69% 20-year municipal bond rate based on Fidelity’s Index’s 20-Year
Municipal GO AA Index. The long-term expected investment rate of return was applied to projected
benefit payments through fiscal year 2049 and the municipal bond rate was applied to all benefit
payments thereafter.
The projection of cash flows used to determine this blended discount rate assumed that plan member and
employer contributions will be made at the current statutory levels and remain a level percentage of
payroll.
Sensitivity analysis: The following presents the net pension liability of the State Bar, calculated using
the discount rate of 5.69%, as well as what the State Bar’s net pension liability would be if it were
calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (4.69%) or 1 percentage point higher
(6.69%) than the current rate:

Rate
5.69%

1% Decrease
4.69%
State Bar’s proportionate share of net pension
liability

$

76,994,742

$

58,422,218

1% Increase
6.69%
$

43,050,142

Pension plan fiduciary net position: The pension plan’s fiduciary net position is determined using
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, which is the same basis
used by ERS. Benefits and refunds of contributions are recognized when due and payable in accordance
with the terms of the plan. Investments of the pension trust fund are reported at fair value. The fair value
of investments is based on published market prices and quotations from major investment brokers at
available current exchange rates. However, corporate bonds in general are valued based on currently
available yields of comparable securities by issuers with similar credit ratings. ERS issues stand-alone
audited Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).
More detailed information on the plan’s investment valuation, investment policy, assets and fiduciary net
position may be obtained from ERS’ fiscal 2018 CAFR:
Employees Retirement System of Texas
P.O. Box 13207
Austin, TX 78711-3207
www.ers.texas.gov
Pension liabilities, pension expense and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pension: At May 31, 2019, the State Bar reported a liability of $58,422,218 for its
proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of August 31,
2018, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an
actuarial valuation as of that date. The State Bar’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a
projection of the State Bar’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected
contributions of all participating governments, actuarially determined.
There have been no changes to the benefit terms of the plan since the prior measurement date. The
State Bar’s proportion of the entire ERS plan was 0.28934813% in fiscal year 2019, as compared to the
0.27637361% in the prior fiscal year.
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For the fiscal year ended May 31, 2019, the State Bar recognized pension expense of $6,255,587. At
May 31, 2019, State Bar reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions from the following sources:
Deferred
Outflows of
Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual investment return
Change in proportion and contribution differences
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Total

$

$

336,702
3,367,674
2,202,036
1,523,568
7,429,980

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources
$

$

4,079,280
861,108
212,095
5,152,483

Contributions made subsequent to the measurement date are eligible employer contributions made from
September 1, 2018 through May 31, 2019, totaling $1,523,568, which is reported as deferred outflows of
resources and will be recognized as a reduction in the net pension liability for the year ending May 31,
2020.
Amounts currently reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions, excluding
contributions made subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized in pension expense in the
following years:
Years ending May 31:
2020
2021
2022
2023

$

$

Note 10.

2,991,238
(654,597)
(1,298,145)
(284,567)
753,929

Deferred Compensation

The State Bar has no deferred compensation to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2019.
Note 11.

Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions

Effective June 1, 2018, the State Bar implemented GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. See Note 14 for additional information. In
addition to the pension benefits described in Note 9, the ERS provides postemployment health care, life
and dental insurance benefits through the Group Benefits Program in accordance with Chapter 1551,
Texas Insurance Code. This program is governed by the same board of trustees who is responsible for
the defined benefit pension plans.
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The State Bar employees participate in the State Retiree Health Plan (SRHP) administered by ERS.
SRHP is a cost-sharing multiple-employer postemployment health care plan with a special funding
situation. This plan covers retired employees of the State and other entities as specified by the State
legislature. Benefit and contribution provisions of SRHP are authorized by state law and may be amended
by the Texas Legislature. Retirees must meet certain age and service requirements and have at least
10 years of service at retirement to participate in the plan. The principal participating employer is the
State of Texas. State agencies and universities employ 185,760, or 80.7%, or the employees covered by
the SRHP. Participating entities are as follows:
State agencies
Universities
Junior and community colleges
Other entities
Total participating entities

116
27
51
8
202

The maximum monthly employer contributions toward eligible retirees’ health and basic life premium are
summarized as follows:

Retiree only
Retiree and spouse
Retiree and children
Retiree and family

622
1,335
1,099
1,812

Retirees pay any premium over and above the employer contribution. The employer does not contribute
toward dental or optional life insurance. Surviving spouses and their dependents do not receive any
employer contribution. As the nonemployer contributing entity, the State of Texas pays part of the
premiums for the junior and community college.
For the measurement period ending August 31, 2018, the amount of the State Bar’s contributions
recognized by SHRP was $3,584,454. Fiscal year 2019 contributions were $399,310.
The total OPEB liability is determined by an actuarial valuation. The methods and assumptions applied in
the actuarial valuation were based on an experience study covering the five-year period from
September 1, 2011 through August 31, 2016, for state agency members and for the period September 1,
2010 through August 31, 2014, for higher education members.

49

State Bar of Texas
Notes to Financial Statements
Note 11.

Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (Continued)

The table below presents the actuarial methods and assumptions used to measure the total OPEB liability
as of the August 31, 2018:
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions
ERS Plan
Actuarial valuation date
Actuarial cost method
Actuarial assumptions:
Discount rate
Inflation
Salary increase
Annual health care trend rate

Aggregate payroll growth
Retirement age
Mortality:
State agency members:
Service retirees, survivors and other inactive members

Disabled retirees
Active members
Ad hoc postemployment benefit changes

August 31, 2018
Entry Age
3.96%
2.50%
2.50% to 9.50%, including inflation
7.30% for FY2020, 7.40% for FY2021, 7.00% for FY2022,
decreasing 0.50% per year to an ultimate rate of 4.50% for
FY2027 and later years
3.00%
Experience based tables of rates that are specific to employee
class

2017 State Retirees of Texas Mortality table with a 1 year set
forward for male CPO/CO members and Ultimate MP Projection
Scale projected from the year 2017
RP-2014 Disabled Retiree Mortality with Ultimate MP Projection
Scale projected from the year 2014
RP-2014 Active Member Mortality tables with Ultimate MP
Projection Scale from the year 2014
None

The following benefit revision has been adopted effective January 1, 2019, since the prior valuation for
retirees and dependents for whom Medicare is not the primary, an increase in the out-of-pocket maximum
for both HealthSelect and Consumer Directed HealthSelect for individuals and families in order to remain
consistent with Internal Revenue Service maximums.
Calculations are based on the benefit provided under the terms of the substantive plan in effect at the
time of each valuation, and on the pattern of sharing of cost between the employer and plan members to
that point. The projection of benefits for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly incorporate the
potential effect of legal or contractual funding limitations on the pattern of cost sharing between the
employer and plan members in the future.
The discount rate that was used to measure the total OPEB liability is the municipal bond rate of 3.96%
for the measurement date ending August 31, 2018, as compared to a discount rate of 3.51% as of the
beginning of the measurement period. The source of the municipal bond rate is the Bond Buyer Index of
general obligation bonds with 20 years to maturity and mixed credit quality. The bonds’ average credit
quality is roughly equivalent to Moody’s Investors Service’s Aa2 rating and Standard & Poor’s AA.
Projected cash flows into the plan are equal to projected benefit payments out of the plan. As the plan
operates on a pay-as-you-go basis and is not intended to accumulate assets, there is no long-term
expected rate of return.
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Sensitivity analysis was performed on the impact of changes in the discount rate on the proportionate
share of State Bar’s total OPEB liability. The result of the analysis is presented in the table below:
Current
Discount Rate
3.96%

1% Decrease
2.96%
The State Bar’s proportionate share of the
total OPEB liability

$

43,417,410

$

36,570,262

1% Increase
4.96%
$

31,387,741

The initial healthcare trend rate is 7.3% and the ultimate rate is 4.5%. The sensitivity of the net OPEB
liability to changes in the discount rate and health care trend rate is summarized below:
Current Health Care
Cost Trend Rates
1% Decrease
1% Increase
Decreasing
(6.3%, Decreasing
(8.3%, Decreasing
to 3.5%)
to 4.5%)
to 5.5%)
The State Bar’s proportionate share of the
total OPEB liability

$

30,970,283

$

36,570,262

$

43,794,247

The SHRP is a pay-as-you-go plan and does not accumulate funds in advance of retirement. The ERS’
board of trustees adopted the amendment to the investment policy in August 2017 to require that all funds
in this plan be invested in short-term fixed income securities and specify that the expected rate of return
on these investments is 2.4%.
More detailed information on SHRP may be obtained from ERS’ fiscal 2018 CAFR:
Employees Retirement System of Texas
P.O. Box 13207
Austin, TX 78711-3207
www.ers.texas.gov
At May 31, 2019, the State Bar’s recognized a total OPEB liability of $36,570,262 for its proportionate
share of the collective total OPEB liability. The State Bar’s proportionate share of the total OPEB liability
was 0.12339085% and was based on contributions to the OPEB plan relative to the contributions of all
employers and the nonemployer contributing entity for the period.
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For the year ended May 31, 2019, the State Bar recognized an OPEB credit of $217,397. At August 31,
2019, the State Bar’s reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources from the
following sources:
Outflows
of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience
Change in proportionate share and contribution difference
Changes of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual investment return
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Total

$

$

325,894
17,318
46,357
389,569

Deferred Inflows
of Resources
$
$

$

1,339,817
12,815,219
14,155,036

The $46,357 reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from contributions subsequent to the
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction in the total OPEB liability for the year ending
May 31, 2020.
Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in
OPEB expense in the following years:
Years ended May 31:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

Note 12.

$

(3,529,198)
(3,529,198)
(3,529,198)
(2,359,854)
(864,376)
$ (13,811,824)

Interfund Balances/Activities

During the course of operations, numerous transactions occurred between individual funds for goods
provided or services rendered. These receivables and payables are classified as due from other funds or
due to other funds. The composition of interfund balances as of May 31, 2019, is as follows:
Receivable Fund
General Fund
General Fund
Sections and Divisions
Nonmajor governmental funds
Law Practice Resource Management
Agency Fund
Total

Payable Fund
Nonmajor governmental funds
Fiduciary Fund—SBOTIT Private-Purpose Trust Fund
General Fund
General Fund
General Fund
General Fund

Amount
$

$

681,438
67,451
1,021,722
685,690
741,033
871,101
4,068,435

During the year, the General Fund transferred $1,888,800 to nonmajor governmental funds to supplement
operations and to fund claims, technology projects and future renovations to the Texas Law Center.
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Continuance Subject to Review

The State Bar is subject to the Texas Sunset Act (Chapter 325). Subsequent to May 31, 2016, the revised
State Bar Act was approved (Texas Gov. Code section 81.001 et. seq.), which recreated the State Bar
until September 1, 2029, and thereafter, contingent upon the State of Texas legislature and the Supreme
Court of Texas.
Note 14.

Adjustments to Fund Balance/Net Position

OPEB: Effective June 1, 2018, the State Bar implemented GASB Statement No. 75, which addresses the
accounting and financial reporting for OPEB. Upon adoption, the OPEB liability, deferred inflows and
outflows and the OPEB expense are now reflected in the financial statements in accordance with the
guidance provided for within the standard. The implementation resulted in a restatement of the beginning
net position in fiscal year 2019, the fiscal year in which the provisions of Statement No. 75 were adopted.
The adoption decreased governmental activities beginning net position by $47,498,566 and businesstype activities beginning net position by $3,031,823.
Funds: During fiscal year ended May 31, 2019, management identified errors in the previously issued
May 31, 2018, audited financial statements, which included the following: the omission of Paralegal
Division, which should be included as part of Sections and Divisions special revenue fund and an error in
revenue recognition related to MCLE fees.
As a result, beginning Sections and Divisions fund balance, and governmental activities net position were
restated, as noted below. The effect on the change in fund balance and net position, previously reported
is an increase of $82,427 and $359,981, respectively.
Sections
and Divisions
Fund
Balance
Beginning balance, as previously reported
Ending fund balance for Paralegal Division
Misstatement of revenue
Implementation of GASB Statement No. 75
Beginning balance, as restated

Note 15.

$

7,384,311
459,609
7,843,920

$

Governmental
Activities
Net Position
(Deficit)
$

(9,024,365)
459,609
277,554
(47,498,566)
$ (55,785,768)

Business-Type
Activities
Net Position
(Deficit)
$

$

(1,240,531)
(3,031,823)
(4,272,354)

Contingencies and Commitments

The State Bar has no contingencies or commitments to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2019.
Note 16.

Subsequent Events

Management evaluated the need for disclosures and/or adjustments resulting from subsequent events
through December 17, 2019, the date the financial statements were available to be issued.
There are no subsequent events that necessitate disclosure and/or adjustments.
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Risk Management

The State Bar is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees and natural disasters. The State Bar purchases
commercial insurance to cover risks associated with potential claims in 2019. There were no significant
reductions in coverage in the past fiscal year, and there were no settlements exceeding insurance
coverage.
Health, life and dental: Insurance coverage is provided to active state employees and their dependents
by one of three health plan administrators. State Bar employees are included in the Texas Employees
Group Benefits Program (GBP) administered by the ERS, whose risk of loss is retained with self-insured
plans or transferred to the insurance carrier with health maintenance organization (HMO) plans.
Texas Employees Group Benefits Program: Claims for health, life, accidental death and
dismemberment, disability and dental insurance coverages are established under the GBP. These
coverages are provided through a combination of insurance contracts, a self-funded health plan, a selffunded dental indemnity plan, HMO contracts and dental health maintenance organizations contracts.
Note 18.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)

See pages 3-13 for MD&A.
Note 19.

The Financial Reporting Entity

See pages 29-38.
Note 20.

Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability

The State Bar had none to report.
Note 21.

Not Applicable

Note 22.

Donor-Restricted Endowments

The State Bar has no donor-restricted endowments to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2019.
Note 23.

Extraordinary and Special Items

The State Bar has no extraordinary or special items to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2019.
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Disaggregation of Receivable Balances

The State Bar had other accounts receivable at May 31, 2019, which consisted of the following:
General Fund:
Clerk of the Supreme Court
Refundable Deposits—WeWork
Texas Center for Legal Ethics
Texas Supreme Court Historical Society
SBOT Insurance Trust
Texas Bar Foundation
Texas Access to Justice Foundation
Other

$

Sections and Divisions:
Family Law Royalties
Other

26,156
30,965
57,121

Nonmajor governmental funds:
Refundable deposits
Total

Note 25.

2,265,161
57,002
52,107
4,997
34,775
40,062
103,582
169,445
2,727,131

$

6,943
2,791,195

Termination Benefits

The State Bar has no termination benefits to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2019.
Note 26.

Component Unit—State Bar of Texas Insurance Trust and Affiliate

Agreement between primary government and component unit: The Trust entered into a professional
services agreement on April 14, 2016. Under this agreement, the State Bar established and maintains a
private insurance exchange through which qualified insurance companies can market and sell their
products to members of the State Bar. The Trust offers insurance coverage to members of the State Bar
and have been allowed to participate in the State Bar private insurance exchange since inception in
October 2013. This agreement provides for the payment of an initial fee of $687,000 and an annual fee of
$250,000 thereafter, paid quarterly beginning June 1, 2016, by the Trust to the State Bar in exchange for
the State Bar’s professional services.
Contributions of subscribers and premiums to insurance carrier: Contributions of subscribers, as
required by the Program, are credited to net position. In turn, premiums for insurance coverage are
charged against net position and are payable to the insurance carrier, in accordance with applicable
policy provisions, in amounts based on rates established by the carrier. The Trust may retain up to 5% of
contributions received from individual members as an administrative fee.
Royalties: Royalties are received from an administration agreement between the Trust and Business
Planning Concepts, Inc. (dba Member Benefits), whereby Member Benefits provides administrative duties
pertaining to the insurance program offered by the Trust. Royalty income is recognized when Member
Benefits collect the premiums.
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Commissions: Effective January 2, 2014, the Trust entered into a purchase and sales agreement with
Member Benefits. Under this agreement, the Trust agreed to sell its book of medical insurance business
and its Affiliate agreed to sell its book of individual and small group medical insurance business to
Member Benefits for a purchase price equal to 15% of revenues received in connection with the books of
business. Monthly payments related to this agreement began on February 15, 2014, and will continue
monthly for a total of 72 months. Commission revenue is recognized when Member Benefits receive the
commissions related to the sold insurance policies.
Rental income: Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of each lease.
Service agreement revenue: The Trust recognizes service revenue when expenses are incurred that
require a withdrawal from the premium stabilization fund.
Income taxes: Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets, including tax loss and credit carryforwards,
and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the
enactment date. Deferred income tax expense represents the change during the period in the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. The components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are
individually classified as current and noncurrent based on their characteristics. Deferred tax assets are
reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that
some portion or all the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Trust’s policy is to record interest and
penalty expense related to income taxes as interest and other expense, respectively. At May 31, 2019, no
interest or penalties have been or are required to be accrued. The Trust, generally, is no longer subject to
income tax examinations by federal authorities for years prior to December 31, 2015.
The Trust and Agency are subject to the Texas gross margin tax. The Trust files a United States federal
income tax return.
Description of the Program: The Program is a multiple-employer welfare arrangement, which provides
for in-hospital disability income, group term life, long-term disability, office overhead and personal
accident benefits. The Program, including all claims and incurred, but not reported claims, are fully
insured through contracts with Prudential. The Trust has no benefit obligations outstanding as of May 31,
2019.
Contributions: At the option of each subscriber, contributions from insured employees may be required
to defray the cost of providing insurance under a policy.
Program terminations: In the event the Program terminates, the net position of the Program will be
allocated, as prescribed by the Trust Agreement, to provide the following benefits in the order indicated:
1. To liquidate all obligations of the Program;
2. To continue insurance on all those insured to the extent possible; and
3. To be applied to either the benefit of those insured or paid directly to the insured.
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Reserve for premium stabilization: The underwriter of the Program, Prudential, maintains a premium
stabilization reserve on behalf of the Trust. The reserve’s purpose is to equalize the net premium cost to
the Trust and, thus, minimize fluctuations in premium cost from year-to-year by reason of variation in
claim experience. Together, these funds comprise the reserve for premium stabilization.
The premium stabilization fund represents the accumulation of (a) premiums paid in excess of claims and
other charges and (b) interest credited to the funds. This fund is used under the terms of each contract for
the payment of claims, expenses and other charges under the contract in any policy year in which such
claims, expenses and other charges exceed the amount of premiums paid by the Trust. Interest is earned
on the reserve at rates determined annually by the underwriters.
The Program year under the contract with Prudential is June 1 through May 31. The stabilization fund
totaled $2,212,533.
In the event of termination of the insurance contract, balances, if any, remaining in the reserve after final
adjustments, payment of claims, expenses, and other contractual changes would be paid to the Trust as
return of premiums. The Trust is not liable for any deficit in the premium stabilization reserve.
Note 27.

Service Concession Arrangements

The State Bar has no service concession arrangements to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2019.
Note 28.

Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources

See page 48.
Note 29.

Troubled Debt Restructuring

The State Bar has no troubled debt restructurings to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2019.
Note 30.

Nonexchange Financial Guarantees

The State Bar has no nonexchange financial guarantees to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2019.
Note 31.

Tax Abatements

The State Bar has no tax abatements to report for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2019.
Note 32.

Governmental Fund Balances

See pages 36-37.
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State Bar of Texas
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance—Budget (GAAP Basis) and
Actual—General Fund
Year Ended May 31, 2019
Budgeted Amounts
Original
Final
Revenues:
Membership dues
Accounting and management fees
Texas Bar Journal
MCLE fees
Professional development
Minority affairs
Investment income
Member benefits
Website
Advertising review
CDC disciplinary fees
Other income
Total revenues
Expenditures:
Executive:
Office of Executive Director
Associate Executive Director/Legal Counsel
Deputy Executive Director/External Affairs
Deputy Executive Director
Special Financial Advisor
Officers and Directors
Human Resources
Training/Tuition
Total executive

$

20,372,039
650,351
580,600
3,115,250
13,777,842
335,000
185,000
915,766
365,000
370,000
535,000
1,445,043
42,646,891

$

20,372,039
650,351
580,600
3,115,250
13,777,842
335,000
185,000
915,766
365,000
370,000
535,000
1,445,043
42,646,891

Actual
$

20,869,303
650,351
455,789
3,804,158
14,275,158
413,301
731,489
899,972
588,026
351,895
703,979
1,018,849
44,762,270

Variance With
Final Budget
$

497,264
(124,811)
688,908
497,316
78,301
546,489
(15,794)
223,026
(18,105)
168,979
(426,194)
2,115,379

627,410
518,566
274,165
222,945
75,000
836,836
280,789
71,133
2,906,844

627,410
518,566
274,165
222,945
75,000
836,836
280,789
71,133
2,906,844

634,644
578,667
247,424
206,736
164,789
687,228
288,302
40,032
2,847,822

(7,234)
(60,101)
26,741
16,209
(89,789)
149,608
(7,513)
31,101
59,022

118,324
149,785
508,232
156,607
927,418
94,000
318,519
446,571
73,604
20,266
289,467
3,102,793

118,324
149,785
508,232
156,607
927,418
94,000
318,519
446,571
73,604
20,266
289,467
3,102,793

144,038
500,057
163,604
915,272
100,150
313,717
364,382
92,143
16,383
311,473
2,921,219

118,324
5,747
8,175
(6,997)
12,146
(6,150)
4,802
82,189
(18,539)
3,883
(22,006)
181,574

Professional development:
TexasBarCLE
Minority affairs
Total professional development

10,174,142
460,478
10,634,620

10,174,142
460,478
10,634,620

9,325,750
548,964
9,874,714

848,392
(88,486)
759,906

Legal and attorney services:
Legal and Attorney Services Director
Texas Lawyers Assistance Program
Legal Access Division
Total legal and attorney services

222,971
455,312
1,036,508
1,714,791

222,971
455,312
1,036,508
1,714,791

218,968
408,716
1,028,097
1,655,781

4,003
46,596
8,411
59,010

Member and public services:
Member and Public Services Division Director
Center for Legal History
Law Related Education
Governmental Relations
Texas Young Lawyers Association
SBOT Leadership Academy
Sections
Local Bars
Special Events
Law Student Department
SBOT Volunteer Committees
Total member and public services

(Continued)
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Year Ended May 31, 2019
Budgeted Amounts
Original
Final
Expenditures (continued):
Access to Justice Commission
Total Access to Justice Commission

$

827,206
827,206

Member benefits and research analysis:
Member benefits
Research and analysis
Total member benefits and research analysis

$

827,206
827,206

Actual
$

682,368
682,368

Variance With
Final Budget
$

144,838
144,838

343,218
167,645
510,863

343,218
167,645
510,863

59,166
167,827
226,993

284,052
(182)
283,870

Attorney compliance:
Office of Attorney Compliance Director
Advertising review
Client Attorney Assistance Program
Lawyer referral
MCLE
Total attorney compliance

176,564
182,597
547,352
353,692
579,699
1,839,904

176,564
182,597
547,352
353,692
579,699
1,839,904

168,848
182,465
531,420
356,154
640,613
1,879,500

7,716
132
15,932
(2,462)
(60,914)
(39,596)

Operations and security division:
Purchasing and facilities
Total operations and security division

1,240,950
1,240,950

1,240,950
1,240,950

1,256,653
1,256,653

(15,703)
(15,703)

Finance:
Accounting
Membership
Other administrative
Total finance

936,017
832,080
1,770,550
3,538,647

936,017
832,080
1,770,550
3,538,647

972,063
703,531
1,932,022
3,607,616

(36,046)
128,549
(161,472)
(68,969)

Information technology:
Information technology
Customer service
Total information technology

1,304,534
370,930
1,675,464

1,304,534
370,930
1,675,464

1,230,266
399,408
1,629,674

74,268
(28,478)
45,790

Communications:
Office of Communications Director
Texas Bar Journal
Public information
Web management
Total communications

249,259
1,210,030
497,204
395,862
2,352,355

249,259
1,210,030
497,204
395,862
2,352,355

237,264
1,302,338
447,383
323,954
2,310,939

11,995
(92,308)
49,821
71,908
41,416

9,829,435
48,800
170,000
11,080
619,339
10,678,654

9,829,435
48,800
170,000
11,080
619,339
10,678,654

9,898,237
38,734
184,373
9,152
600,975
10,731,471

(68,802)
10,066
(14,373)
1,928
18,364
(52,817)

Public protection:
Chief Disciplinary Counsel
Grievance Oversight Committee
Unauthorized Practice of Law
Professional Ethics Commission
Board of Disciplinary Appeals
Total public protection

(Continued)
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Budgeted Amounts
Original
Final
Expenditures (continued):
Expenditures related to Board commitments:
Presidential initiatives
Texas Opportunity and Justice Incubator Program
Statewide pro-bono recruitment campaign
Legal access fellowship program
LAD 2018 Board commitments
Referendum reserve
Texas court records preservation task force
Access to Justice (ATJ) student loan
repayment program
Archives digitization project
Runoff Election Reserve
Supreme Court equipment replacement
Professionalism and ethics initiatives
Total expenditures related to Board
commitments

$

Total expenditures

157,867
755,278
159,060
556,772
100,000
50,000

Net change in fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year, as restated
Fund balance at end of year

$

157,867
755,278
159,060
556,772
100,000
50,000

$

31,226
184,190
10,899
555,790
50,000

Variance With
Final Budget

$

126,641
571,088
148,161
982
100,000
-

350,000
100,000
70,000
12,431

350,000
100,000
70,000
12,431

350,000
24,500
488

11,943

2,311,408

2,311,408

1,207,093

1,104,315

43,334,499

43,334,499

40,831,843

2,502,656

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in (out) to:
Technology Fund
Texas Law Center
Client Security Fund
Total other financing sources (uses)

$

Actual

(687,608)

(687,608)

(500,000)
(288,800)
(1,100,000)
(1,888,800)

(500,000)
(288,800)
(1,100,000)
(1,888,800)

(500,000)
(288,800)
(1,100,000)
(1,888,800)

(2,576,408)

(2,576,408)

2,041,627

15,708,250

15,708,250

15,708,250

13,131,842
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$

13,131,842

75,500
70,000

3,930,427

$

17,749,877

(387,277)

4,618,035
$

4,618,035

State Bar of Texas
Note to Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance—Budget (GAAP
Basis) and Actual—General Fund
Year Ended May 31, 2019
Note 1.

Basis of Presentation

The State Bar adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund. The State Bar’s budget is
prepared annually by the Executive Director and is reviewed by the budget committee of the Board. The
budget passes several stages of review, including a public hearing, adoption by the Board and approval
by the Supreme Court of Texas. The budget may be amended at any meeting of the Board, but the
amendments made are subject to the approval of the Supreme Court of Texas. Variances from budgeted
revenues and expenditures are analyzed by management, the finance committee, the executive
committee and the Board. Regulations do not prohibit the State Bar from having unfavorable variances.
The State Bar is not legally required to adopt a budget for Sections and Divisions, which is listed as a
major Special Revenue Fund and, therefore, a budget compared to actual is not included.
The State Bar’s budget for the General Fund is prepared using the GAAP basis of accounting.
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Schedule of Changes in State Bar’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability
and Related Ratios

Measurement date

2019

2018

August 31
2017

2016

2015

August 31, 2018

August 31, 2017

August 31, 2016

August 31, 2015

August 31, 2014

State Bar's proportion share of the net pension liability

0.28934813%

0.27637361%

0.27324143%

0.29402350%

0.30057126%

State Bar's proportion share of the net pension liability balance
at August 31

$

58,442,218

$

60,427,988

$

53,984,064

$

39,006,462

$

43,465,009

State Bar’s covered payroll*

$

22,360,932

$

20,632,468

$

19,977,021

$

19,590,734

$

19,402,731

State Bar’s proportionate share of the net pension liability as a
percentage of its covered payroll
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension
liability

261.36%

292.88%

270.23%

199.11%

224.01%

57.89%

54.67%

55.32%

64.40%

63.40%

* The covered payroll is the payroll of employees that are provided with pension through the pension plan for each plan year,
the measurement period.
The schedule of changes in State Bar’s proportionate share of net position liability and related ratio disclosure is required for
10 years. The schedule noted above is only for the years for which the new GASB statements have been implemented.
See notes to required supplementary information.
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Fiscal Years Ended
May 31,
2019
2018
2017
2016
2015
2014
2013
2012
2011
2010

Actuarially
Determined
Contributions
$

2,027,891
2,482,803
2,371,089
2,293,610
1,845,751
1,665,702
1,376,433
1,341,923
1,373,078
1,272,762

Contributions
in Relation to
the Actuarially
Determined
Contributions
$

Contribution
Deficiency
(Excess)

2,027,891
2,482,803
2,371,089
2,293,610
1,845,751
1,665,702
1,376,433
1,341,923
1,373,078
1,272,762

$

65

-

Covered
Payroll

Contributions
as a Percent of
Covered
Payroll

$ 21,023,817
20,638,696
19,794,416
19,507,265
19,427,203
19,032,960
18,584,172
17,769,494
16,932,249
16,391,209

9.65%
12.03%
11.98%
11.76%
9.50%
8.75%
7.41%
7.55%
8.11%
7.76%

State Bar of Texas
Notes to Net Pension Liability
May 31, 2019
Note 1.

Changes of Benefit Terms—Pension Plan

For the year ended August 31, 2015, during the most recent legislative session, the Texas Legislature
enacted House Bill 9 (HB-9). HB-9 increased the member contribution rate for ERF members to 9.5% of
member’s compensation for service after August 31, 2015. HB-9 also eliminated the 90-day waiting
period to become a member of ERF and LECOSRF. In conjunction with HB-9, the State’s contribution
appropriation to ERF also increased to 9.5% of pay.
For the years ended August 31, 2014, 2016, 2017 and 2018, there were no changes to the plan
provisions.
Note 2.

Changes of Assumptions—Pension Plan

For the year ended August 31, 2018, other than the difference in the discount rate increase to 5.69%, all
other actuarial methods and assumptions are the same for both funding and financial reporting purposes.
For the year ended August 31, 2017, the following assumptions have been changed since the previous
pension valuation:


Decrease the investment return assumption from 8.0% to 7.5%



Decrease the inflation assumption from 3.5% to 2.5%



Establish a general wage inflation assumption of 0.5% above inflation, or 3.0%



Mortality assumptions updated from 1994 Group Annuity Mortality table to most recently published
national tables, RP-2014 Mortality tables for employees and disability retirees



Modified the application of Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method from Ultimate EAN, the
normal cost rate based on the benefits payable to a new member and the entry age characteristics of
the current active membership, to individual EAN which bases the normal cost rate on benefits
payable to each individual active member

For the years ended August 31, 2014, 2015, and 2016, other than the difference in the discount rate
(6.07% for 2014, 6.86% for 2015 and 5.73% in 2016), all other actuarial methods and assumptions are
the same for both funding and financial reporting purposes.
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State Bar of Texas
Schedule of Changes in State Bar’s Proportionate Share of Total OPEB Liability
and Related Ratios
August 31,
2019
Measurement date

August 31, 2018

State Bar’s proportion share of the total OPEB liability

0.12339085%

State Bar’s proportion share of the total OPEB liability balance at August 31

$

36,570,262

State Bar’s covered payroll*

$

20,632,467

State Bar’s proportionate share of the total OPEB liability as a percentage of its covered
payroll
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total OPEB liability

177.25%
1.27%

* The covered payroll is the payroll of employees that are provided with OEPB through the OPEB plan for each
plan year, the measurement period.
The schedule of changes in State Bar’s proportionate share of total OPEB liability and related ratio disclosure is
required for 10 years. The schedule noted above is only for the years for which the new GASB statements have
been implemented.
See notes to required supplementary information.
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State Bar of Texas
Schedule of Employer Contributions—Total OPEB Liability

Fiscal Years Ended
May 31,
2019
2018
2017
2016
2015

Statutorily
Required
Contributions
$

1,016,477
976,371
895,157
763,559
636,780

Contributions
in Relation to
the Statutorily
Required
Contributions
$

Contribution
Deficiency
(Excess)

1,016,477
976,371
895,157
763,559
636,780

$

-

Covered
Payroll

Contributions
as a Percent of
Covered
Payroll

$ 21,023,817
20,638,696
19,794,416
19,507,265
19,427,203

4.83%
4.73%
4.52%
3.91%
3.28%

The information disclosed for each fiscal year is reported as of the fiscal year-end date.
The information for all periods for the 10-year schedules that are required to be presented as required
supplementary information is not available. During this transition period, the information will be presented for as
many years as are available.
See notes to required supplementary information.
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State Bar of Texas
Notes to OPEB Liability
May 31, 2019
Note 1.

Changes of Benefit Terms—OPEB Plan

For the year ended August 31, 2018, the following benefit revisions have been adopted since the prior
valuation for retirees and dependents for whom Medicare is not primary is an increase in the out-ofpocket maximum for both HealthSelect and Consumer Directed HealthSelect plans.
For the year ended August 31, 2017, the following benefit revisions have been adopted since the prior
valuation: (a) an increase in the out-of-pocket cost applicable to services obtained at a free-standing
emergency facility, (b) an elimination of the copayment for virtual visits, (c) a copay reduction for Airrosti
and for out-of-state participants and (d) elimination of the deductible for in-network services and
application of a copayment rather than coinsurance to certain services like primary care and specialist
visits. These minor benefit changes have been reflected in the fiscal year 2018 Assumed Per Capita
Health Benefit Costs.
For the year ended August 31, 2016, the following benefit revisions have been adopted since the prior
valuation: (a) an increase in the overall annual out-of-pocket maximum in accordance with the
requirements of the Affordable Care Act (ACA) (effective January 1, 2017) and (b) implementation of
(i) a program under which HealthSelect participants can consult with a licensed physician from their
mobile device and (ii) an online weight-loss program available to eligible HealthSelect participants not
enrolled in Medicare Part B. These minor benefit changes have been reflected in the fiscal year 2017
Assumed Per Capita Health Benefit Costs. These changes became effective September 1, 2016 (except
as noted) and are incorporated into this valuation in accordance with Question Number 49 of the Guide to
Implementation of GASB Statements No. 43 and No. 45 on Other Postemployment Benefits.
For the year ended August 31, 2015, the following benefit revisions have been adopted since the prior
valuation: (a) an increase to the total network annual out-of-pocket maximum, (b) an elimination of the
requirement for referrals in order to see ophthalmologists and optometrists, (c) a copay reduction for a
mental health office visit and (d) effective January 1, 2016, the inclusion of medical and pharmacy
deductibles, coinsurance and copays in the total network out-of-pocket maximum. These changes
became effective September 1, 2015 (unless otherwise noted) and are incorporated into this valuation in
accordance with Question Number 49 of the Guide to Implementation of GASB Statements No. 43 and
No. 45 on Other Postemployment Benefits. These minor benefit changes have been reflected in the fiscal
year 2016 Assumed Per Capita Health Benefit Costs.
For the year ended August 31, 2014, the following benefit revisions have been adopted since the prior
valuation: (a) implementation of an overall annual out-of-pocket maximum in accordance with the
requirements of the ACA, (b) mental health benefit changes; (c) benefit enhancements for hearing aids
and breast pumps and (d) copay reductions for generic prescription drugs. These changes became
effective September 1, 2014 (except for the out-of-pocket maximum, which becomes effective January 1,
2015) and are incorporated into this valuation in accordance with Question Number 49 of the Guide to
Implementation of GASB Statements No. 43 and No. 45 on Other Postemployment Benefits. The new
benefit provisions are expected to have no impact on the employer’s cost.
Note 2.

Changes of Assumptions— OPEB Plan

For the year ended August 31, 2018, the following assumptions have been changed since the previous
OPEB valuation:


Demographic assumptions (including rates of retirement, disability, termination, mortality and
assumed salary increases) for higher education members have been updated to reflect assumptions
recently adopted by the trustees from TRS.
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State Bar of Texas
Notes to OPEB Liability
May 31, 2019
Note 2.

Changes of Assumptions— OPEB Plan (Continued)



Assumed Expenses, assumed Per Capita Health Benefit Costs and assumed Health Benefit Cost,
Retiree Contribution and Expense trends have been updated to reflect recent experience and its
effects on short-term expectations.



The percentage of current retirees and their spouses not yet eligible to participate in the HealthSelect
Medicare Advantage Plan and future retirees and their spouses who will elect to participate in the
plan at the earliest date at which coverage can commence and the percentage of future retirees
assumed to be married and electing coverage for their spouse have been updated to reflect recent
plan experience and expected trends.



The discount rate assumption was increased from 3.51% to 3.96% as a result of requirements by
GASB No. 74 to utilize the yield or index rate for 20-year, tax-exempt general obligation municipal
bonds rated AA/Aa (or equivalent) or higher in effect on the measurement date.

For the year ended August 31, 2017, the following assumptions have been changed since the previous
OPEB valuation:


Additional demographic assumptions (aggregate payroll increases and rate of general inflation) to
reflect an experience study.



The percentage of current and future retirees and retirees spouses not yet eligible to participate in the
HealthSelect Medicare Advantage Plan who will elect to participate at the earliest date at which
coverage can commence has been updated to reflect recent plan experience and expected trends.



Assumptions for administrative expenses, assumed per Capita Health Benefit Costs, Health Benefit
Cost and Retiree Contribution trends to reflect recent health plan experience.



Effects in short-term expectations and revised assumed rate of general inflation.

For the year ended August 31, 2016, the following assumptions have been changed since the previous
OPEB valuation:


Assumed Expenses, assumed Per Capita Health Benefit Costs and assumed Health Benefit Cost and
Retiree Contribution Trends have been updated to reflect recent experience and its effects on our
short-term expectations.



The percentage of future retirees electing to participate in the HealthSelect Medicare Advantage
program at the earliest date at which coverage can commence.



The proportion of future retirees covering dependent children and the percentage of future retirees
and retiree spouses assumed to use tobacco have been updated to reflect recent plan experience
and expected trends.

For the year ended August 31, 2015, the following assumptions have been changed since the previous
OPEB valuation:


The Assumed Per Capita Health Benefit Costs and Assumed Expenses for retirees and dependents
have been updated to reflect recent health plan experience.
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State Bar of Texas
Notes to OPEB Liability
May 31, 2019
Note 2.

Changes of Assumptions— OPEB Plan (Continued)



The percentage of future retirees electing to participate in the HealthSelect Medicare Advantage
program at the earliest date at which coverage can commence has been updated to reflect recent
plan experience and expected trends.



Assumed salary increases and rates of mortality, termination, disability and retirement for Higher
Education members were updated to remain consistent with the assumptions, which were adopted by
the TRS board earlier this year for use by the TRS retirement plan actuary; and the Health Benefit
Cost and Retiree Contribution Trends have been updated to reflect changes in short-term
expectations due to recent health plan experience. The following benefit revisions have been adopted
since the prior valuation: (a) an increase to the total network annual out-of-pocket maximum,
(b) an elimination of the requirement for referrals in order to see ophthalmologists and optometrists,
(c) a copay reduction for a mental health office visit and (d) effective January 1, 2016, the inclusion of
medical and pharmacy deductibles, coinsurance and copays in the total network out-of-pocket
maximum. These changes became effective September 1, 2015 (unless otherwise noted) and are
incorporated into this valuation in accordance with Question Number 49 of the Guide to
Implementation of GASB Statements No. 43 and No. 45 on Other Postemployment Benefits. These
minor benefit changes have been reflected in the fiscal year 2016 Assumed Per Capita Health Benefit
Costs.

For the year ended August 31, 2014, the following assumptions have been changed since the previous
OPEB valuation:


The Assumed Per Capita Health Benefit Costs and Assumed Expenses for retirees and dependents
have been updated to reflect recent health plan experience.



The percentage of future retirees electing coverage for their spouses, the percentage of future
retirees electing to participate in the HealthSelect Medicare Advantage program at the earliest date at
which coverage can commence and the percentage of future retirees assumed to use tobacco have
been updated to reflect recent plan experience and expected trends.



Assumed rates of retirements for Higher Education members who are not grandfathered under
current TRS Care eligibility provisions as of August 31, 2014, were updated to remain consistent with
the assumptions used by the TRS retirement plan actuary.



The Health Benefit Cost and Retiree Contribution Trends have been updated to reflect changes in
short-term expectations due to recent health plan experience.
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Other Supplemental Information

State Bar of Texas
Combining Balance Sheet—Nonmajor Governmental Funds
May 31, 2019
Texas Board
of Legal
Specialization
Fund

Texas
Bar
College

Client
Security
Fund

Annual
Meeting

Texas
Law
Center

Technology
Fund

Project
Grants
Fund

Hatton W.
Sumners
Grants
Fund

-

$ 236,726
-

Law
Focused
Education

Department
of Public
Service

Total
Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents—cash in bank
Investments
Receivables:
Interest receivable
Other accounts receivable
Due from other governmental
funds
Prepaid items
Total assets

$ 1,550,891
700,000

$ 350,060
-

2,110
6,943

$ 734,438
-

-

$

-

745,915
2,282,258

$

5,384
-

392,798
3,603,039

$

14,297
-

-

-

$

-

9,277

3,585

87,416

39,334

$ 2,269,221

$ 353,645

$ 821,854

$ 3,033,557

$ 4,049,468

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

-

591,173
198,139
789,312

$

$

-

-

$

-

$ 4,010,828
6,585,297

-

21,791
6,943

-

685,690
339,098

$

-

$ 11,649,647

$

-

$

-

64,517
-

1,347

30,000
-

64,517

$ 238,073

$

$

$

30,000

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Current liabilities:
Accrued liabilities
Due to other governmental
funds
Unearned revenue
Total liabilities
Fund balances:
Nonspendable
Committed
Total fund balances
Total liabilities and
fund balances

6,720

556

500

-

-

147,644
154,364

23,757
136,952
161,265

26,684
449,506
476,690

425,010
425,010

-

9,277
2,105,580
2,114,857

3,585
188,795
192,380

87,416
257,748
345,164

2,608,547
2,608,547

39,334
4,010,134
4,049,468

$ 2,269,221

$ 353,645

$ 821,854

$ 3,033,557

$ 4,049,468

74

-

$

-

64,517
64,517

198,139
591,173
789,312

$

789,312

-

-

$

64,517

58,343
178,383
236,726

30,000
30,000

1,347
1,347

$ 238,073

-

-

$

30,000

$

7,776

-

681,438
859,358
1,548,572

-

339,098
9,761,977
10,101,075

-

$ 11,649,647

State Bar of Texas
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances—Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Year Ended May 31, 2019
Texas Board
of Legal
Specialization
Fund
Revenues:
Membership dues
Investment income
Grant revenue
Other income
Total revenues
Expenditures:
Special services
Administration
Finance and information technology
Public Protection Division
Total expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures
Other financing sources:
Transfers in
Total other financing
sources
Net change in fund
balances
Fund balances at beginning of year
Fund balances at end of year

$ 1,356,500
34,705
23,485
1,414,690

1,158,771
1,158,771

255,919

Texas
Bar
College
$

4,933
210,845
215,778

241,768
241,768

(25,990)

Client
Security
Fund

Annual
Meeting
$

7,569
548,815
556,384

549,010
549,010

7,374

$

Texas
Law
Center

67,647
72,153
139,800

$

119,618
119,618

Project
Grants
Fund

Technology
Fund
$

-

$

56,966
56,966

661,159
661,159

35,580
35,580

991,853
991,853

(521,359)

84,038

(991,853)

-

Hatton W.
Sumners
Grants
Fund

Law
Focused
Education

Department
of Public
Service

$

$

$

56,966
56,966

110
360,399
360,509

-

Total
Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

59,818
59,818

$ 1,356,500
234,582
477,183
855,298
2,923,563

59,818
59,818

2,425,495
35,580
991,853
661,159
4,114,087

359,162
359,162

-

1,347

-

-

(1,190,524)

-

-

-

1,100,000

288,800

500,000

-

-

-

-

1,888,800

-

-

-

1,100,000

288,800

500,000

-

-

-

-

1,888,800

7,374

578,641

372,838

(491,853)

-

-

-

698,276

-

-

9,402,799

-

$10,101,075

255,919

(25,990)

1,858,938

218,370

337,790

2,029,906

3,676,630

$ 2,114,857

$ 192,380

$ 345,164

$ 2,608,547

$ 4,049,468

75

1,281,165
$

789,312

1,347

$

-

$

1,347

$

-

$

State Bar of Texas
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance—
Governmental Funds
Year Ended May 31, 2019
General
Fund
Revenues:
Membership dues
Accounting and management fees
Texas Bar Journal
MCLE fees
Professional development
Minority affairs
Investment income
Grant revenue
Member Benefits
Website
Advertising Review
CD disciplinary fees
Other income
Total revenues

$ 20,869,303
650,351
455,789
3,804,158
14,275,158
413,301
731,489
899,972
588,026
351,895
703,979
1,018,849
44,762,270

Expenditures:
Salaries
Benefits
Travel
Meetings and conferences
Professional services
Court fees
Publicity and advertising
Dues, subscriptions and licenses
Education and training
Supplies, awards, gifts and specialty items
Rentals—office, equipment and storage
Maintenance and repairs
Utilities
Postage and freight
Telephone
Insurance
Claims and judgments
Administrative
Printing and copying
Capital outlay
Debt service:
Principal
Interest
Total expenditures

$

17,940,268
6,276,139
1,794,269
4,397,525
2,916,843
80,058
424,008
613,570
124,656
491,757
1,306,733
531,578
234,632
716,378
364,523
488,641
840,909
1,240,664
48,692

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures
Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in
Transfers out
Other financing sources (uses)

Fund balance at beginning of year, as restated
Fund balance at end of year

$

16,980
39,804
159
671,154
228,837

40,831,843

4,075,412

3,930,427

380,429

-

1,356,500
234,582
477,183
855,298
2,923,563

Total
Governmental
Funds
$

24,804,055
650,351
455,789
3,804,158
15,165,102
413,301
1,018,343
477,183
899,972
588,026
351,895
703,979
2,809,520
52,141,674

503,631
190,107
240,338
533,431
299,303
132,045
57,328
1,065
295,752
126,493
452,960
39,655
16,426
661,160
163,236
61,272
289,086

18,443,899
6,466,246
2,509,416
6,632,392
3,986,432
80,058
570,284
673,122
233,102
833,403
1,435,443
984,538
234,632
773,013
420,753
488,800
661,160
1,675,299
1,530,773
337,778

46,571
4,228
4,114,087

46,571
4,228
49,021,342

(1,190,524)

3,120,332

1,888,800
1,888,800

1,888,800
(1,888,800)
-

2,041,627

380,429

698,276

3,120,332

15,708,250

7,843,920

9,402,799

32,954,969

$ 17,749,877

76

2,578,252
889,944
52,272
935,373
4,455,841

474,809
1,701,436
770,286
14,231
2,224
107,381
45,894
2,217

(1,888,800)
(1,888,800)

Net change in fund balances

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

Sections and
Divisions

$

8,224,349

$

10,101,075

$

36,075,301

State Bar of Texas General Fund
Financial Highlights
For the Six Months Ended November 30, 2019
Total General Fund YTD results – As of November 30, 2019, the General Fund had a net excess
of revenues over expenditures and transfers of $1,298,541 compared to a budgeted net loss of
($185,882). This resulted in a positive overall variance of $1,484,423.
Actual

Budget

$24,235,833

$22,925,543

$1,310,290

6%

Total Expenditures
and Transfers

22,937,292

23,111,425

174,133

1%

Net Excess

$1,298,541

($185,882)

$1,484,423

Total Revenues

Variance

% Variance

Revenues
For the period ending November 30, 2019, total revenues exceeded the budget by $1,310,290
or 6%, thereby producing a positive actual to budget variance. An analysis of the revenues
shows that six departments had a positive revenue variance in excess of $100,000 or $10,000
and 10% for the period ending November 30, 2019.
•

Member Dues – Total Positive Revenue Variance: $411,913 or 4% - This positive variance
results primarily from higher than anticipated dues collection.

•

MCLE Department – Total Positive Revenue Variance: $230,052 or 15% - This positive
variance results primarily from higher than anticipated number of course accreditation
fees.

•

Investment Income – Total Positive Revenue Variance: $72,075 or 21% - This positive
variance is due to a higher than anticipated yield on the State Bar’s investment portfolio
for the current fiscal year.

•

Office of the Chief Disciplinary Counsel – Total Positive Revenue Variance: $35,593 or
14% - This positive variance results primarily from higher than anticipated attorney fees
collected for the Austin, Dallas and Houston offices.

•

Minority Affairs – Total Positive Revenue Variance: $112,888 or 33% - This positive
revenue variance results from a higher than expected number of sponsorships for the
Texas Minority Counsel Program.

•

Texas Young Lawyers Association – Total Positive Revenue Variance: $33,840 or 61%
from higher than anticipated revenue from the National Trial Competition.

SBOT November 2019 Financial Statements
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Expenditures
For the period ending November 30, 2019, total expenditures were under the allocated budget
by $174,133 or 1%, which resulted in a positive actual to budget variance.
An analysis of the expenditures shows that four departments, Local Bars, Access to Justice
Commission, Advertising Review and Information Technology had large positive expenditure
variances in excess of $10,000 and 10% in salaries and benefits due to open positions and/or
reduction in salary expenses due to replacing long-term employees.
An analysis of expenditures shows that two departments had negative expenditure variances in
excess of ($10,000) and (10%) for the period ending November 30, 2019.
•

SBOT Volunteer Committees – Total Negative Variance: ($24,118) or (17%) – This
negative variance results from an additional unexpected venue cost for the Supreme
Court Advisory Committee, as usual venue was not available.

•

Minority Affairs – Total Negative Expenditure Variance: ($90,043) or (26%) – This
negative variance results from an increase in additional conference expenses which
were off-set by additional revenue collected from sponsorship and contributions.

TexasBarCLE (TBCLE)
For the period ending November 30, 2019, TexasBarCLE’s net revenues over expenditures
amount exceeded its budget target by $652,093 or 26%, thereby producing a negative actual to
budget variance.
Actual
TBCLE Revenues

Budget

Variance

% Variance

$8,724,072

$8,352,655

$371,417

4%

TBCLE Expenditures

5,529,678

5,810,354

280,676

5%

Net TBCLE Income

$3,194,394

$2,542,301

$652,093

26%

In comparing TBCLE’s performance to previous years, it is appropriate to make two comparisons:
(1) compare the current fiscal year 19-20 to the previous fiscal year 18-19; and (2) compare the
current fiscal year 19-20 to fiscal year 17-18. Fiscal years ending in odd numbers are considered
to be “non-legislative years”, in other words, they do not follow a legislative session. Fiscal years
ending in even numbers are considered to be “legislative years” because they do follow a
legislative session and TBCLE generally sees a surge in revenues following a legislative year.
The surge in revenue generally results from legal issues arising during the legislative process;
thereby creating a need for new or revised CLE programs.
In comparing actual revenues and expenditure amounts for the period ending November 30, 2019
to the prior period ending November 30, 2018, we see an increase in revenues of $172,146 or
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2%, and a decrease in expenditures of ($26,273) or (0%) for an overall increase in net revenues
of $145,873 or 5%. This is showing the difference between financial performances based on a
comparison to a “non-legislative year”.
In comparing actual revenues and expenditure amounts for the current period ending November
30, 2020, to the period ending November 30, 2018, we see an increase in revenue of $330,549
or 4% and an increase in expenditures of $37,421 or 1% for an overall increase in net revenues
of $367,970 or 13%. This is showing the difference between financial performances based on a
comparison of two “legislative years.”

Salaries and Benefits
For FY 2019-2020, the salaries and benefits budget totals $24,381,427 or 56.6% of the overall
$43,109,214 General Fund budget before budgeted board commitments. The $24,381,427
includes a 4% vacancy rate. The actual vacancy factor for the period ending November 30, 2019
was 3.9%. The actual salary and benefit expenditures had a ($65,310) negative variance to
budget at the end of November 2019.
Budget
Actual
Variance

$12,198,397
12,263,707
$ (65,310)
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General Fund
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
For the Six Months Ending November 30, 2019

Annual
Budget
REVENUES:
Membership Dues
Accounting/Management Fees
Texas Bar Journal
Leadership SBOT
MCLE Fees
TexasBar CLE
Investment Income
Lawyer Referral
Member Benefits
CDC Disciplinary Fees
Membership
Local Bars
Minority Affairs
Information Technology Dept.
Website
Legal Access Division
Law Related Education
TYLA
Law Student Division
Purchasing & Facilities
Advertising Review
Miscellaneous, Sales Tax Discounts, Etc.
Credit Card Processing Fees
Rent
TOTAL REVENUES
EXPENDITURES
Executive Division
Executive Director
Associate Executive Director/Legal Counsel
Deputy Executive Director
Deputy Executive Director/External Affairs
Special Financial Advisor
Officers & Directors
Human Resources
Training/Tuition
Total Executive Division

YTD
Budget

YTD
Actual

YTD
Variance $
Fav/(Unfav)

YTD
Variance %
Fav/(Unfav)

$20,783,246
650,351
629,878
10,000
3,257,183
13,955,703
350,000
190,000
844,909
553,240
14,475
12,600
350,000
1,200
405,000
23,000
9,256
60,000
6,000
46,500
380,000
74,000
330,000
172,673

$9,822,665
325,676
292,633
4,998
1,586,247
8,352,655
350,000
75,000
433,392
257,571
7,200
12,600
341,500
600
313,250
23,000
4,250
55,500
3,900
22,430
186,342
37,798
330,000
86,336

$10,234,578
325,676
299,859
7,000
1,816,299
8,724,072
422,075
73,721
445,933
293,164
7,406
6,700
454,388
600
328,993
17,275
4,700
89,340
5,235
20,232
193,750
34,286
344,215
86,336

$411,913

4%

7,226
2,002
230,052
371,417
72,075
(1,279)
12,541
35,593
206
(5,900)
112,888

2%
40%
15%
4%
21%
(2%)
3%
14%
3%
(47%)
33%

15,743
(5,725)
450
33,840
1,335
(2,198)
7,408
(3,512)
14,215

5%
(25%)
11%
61%
34%
(10%)
4%
(9%)
4%

43,109,214

22,925,543

24,235,833

1,310,290

670,896
661,868
226,500
261,955
193,491
850,117
294,760
71,133
3,230,720

338,247
301,955
113,698
130,928
96,495
396,067
145,706
23,000
1,546,096

325,301
283,106
106,060
123,496
97,477
422,162
144,099
27,690
1,529,391

12,946
18,849
7,638
7,432
(982)
(26,095)
1,607
(4,690)
16,705
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YTD
Budget
Prior Year

YTD
Actual
Prior Year

YTD
Prior Year
Variance $
Fav/(Unfav)

YTD
Prior Year
Variance %
Fav/(Unfav)

$9,597,842
325,676
301,805
4,998
1,567,127
8,181,868
185,000
61,500
491,119
283,840
6,510
12,500
327,000
600
273,250
11,000
500
60,800
3,900
24,337
181,276
28,398
290,000
89,720

$9,863,337
325,676
305,543
3,000
1,823,801
8,551,926
331,579
61,445
497,382
293,305
8,001
17,550
406,445
600
279,797
16,800
600
90,650
5,780
23,570
180,395
25,005
328,215
86,336

$265,495

3%

3,738
(1,998)
256,674
370,058
146,579
(55)
6,263
9,465
1,491
5,050
79,445

1%
(40%)
16%
5%
79%
(0%)
1%
3%
23%
40%
24%

6,547
5,800
100
29,850
1,880
(767)
(881)
(3,393)
38,215
(3,384)

2%
53%
20%
49%
48%
(3%)
(0%)
(12%)
13%
(4%)

6%

22,310,566

23,526,738

1,216,172

5%

4%
6%
7%
6%
(1%)
(7%)
1%
(20%)
1%

309,507
259,309
112,977
137,033
37,500
403,628
138,891
13,000
1,411,845

307,973
279,403
102,758
122,484
73,628
410,622
142,936
4,411
1,444,215

1,534
(20,094)
10,219
14,549
(36,128)
(6,994)
(4,045)
8,589
(32,370)

0%
(8%)
9%
11%
(96%)
(2%)
(3%)
66%
(2%)

Annual
Budget

YTD
Budget

YTD
Actual

YTD
Variance $
Fav/(Unfav)

YTD
Variance %
Fav/(Unfav)

YTD
Budget
Prior Year

YTD
Actual
Prior Year

YTD
Prior Year
Variance $
Fav/(Unfav)

YTD
Prior Year
Variance %
Fav/(Unfav)

Member & Public Services Division
Member & Public Services Division Director
Center for Legal History
Law Related Education
Governmental Relations
Texas Young Lawyers Association
LeadershipSBOT
Sections
Local Bars
Special Events
Law Student Department
SBOT Volunteer Committees
Total Member & Public Services Division

154,037
512,851
173,238
1,010,999
98,672
335,660
455,312
73,604
20,266
280,510
3,115,149

77,440
282,067
84,385
445,890
60,610
169,294
289,938
21,396
9,206
142,882
1,583,108

78,792
270,129
79,473
418,522
53,882
160,801
259,015
28,529
5,133
167,000
1,521,276

(1,352)
11,938
4,912
27,368
6,728
8,493
30,923
(7,133)
4,073
(24,118)
61,832

(2%)
4%
6%
6%
11%
5%
11%
(33%)
44%
(17%)
4%

59,847
76,447
268,443
76,694
463,751
54,074
160,424
261,067
36,896
12,966
152,476
1,623,085

73,182
246,087
73,740
476,618
62,604
149,367
238,234
40,240
9,649
159,559
1,529,280

59,847
3,265
22,356
2,954
(12,867)
(8,530)
11,057
22,833
(3,344)
3,317
(7,083)
93,805

100%
4%
8%
4%
(3%)
(16%)
7%
9%
(9%)
26%
(5%)
6%

Legal & Attorney Services Division
Legal & Attorney Services Division Director
Texas Lawyers Assistance Program
Legal Access Division
Total Legal & Attorney Services Division

229,745
401,146
1,521,608
2,152,499

115,703
201,102
817,220
1,134,025

111,402
198,942
844,685
1,155,029

4,301
2,160
(27,465)
(21,004)

4%
1%
(3%)
(2%)

112,316
227,185
651,982
991,483

109,420
202,010
626,597
938,027

2,896
25,175
25,385
53,456

3%
11%
4%
5%

840,127
203,463
179,700

414,937
25,196
82,934

353,085
27,090
91,754

61,852
(1,894)
(8,820)

15%
(8%)
(11%)

363,756
54,749
78,507

329,068
87,293
79,497

34,688
(32,544)
(990)

10%
(59%)
(1%)

9,950,513
498,601
10,449,114

5,810,354
363,565
6,173,919

5,529,678
459,608
5,989,286

280,676
(96,043)
184,633

5%
(26%)
3%

5,799,203
333,861
6,133,064

5,503,403
396,614
5,900,017

295,800
(62,753)
233,047

5%
(19%)
4%

Attorney Compliance Division
Office of Attorney Compliance Director
Advertising Review
Client Attorney Assistance Program
Lawyer Referral
MCLE
Total Attorney Compliance Division

181,703
183,126
545,835
361,847
603,280
1,875,791

90,662
92,021
271,913
175,096
307,639
937,331

93,347
72,265
273,458
180,904
317,493
937,467

(2,685)
19,756
(1,545)
(5,808)
(9,854)
(136)

(3%)
21%
(1%)
(3%)
(3%)
(0%)

88,092
91,756
272,671
169,548
290,123
912,190

84,622
91,108
267,811
176,922
322,768
943,231

3,470
648
4,860
(7,374)
(32,645)
(31,041)

4%
1%
2%
(4%)
(11%)
(3%)

Operations/Security Division
Purchasing & Facilities
Total Operations/Security Division

1,258,803
1,258,803

626,910
626,910

641,345
641,345

(14,435)
(14,435)

(2%)
(2%)

626,028
626,028

662,429
662,429

(36,401)
(36,401)

(6%)
(6%)

Access to Justice Commission
Member Benefits
Research & Analysis

Professional Development Division
Texas Bar CLE
Minority Affairs
Total Professional Development
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Annual
Budget

YTD
Budget

YTD
Actual

YTD
Variance $
Fav/(Unfav)

YTD
Variance %
Fav/(Unfav)

YTD
Budget
Prior Year

YTD
Actual
Prior Year

YTD
Prior Year
Variance $
Fav/(Unfav)

YTD
Prior Year
Variance %
Fav/(Unfav)

Finance Division
Accounting
Membership
Other Administrative
Total Finance Division

946,709
706,016
1,836,698
3,489,423

475,565
280,498
984,053
1,740,116

515,809
259,096
1,063,372
1,838,277

(40,244)
21,402
(79,319)
(98,161)

(8%)
8%
(8%)
(6%)

471,341
340,668
957,373
1,769,382

484,317
315,044
987,150
1,786,511

(12,976)
25,624
(29,777)
(17,129)

(3%)
8%
(3%)
(1%)

Information Technology Division
Information Technology
Customer Service
Total Information Technology Division

1,317,699
376,826
1,694,525

599,851
191,485
791,336

538,487
197,415
735,902

61,364
(5,930)
55,434

10%
(3%)
7%

651,726
184,689
836,415

606,206
195,858
802,064

45,520
(11,169)
34,351

7%
(6%)
4%

Communications Division
Office of Communications Director
Bar Journal
Printing
Graphics
Public Information
Web Management
Total Communications Division

254,629
1,212,173
136,797
163,177
155,636
412,484
2,334,896

135,502
658,462
70,026
80,591
81,818
205,442
1,231,841

134,665
633,457
61,491
85,220
80,649
202,502
1,197,984

837
25,005
8,535
(4,629)
1,169
2,940
33,857

1%
4%
12%
(6%)
1%
1%
3%

133,914
598,565
84,696
80,174
72,128
176,701
1,146,178

127,639
609,109
65,299
85,715
63,862
189,386
1,141,010

6,275
(10,544)
19,397
(5,541)
8,266
(12,685)
5,168

5%
(2%)
23%
(7%)
11%
(7%)
0%

Public Protection Division
Chief Disciplinary Counsel
Grievance Oversight Committee
Unauthorized Practice of Law
Professional Ethics Commission
Board of Disciplinary Appeals
Total Public Protection Division

9,942,758
48,800
170,000
12,000
622,646
10,796,204

4,940,638
24,295
54,175
4,198
311,570
5,334,876

5,050,635
27,324
45,736
8,881
298,030
5,430,606

(109,997)
(3,029)
8,439
(4,683)
13,540
(95,730)

(2%)
(12%)
16%
(112%)
4%
(2%)

4,869,354
24,295
83,495
3,909
309,916
5,290,969

4,885,918
17,253
90,789
5,466
303,570
5,302,996

(16,564)
7,042
(7,294)
(1,557)
6,346
(12,027)

(0%)
29%
(9%)
(40%)
2%
(0%)

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

41,620,414

21,622,625

21,448,492

174,133

1%

21,237,651

20,945,638

292,013

1%

288,800
500,000
700,000

288,800
500,000
700,000

288,800
500,000
700,000

288,800
500,000
300,000

288,800
500,000
300,000

1,488,800

1,488,800

1,488,800

1,088,800

1,088,800

43,109,214

23,111,425

22,937,292

174,133

1%

22,326,451

22,034,438

292,013

1%

(185,882)

1,298,541

1,484,423

799%

(15,885)

1,492,300

1,508,185

9494%

Transfers to:
Bldg & Equip Fund
Technology Fund
Client Security Fund
TOTAL TRANSFERS
TOTAL EXPENDITURES & TRANSFERS
Excess (Deficit) of Revenues
Over Expenditures & Transfers
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Annual
Budget
BOARD COMMITMENTS
Board Commitment - SLRAP
Board Commitment - Client Security Fund
Board Commitment - Technology Fund
Board Commitment - Texas Opportunity & Justice Incubator
Program
Board Commitment - Presidential Initiatives
Board Commitment - Statewide Pro Bono Campaign
Board Commitment - LAD 2018 Board Commitments
Board Commitment - Rules Vote Reserve
Board Commitment - Run-Off Election Reserve
Board Commitment - Ethics Initiatives
Board Commitment - Document Preservation
Board Commitment - Archives Digitization Project
Board Commitment - LRE Website Project
Board Commitment - Texas Law Center Renovations
TOTAL BOARD COMMITMENTS

TOTAL YTD INCREASE (REDUCTION) IN FUND BALANCE

YTD
Budget

YTD
Actual

515,000

515,000

515,000

150,000

150,000

150,000

571,088
126,641
148,161
44,251
100,000
70,000
11,943

62,466
8,753
1,186
15,638

YTD
Variance $
Fav/(Unfav)

YTD
Variance %
Fav/(Unfav)

YTD
Budget
Prior Year

YTD
Actual
Prior Year

350,000
800,000

350,000
800,000

62,466
8,753
1,186
15,638

86,536
23,616
5,536
316,400

86,536
23,616
5,536
316,400

136

136

75,500
79,500
100,000

12,000
50,245
100,000

12,000
50,245
100,000

185
50,000
24,500

185
50,000
24,500

1,992,084

915,424

915,424

1,656,773

1,656,773

(1,992,084)

(1,101,306)

383,117

(1,672,658)

(164,473)

1,484,423
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135%

YTD
Prior Year
Variance $
Fav/(Unfav)

YTD
Prior Year
Variance %
Fav/(Unfav)

1,508,185

90%

State Bar of Texas
General Fund
Balance Sheet
As of November 30, 2019
Assets
Cash & Money Market Funds
Investments
Adjust Investments to Market
Investments at Fair Market Value
Accounts Receivable:
Sales
Less Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Net Accounts Receivable - Sales
Accrued Interest
Interfund
Other
Inventory
Prepaid Expenditures

$9,028,506
20,300,854
79,929
20,380,783
69,954
(3,498)
66,456
79,929
1,723,618
149,946
11,313
592,796

Total Assets

32,033,347

Liabilities and Fund Equity
Liabilities
Accounts Payable:
Cash - A/P
Trade
Interfund
Accrued Liabilities
Deferred Revenue Membership Dues
Other
Other Liabilities

730,776
2,079,472
299,925
10,393,015
349,036
48,130

Total Liabilities

13,900,354
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Fund Balances

Nonspendable - Prepaids at May 31, 2019
Nonspendable - Inventory at May 31, 2019
Nonspendable - Investments FMV Adjustment at May 31, 2019
Board Committed - Minimum Reserve January 2019
Board Committed - Technology Fund
Board Committed - Texas Opportunity and Justice Incubator Program
Board Committed - Presidental Initiatives
Board Committed - Statewide Pro Bono Campaign
Board Committed - Legal Access Division Programs
Board Committed - Ethics Initiatives
Board Committed - Archives Digitization Project
Board Committed - Law Focused Education Programs
Board Committed - Texas Law Center Renovations
Board Committed - Student Loan Repayment Assistance Program
Board Committed - Run-off Election Reserve
Board Committed - Referendum Reserve
Amount Available for Board Commitment: FY 2018-2019

$

847,384
12,070
59,630
11,059,004
150,000
571,088
126,641
148,161
44,251
11,943
75,500
79,500
100,000
515,000
70,000
100,000
3,779,705

Total Fund Balance at May 31, 2019

$

Current Year Operations
Nonspendable - Prepaids at November 31, 2019
Nonspendable - Inventory at November 31, 2019
Nonspendable - Investments FMV Adjustment at November 31, 2019
Board Committed Expenditures - Student Loan Repayment Assistance Progra
Board Committed Expenditures - Technology Fund
Board Committed Expenditures - Texas Opportunity & Justice Incubator Progr
Board Committed Expenditures - Presidential Initiatives
Board Committed Expenditures - Statewide Pro Bono Campaign
Board Committed Expenditures - Legal Access Division Initiatives
Board Committed Expenditures - Ethics Initiative
Board Committed Expenditures - Archives Digitization Project
Board Committed Expenditures - LRE Programs
Board Committed Expenditures - Texas Law Center Renovations
Amount Available for Board Commitment from Current Year Operations
Total Current Year Increase (Reduction) in Fund Balance

17,749,877

(254,588)
(757)
20,299
(515,000)
(150,000)
(62,466)
(8,753)
(1,186)
(15,638)
(136)
(12,000)
(50,245)
(100,000)
1,533,586
$

383,116

Total Fund Balance

$

18,132,993

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance

$

32,033,347
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State Bar of Texas
Client Security Fund
Statement of Revenues & Expenditures
For the Six Months Ending November 30, 2019

Revenues:
Interest
Restitution/Other Income
Total Revenues

$29,999
2,760
32,759

Expenditures:
Claims
Banking Fees
Total Expenditures

167,614
100
167,714

Excess (Deficit) of Revenue
Over Expenditures

(134,955)

General Fund Operating Transfer In
Total Transfers In from General Fund

700,000
700,000

Net Increase (Decrease) in the Fair Value of Investments
Net after Operating Transfer & Unrealized Net Gain (Loss)

3,920
568,965
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State Bar of Texas
Client Security Fund
Balance Sheet
As of November 30, 2019

Assets
Cash & Money Market Accts.
Investments
Adjust Investments to Market
Interest Receivable

$

Total Assets

1,213,965
1,836,844
3,809
12,756
3,067,374

Liabilities:
Due To (From) General Fund
Total Liabilities

(110,136)
(110,136)

Fund Balance
Beginning Fund Balance
Current Year Actvity
Total Fund Balance

2,608,546
568,965
3,177,511

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance
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$

3,067,375

State Bar of Texas
Texas Bar Books
Statement of Revenues and Expenses
For the Six Months Ending November 30, 2019

Y-T-D
Budget

Y-T-D
Actual

Budget
%

2019-2020
Budget

Revenues:
Book Sales Net of Estimated Returns
Online Sales
Total Sales
Fees
Interest
Royalty
Other Revenue
Total Revenues

$514,586
252,843
767,429
3,975
4,500
605,500
26,522
1,407,926

$564,967
243,859
808,826
11,197
6,806
605,835
0
1,432,664

(10%)
4%
(5%)
(182%)
(51%)
(0%)
100%
(2%)

$1,975,650
505,686
2,481,336
18,000
9,000
1,226,000
101,826
3,836,162

105,490
28,739
27,000
161,229

77,794
30,066
13,192
121,052

26%
(5%)
51%
25%

405,008
141,388
100,000
646,396

668,381
225,653
29,000
900
30,506
7,500
23,000
28,447
7,856
9,702
83,994
16,050
44,940
2,750
3,000
275,228
16,724
9,800
0
270
1,483,701
1,644,930

698,048
210,063
23,399
1,482
32,742
873
15,642
26,959
9,635
15,624
79,491
12,750
43,990
1,502
3,407
271,274
(8,519)
0
208
791
1,439,361
1,560,413

(4%)
7%
19%
(65%)
(7%)
88%
32%
5%
(23%)
(61%)
5%
21%
2%
45%
(14%)
1%
151%
100%
0%
(193%)
3%
5%

1,336,761
451,306
46,450
1,800
74,926
15,000
44,000
53,576
13,430
23,001
167,988
32,100
170,330
5,500
6,000
550,456
64,209
9,800
0
540
3,067,173
3,713,569

(237,004)

(127,749)

46%

122,593

Cost of Goods Sold:
Finished Products
Royalties
Other
Total Cost of Goods Sold

Operating Expenses:
Salaries
Benefits
Travel
Meetings & Conferences
Professional Services
Publicity/Advertising
Publicity/Advertising for Specific Titles
Dues/Subscriptions/Licenses
Education/Training
Supplies/Awards/Gifts/Spec. Items
Rentals - Office, Equipment, Storage
Maintenance/Repair
Postage and Freight
Telephone
Insurance
Administrative Fee
Bad Debts
Capital Lease Expense
Printing
Copying
Total Operating Expenses
Total Expenses

Net Income/(Loss)
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State Bar of Texas
Texas Bar Books
Statement of Net Position
As of November 30, 2019
Assets

Accounts Receivable :
Sales
Less Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Less Allowance for Refunds
Net Accounts Receivable - Sales
Interfund Receivable - General Fund
Inventory
Inventory - Finished Goods
Inventory - Work in Process
Less Inventory - Reserve

$253,475
(12,674)
(2,021)
238,780
699,756
554,155
160,471
(132,602)
582,024

Total Inventory Less Reserves
Intangible Assets:
Fixed Assets:
Furniture/Equipment
Less Accumulated Depreciation

353,637
(318,315)
35,322

Net Fixed Assets
Total Assets

1,555,882

Liabilities and Net Position

Liabilities
9,407
97,422
106,829

Payables
Compensable Leave
Total Liabilities
Net Position

Total Net Position at May 31, 2019
Current Year Operations

1,576,802
(127,749)

Total Net Position at November 30, 2019

1,449,053

Total Liabilities and Net Position

1,555,882
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State Bar of Texas
Combining Statement of Revenue & Expenditures
And Changes in Fund Balance
All Special Revenue Funds
For the Six Months Ending November 30, 2019
Law
Focused
Grants
Revenues:
Fees
Sales
Investments
Grants
Contributions
Other Revenue
Total Revenues
Expenditures:
Salaries
Benefits
Salaries & Wages - Temporary
Travel
Meetings & Conferences
Professional Services
Publicity/Advertising
Dues/Subscriptions/Licenses
Supplies/Awards/Gifts/Spec. Items
Rentals - Office, Equipment, Storage
Maintenance/Repair
Postage and Freight
Telephone
Administrative
Fixed Assets
Printing and Copying
Total Expenditures
Transfer (In) / Out
Total Expenditures & Transfers
Net Increase (Decrease) in the Fair Value of
Investments
Total Revenues less Expenditures
Beginning Fund Balance at 6/1/19
Ending Fund Balance at 11/30/19

TBLS
$145,800

36
253,730

22,366

Convention
Fund
$242,465
30,201
4,286

Texas
Law
Center

58,383

261,900
253,766

22,605
190,771

57
5

228,643
80,616

56,255
20,640
88,233

11,642
33,468
48,098
33,865
850
15,885
50,301

1,027
24,418

538,852

58,383

Texas
Bar
College

Technology
Fund

Misc
Grant
Fund

Total

$227,736
2,894
2,504
6,300

106,400
3,117

239,434

109,517

32,350
11,511
(10)
11,858
419,131
7,847
29,000
15
11,219

230

6,981

31,766
12,764
3,359
3,809
931
6,386
1,447

261,050
92,132
(10)
111,521
486,003
147,767
66,674
2,823
65,061
51,748
255,562
5,816
19,860
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6,035
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17,593
504,371

196,766

573,202

504,371

85,879
(388,800)
(302,921)

57,000

(382,431)

34,481

0

2,114,855
$1,732,424

3,012
2,112

$57,000

18

1,305
366
18,857

7,700
78,668

312,904
3,488
128,339

$616,001
33,095
87,575
360,130
271,317
22,605
1,390,723

128,339

568,638
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(81,362)
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371,827

111,095

81,362

109,517

10,523
382,851

345,163

4,049,468

192,380

789,312

0

7,491,178

$379,644

$4,421,295

$303,475

$870,674

$109,517

$7,874,029
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Dashboard of Key Financial Trends
General Fund Operating Results for the Six Months Ended November 30, 2019
Chart A contains the State Bar’s General Fund Budget to Actual Variance for the financial period. This
indicates the overall earnings incurred from current year operations.

Chart A: Total Net Excess: 3 Year History of Budget
to Actual Variances
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Table 1 contains details of data presented in Chart A above:
Operations of General Fund: Budget to Actual Variances (cumulative)
June
July
August
September
October
November
December
January
February
March
April
May

FY 2017-2018
$ 216,672
$ 201,736
$ 477,125
$ 546,656
$ 969,094
$ 1,178,479
$ 1,242,976
$ 1,487,407
$ 1,441,399
$ 1,804,426
$ 2,176,267
$ 2,169,908

1

FY 2018-2019
$
70,915
$ 295,712
$ 524,480
$ 885,337
$ 1,056,344
$ 1,546,381
$ 2,010,521
$ 2,359,057
$ 2,387,072
$ 2,733,334
$ 2,999,300
$ 4,048,722

FY 2019-2020
$ 111,071
$ 322,750
$ 689,283
$ 841,894
$ 1,233,358
$ 1,485,161

Chart B presents the total Revenues and Expenditures of the State Bar’s General Fund over the
previous three years.

Chart B: Total Revenue and Expenditure Trends - Fiscal Year-toDate for the Six Months Ended November 2017, 2018, and 2019
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Chart C presents the total revenues by department of the State Bar’s General Fund over the previous
three years.

Millions

Chart C: General Fund Revenue Trends - For the Six Months
Ended
November 2017, 2018, and 2019
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Chart D presents the total revenues by department of the State Bar’s General Fund over the previous
three years.
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Chart D: General Fund Expenditure Trends - For the Six Months
Ended
November 2017, 2018, and 2019
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